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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 13 JANUARY 2021  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Se leka,  good morn ing  

everybody.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Morn ing  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  you ready?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Cha i rperson we  are  ready.   Cha i rperson  

the  hear ings today is  schedu led  fo r  Mr  Ano j  S ingh the  

fo rmer  CFO of  Eskom.   Mr  S ingh is  represented lega l l y  by  

Counse l  and an  a t to rney and maybe they cou ld  p lace 

themse lves on  record .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes you may do tha t  f rom where  you are  

i f  you  are  ab le  to .   Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Good morn ing  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morn ing .  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:    Members  o f  the  commiss ion .   I t  

i s  co r rec t  my name is  Anne l ine  Van Den Heever  I  am an  

advocate  o f  Johannesburg  Bar  and a  member  o f  the  Lega l  

P rac t ice  Counc i l .   I  am here  on  ins t ruc t ions o f  Tshepho 

Mathopo o f  Mathopo  A t to rneys and we represent  Mr  S ingh.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   I  w i l l  i n  due course  Cha i rpe rson 

a l lude to  when we ac tua l l y  took over  as  a  team.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   And the  d i f f i cu l t ies  we 

encountered.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Now we a re  apprec ia t i ve  

Cha i rperson o f  the  fac t  tha t  we d id  no t  comply  w i th  your  

d i rec t i ves .   However… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes hang on.   Le t  us  jus t  –  you w i l l  ge t  a  

chance to  address me fu l l y.   I  jus t  wanted you to  p lace  

yourse l ves on  record  then Mr  Se leka can cont inue and then 

we take i t  f rom there .  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   As  i t  p leases.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   I  am sure  my learned  

f r iend is  a t  pa ins  fo r  me to  draw to  your  a t ten t ion  tha t  they 

have served –  no t  served but  handed us  up  an a f f idav i t  th is  

morn ing  wh ich  dea ls  w i th  the  issue my lea rned f r i end was 

seek ing  to  ra ise  w i th  you now.  

 But  what  I  w i l l  do  i s  to  have Mr  S ingh take  the  oa th .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink  what  you shou ld  do  is  te l l  me what  

… 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The lega l  teams’ p lans are  and then –  in  20 

te rms o f  p lans fo r  today as  we l l  as  what  ev idence Mr  S ingh 

is  supposed to  –  what  mat te rs  Mr  S ingh is  supposed to  

cover  in  h is  ev idence and the  quest ion ing .   And then a f te r  

tha t  you can te l l  me what  Counse l  fo r  Mr  S ingh ’s  a t t i tude is  

and then a t  tha t  s tage we can a l low her  an  oppor tun i ty  to  
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add ress me.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you Cha i rperson.   Cha i rperson 

f rom the  s ide  o f  the  commiss ion  the  hear ing  today was  

schedu led  in  o rder  fo r  Mr  S ingh to  dea l  w i th  mat te rs  tha t  

per ta ins  f i rs t l y  to  h is  secondment  f rom Transnet  to  Eskom 

and a f te r  a r r i v ing  there  to  dea l  w i th  mat te rs  tha t  then 

unfo ld  wh i le  he  is  a t  Eskom.    

 Those mat te rs  in  a  sequent ia l  o rder  o f  events  in  a  

chrono log ica l  o rder  w i l l  inc lude mat te rs  o f  cont rac t s  g iven  

to  McK insey and  Tr i l l i an  and I  use  cont rac ts  g iven in  a 10 

loose sense.   But  he  can g ive  us  ins igh t  in to  tha t  and g ive  

the  Cha i rperson ev idence in to  tha t .  

 And then you have t ransact ion  re la t ing  to  Tegeta  

tha t  has been the  focus o f  the  teams’ a t ten t ion  la te ly.   And 

tha t  i s  –  i s  re la ted  to  the  acqu is i t ion  o f  Opt imum.   The 

events  lead ing  up to  Eskom making  a  dec is ion  in  regard  to  

a  pre -payment  o f  R1.68 b i l l i on .  

 A submiss ion  was  prepared wh ich  f rom the  ev idence  

i t  i s  apparent  tha t  i t  was s igned by  bo th  Mr  S ingh and Mr  

Koko and Mr  S ingh can tes t i f y  on  tha t  and the  purpose fo r  20 

tha t  submiss ion  and the  dec i s ion  tha t  was made.  

 From there  Cha i rpe rson we have  the  submiss ion  

a lso  made in  regard  to  the  R659 mi l l ion  pre-payment .   Mr  

S ingh cou ld  a l so  g ive  the  Cha i rpe rson what  he  knows 

about  tha t  and the  pu rpose fo r  the  dec i s ion  be ing  made in  
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regard  to  tha t  p re -payment .  

 He might  address  the  Cha i rpe rson a lso… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink  you might  w ish  to  b r ing  the  

m icrophone c lose r  to  you so  tha t  your  vo ice  w i l l  be  louder.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   He might  address the  Cha i rperson a lso  

in  regard  to  the  issue o f  the  R2.17 b i l l i on  pena l t ies  tha t  

Eskom was seek ing  to  en force  aga ins t  Opt imum and how 

tha t  mat te r  u l t imate ly  ge ts  –  go t  to  be  dea l t  w i th  in  regard  

to  Tegeta .  

 The –  there  is  an  issue o f  the  guarantee tha t  p re-10 

payment  o f  R1.6  b i l l i on  ge ts  to  be  conver ted  the  next  day 

in to  a  guarantee.   Mr  S ingh f rom the  ev idence p layed some 

ro le  in  tha t  regard  and we are  expect ing  h im a lso  to  –  to  

tes t i f y  on  tha t  be fore  the  commiss ion .  

 So f rom our  s ide  we are  ready to  lead h i s  ev idence 

on a l l  those issues and we have a  par t i cu la r  o rde r  and the  

main  focus is  the  Tegeta  bu t  we know tha t  s ince  las t  year  

a f te r  Mr  S ingh  was se rved w i th  a  10 .6  d i rec t i ve  

Cha i rperson an a f f idav i t  d i rec t ing  h im to  f i le  an  a f f idav i t  on  

mat te rs  se t  ou t  in  the  d i rec t i ve  w i th  documenta t ion  20 

prov ided to  h im re la t i ve  to  those mat te rs .  

 The a f f idav i t s  tha t  were  due accord ing  to  the  

d i rec t i ves  on  the  4  September  2020 have no t  been  

prov ided.   I  be l ieve  in  the  a f f idav i t  now submi t ted  th is  

morn ing  my learned f r iend w i l l  add ress you on the  reasons 
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fo r  tha t .  

 There  is  a  le t te r  f rom us wh ich  is  the  las t  annexure  

I  saw in  tha t  a f f idav i t .   I  on ly  w ish  to  re fer  the  Cha i rperson 

to  tha t  le t te r.  

 My learned f r iend can do so  as  we l l  bu t  I  th ink  as  

fo r  me the  nub o f  the  issue.  

 So what  we have  in  the  f i le  fo r  Mr  S ingh absent  h is  

a f f idav i t  i s  h is  submiss ion  –  wr i t ten  submiss ion  to  the  

Par l iamentary  Por t fo l io  Commi t tee .    

 That  submiss ion  Cha i rpe rson was –  i s  da ted  5  10 

December  2017.   So tha t  i s  how fa r  back tha t  submiss ion  

was prepared.  

CHAIRPERSON:   D id  i t  cove r  a l l  the  mat te rs  tha t  he  has 

been to ld  he  needs to  tes t i f y  abou t?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  has… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Or  those tha t  were  in  the  10 .6  d i rec t i ve?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  has  covered the  Tegeta  t ransact ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm 

ADV SELEKA SC:   The Tegeta  mat te rs  bo th  the  1 .6  we l l  I  

say  the  Tegeta  because i t  w i l l  be  exp la ined how these  20 

dec is ions were  made.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  has  covered tha t  p re -payment  R1.6  

b i l l i on .   I t  has  covered the  pre-payment  o f  R659 mi l l ion .   I t  

has  covered the  McKinsey and Tr i l l i an  re la t ionsh ip .   I  am 
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no t  su re  whether  Mr  S ingh covered h is  secondment  bu t  I  

am sure  he  wou ld  –  he  wou ld  dea l  w i th  how he was sent  to  

Eskom.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   So  those mat te rs  a re  covered.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   The main  i ssues.   And then  we a l so  

have the  t ranscr ip t  o f  Mr  S ingh ’s  tes t imony  a t  the 

Par l iamentary  Por t fo l io  Commi t tee  wh ich  is  I  th ink  Mr  

S ingh tes t i f ied  on  the  23  January  2018.   We have tha t .  10 

 We have shared  tha t  w i th  our  learned f r iends and  

ind ica ted  tha t  tha t  i s  what  we w i l l  re ly  on  a t  the  present  

s tage.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay.   That  i s  where  you a re  okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   That  i s  the  pos i t ion  f rom our  s ide .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The Counse l  fo r  Mr  S ingh.   I  th ink  you  

can move to  the  pod ium because I  th ink  you may have 

qu i te  some subs tant ive  i ssues to  dea l  w i th .   They w i l l  

san i t i se  f i rs t  and then you can move to  the  pod ium.    

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Cha i rpe rson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   As  a l ready s ta ted  fo r  the  record  I  

appear  on  beha l f  o f  Mr  S ingh.   We prepared an a f f idav i t  a  

re la t i ve ly  comprehens ive  dea l ing  w i th  a l l  the  issues s ince  

the  d i rec t i ve  were  issued.  
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 I  unders tand the  or ig ina l  does fo rm par t  o f  the  f i le  I  

wou ld  beg leave  to  hand up a  copy or  i f  you  are  in  

possess ion  o f  the  copy I  w ish  to  take  you th rough the  

a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  no  I  do  no t  th ink  I  have –  I  do  no t  

th ink  I  have got  a  copy.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   I  am hand ing  –  I  th ink  i t  i s  the  

or ig ina l .   Oh th is  i s  a  copy.   Cha i rpe rson le t  me hand you 

mine a t  th is  po in t  because i t  i s  s tap led  together.   I  th ink  i t  

wou ld  be  bet te r  fo r  you to  fo l low in  tha t  regard .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Te l l  me what  the  purpose  o f  th is  

a f f idav i t  i s?  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Cha i rpe rson the  pu rpose  o f  the  

a f f idav i t  i s  se t  ou t  in  parag raph 5  page 2 .   May I  take  you  

to  tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Parag raph 5  you  sa id?  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Yes i t  i s  on  page 2 .   We s ta te  

here :  

“The purpose o f  th is  a f f idav i t  to  se t  ou t  and 

g ive  reasons to  the  Cha i rperson the  20 

Honourab le  Judge Pres ident  Zondo –  

supposed to  be  Deputy  o f  the  Jud ic ia l  

Commiss ion  o f  Inqu i ry  to  a l legat ions o f  

s ta te  capture ,  cor rup t ion  and f raud in  the  

pub l i c  sec tor  regard ing  my fa i lu re  to  comply  
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w i th  the  two d i rec t i ves  issued to  myse l f  in  

te rms o f  Regu la t ion  10 .6”  

 So th is  i s  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   You might  jus t  w ish  to  ra ise  your  vo ice  or  

b r ing  the  m icrophone c lose r.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   I  w i l l  do  so .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   The –  we then go in  paragraph 6  

Cha i rperson and we re fer  to  the  d i rec t i ves  and the  da tes  

on  wh ich  they were  issued.   And in  paragraph 7  s ta te :  10 

“ I t  i s  common cause tha t  we d id  no t  …”  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  be fore  you proceed why  is  th is  

exp lanat ion  b rought  a t  the  las t  m inute  today when he is  –  

he  has had ample  t ime to  have done so?  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Cha i rpe rson i f  I  go  th rough the  

a f f idav i t  you w i l l  unders tand to  a  la rge  ex ten t  why i t  i s  

b rought  a t  th is  po in t  in  t ime.  And in  due course  I  w i l l  

add ress you on var ious issues tha t  a rose du r ing  the  course  

o f  an  exchange o f  communica t ion  and f ina l l y  th is  

cu lm inated as  I  sa id  and th is  w i l l  come in  due course  in  a  20 

v i r tua l  o r  a  Zoom meet ing  tha t  was he ld  be tween ourse lves 

and the  lega l  t eam fo r  the  commiss ion  i nc lud ing  the  

invest iga to rs  and  a t  tha t  po in t  we  exp la ined to  them what  

our  pos i t ion  is .  

 And a l l  o f  tha t  Cha i rperson is  conta ined in  our  
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a f f idav i t .   I  th ink  i t  i s  qu i te  impor tan t  tha t  I… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  le t  us  s ta r t  w i th  tha t  because i t  i s  

inconven ien t  tha t  I  shou ld  be  g i ven th is  a f f idav i t  on  the  

morn ing  o f  the  day when he is  supposed to  tes t i f y.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   About  h i s  exp lanat ion .   That  cou ld  have  

been dea l t  w i th  ear l ie r  so  tha t  by  today we wou ld  have had 

cer ta in ty  about  what  i s  happen ing .  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And i f  fo r  a rgument  sake I  have come to  10 

the  conc lus ion  a f te r  see ing  h i s  a f f idav i t  maybe two  weeks 

ago tha t  I  w i l l  a l low h im not  to  tes t i f y  today.   We cou ld  

have made ar rangements  to  have  anothe r  w i tness  to  use 

today.   But  when the  a f f idav i t  i s  b rought  on  the  morn ing  o f  

the  day when he is  supposed to  tes t i f y  i t  i s  impor tan t  tha t  I  

know whethe r  there  is  a  p roper  exp lanat ion  why i t  i s  

b rought  so  la te .  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Indeed I  take  note  o f  what  you  

say Cha i rperson.   The s i tua t ion  is  tha t  the  events  tha t  led  

us  to  f i l i ng  such a  la te  a f f idav i t  has i t s  roo ts  i n  the  – the  20 

events  tha t  un fo lded v isa  v ie  what  our  c l ien t  needed to  do .  

 I  th ink  there  was an in ten t ion  a t  some s tage tha t  we 

wou ld  t ry  and be in  a  pos i t ion  today to  p resent  you w i th  an  

a f f idav i t  and g ive  ev idence.  

 But  as  you w i l l  see  f rom the  comprehens ive  a f f idav i t  
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i t  was imposs ib le  to  do  so .   We t r ied  Cha i rpe rson to  –  as  I   

say  to  be  here  today –  tha t  was our  w ish  bu t  fo r  the  

reasons se t  ou t  in  th is  a f f idav i t  i t  tu rned out  tha t  we were  

no t  in  a  pos i t ion  to  ge t  to  th is  po in t  

 In  fac t  we ra i sed the  issue as  I  have a l ready s ta ted  

on Fr iday w i th  the  lega l  team.   There  is  var ious  

communica t ions and I  w i l l  re fe r  you to  tha t .   We have dea l t  

w i th  i t  in  the  –  in  our  a f f idav i t .  

 But  i t  dea ls  w i th  the  pred icament  i f  I  can  ca l l  i t  

wh ich  my c l ien t  f inds  h imse l f  in .   So th is  i s  in  no  ways  10 

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink  what  we shou ld  do  i s  –  i t  i s  go ing  

to  be  fas ter  i f  we ad journ .   Le t  me go and read th is  

a f f idav i t  and then when I  come back then we can  have a  

proper  engagement .   Rathe r  than me read ing  i t  as  you  

cont inue to  address me.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   We are  qu i te  happy tha t  we… 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  no t  sa t is fac to ry.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   We do tha t  Cha i rperson.   I  must  

jus t  –  I  m ight  jus t  add and th is  i s  aga in  no t  as  an  excuse  20 

we d id  las t  n igh t  send –  yesterday a f te rnoon la te  a  dra f t  

th rough and we under took to  g i ve  the  s igned one w i th  the  

annexures th is  morn ing .   As  I  sa id  I  th ink  i t  i s  a  good  

suggest ion  by  yourse l f  Cha i rperson to  go  th rough i t  and we 

can then engage in  the  content  o f  the  a f f idav i t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Bu t  jus t  in  shor t  Cha i rpe rson so  

tha t  you unders tand where  we come f rom in  th is .   Our 

c l ien t ’s  i s  no t  in  a  pos i t ion  to  g ive  ev idence today  fo r  the  

reasons se t  ou t  here in .   He was a lso  no t  in  a  pos i t ion  to  

f i le  h is  a f f idav i t  as  per  the  d i rec t i ve  because  o f  the  

reasons se t  ou t  here in .  

 So we have got  the  a f f idav i t  and we re fer  to  the  

var ious annexures tha t  i s  emai l  exchanges,  requests  fo r  

fu r ther  documents  in  the  annexures.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  no ,  no .  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER:   Jus t  so  tha t  you unders tand th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  f ine  le t  me go and read i t .   We 

are  go ing  to  ad journ  fo r  f i f teen minutes  I  th ink  tha t  shou ld  

be  enough fo r  me  to  read but  i f  I  f in ish  ea r l ie r  then we w i l l  

resume ear l ie r  tha t  f i f teen minutes .   Okay we ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  have read th is aff idavi t .   I  have not  20 

looked at  the – I  have not  read the annexures but  the 

deponent deals wi th the g ist  of  what  was in the annexures to  

a large extent ,  in his aff idavi t .    

 Now that  I  have read i t .   So what do you say or what  do 

you want to say about  i t?  
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ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Chai rperson,  what we are 

request ing of  yoursel f  is that  we be afforded an opportuni ty,  

having regard to  the content  of  our aff idavi t  wi th  al l  the 

annexures,  to f i le a comprehensive aff idavi t  wi th the 

Commission.  

 We bel ief  in doing so,  we wi l l  curtai l  any evidence that  

needs to . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  we wi l l  lose today.   That  is for  sure.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Yes,  and . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    The Commission simple does not  have 10 

t ime lef t .   There is very l i t t le t ime lef t .   There are many 

wi tnesses and impl icated person who must st i l l  g ive 

evidence.   I t  is just  very,  very di ff icul t  to al low any day to be 

lost .  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Chai rperson,  we understand that  

but  we ver i ly bel ief ,  once the Commission has sight  of  our 

cl ient ’s aff idavi t  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    That  aff idavi t  should have been brought a 

long t ime ago.   And I  have read what Mr Singh says here and 

I  am not  convinced that  he gives an acceptable reason for 20 

not  f i l ing – comply ing wi th the direct ives.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    With the greatest  of  respect  

Chairperson,  we bel ieve that  there is good reason why he 

did not  do so and i t  re lates to,  f i rst  of  a l l ,  the change of  legal  

teams.  You wi l l  then not ice,  once Mathopo At torneys got  
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onboard,  they immediately corresponded with the 

Commission.    

 And throughout,  you wi l l  see Chairperson,  there is  

communicat ion.   We did not  s i t  back and just  let  i t  be.   We 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l . . .  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    We communicated,  explained our 

posi t ion to the Commission and almost  in . . . [ indist inct ]  

[00:02:32]  said to them this  is the problems that  we fe l t .   And 

speci f ical ly – I  th ink i f  you take note of  what our  cl ients 10 

says,  Mr Singh says in  the beginning.   He wants to  play bal l  

wi th the Commission i f  I  can look – i f  I  can refer  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  h is – the history of  his conduct  does 

not  show that .    

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    That  is  an inference to be drawn 

Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    But  take i t  f rom us as the legal  

team and f rom our  cl ient ,  we place on record,  we want to  20 

assist  the Commission.   And the cl ient  ver i ly bel ieves,  as he 

set  out  here,  that  the best  way to assist  the Commission is 

to give the Commission a comprehensive vers ion.   And that  

comprehensive version . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no,  no.   Wel l ,  you – he would be 
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seeking to be t reated di fferent ly f rom how other people have 

been t reated.   We – the way the Commission has deal t  wi th 

issues f rom the beginning is that  people who may have a 

number of  matters to test i fy about  and be quest ioned about ,  

they get  cal led for a speci f ic matter at  a part icular t ime or 

speci f ic matters.    

 And they are told:   For now, you are just  coming to g ive 

evidence about A,  B and C.  We wi l l  ask you to come back 

later and deal  wi th D,  E and F.   And almost ,  wi thout  

except ion,  everyone has cooperated wi th that .    10 

 That  is why there are many wi tnesses who have come to 

the Commission to give evidence about  other matters.   So al l  

that  is requi red and has been required of  Mr Singh,  is that  

today he comes to test i fy only about the matters that  he has 

been told about .    

 And he has had ample t ime knowing what those matters 

are.   He would have been given,  even before the d irect ives 

and even before the summons, he would have been given 

Rule 3.3.  not ices in regard to the matters.    

 Of  course,  also one cannot ignore the fact  that  there is 20 

no way that  somebody l ike Mr Singh could have thought that  

th is Commission would f in ish his job wi thout  cal l ing him to 

come and give evidence.    

 So he has known from the incept ion of  th is Commission 

– i t  was establ ished ear ly in 2018 – so he has had three 
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years of  knowing that  in al l  probabi l i ty,  at  some stage or  

another,  he would be cal led.    

 And he knew what matters are l ikely to be raised wi th 

him.  And he could easi ly have made sure that  i f  and when 

he is cal led,  he is  ready.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Chai rperson,  may I  address you 

on a few of  the issues that  you have raised? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Now f i rs t  of  a l l .   The summons we 

received in December.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    And you would have not iced f rom 

the aff idavi t ,  Mr Mathopo immediately deal t  wi th i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    And I  do not  want to  go,  again,  

into the detai ls but  the fact  of  the matter is.   Only on Fr iday 

af ternoon did we understand and we were given – and I  do 

not  want to go into an off  the record d iscussion but  i t  i s  

common cause.    

 We were at  that  point  informed exact ly what we were 20 

going to be cal led about.   That  i t  is the Tegeta issue.   And 

we, at  that  stage,  played open cards wi th the legal  team and 

the invest igators dur ing this.    

 And we have explained to them, we have got  issues in  

the fol lowing things.   We have not  had the benef i t ,  one,  of  
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being presented wi th a reference style.   We have taken note 

of  the way the Commission works and when witnesses give 

evidence,  they refer to a Reference Fi le and they refer to  

documents.    

 In order for us,  and in fa i rness for us,  to prepare we 

need that .   So then the Commission,  I  th ink,  late Fr iday or  

ear ly evening forwarded to us,  not  the updated but  the 

documents they had electronical ly.   We also,  at  that  stage,  

pointed out  to them.   

 Insofar as you want to lead our c l ient ’s evidence with 10 

reference to the Port fo l io Commit tee.   We want to place on 

record,  and there is documents.   I t  is documented.   But  our  

cl ient  has not  received the t ranscr ipt  of  h is evidence that  he 

gave to the Commission.    

 And we explained to him, and you wi l l  appreciate this,  

that  at  the t ime our c l ient  was no longer wi th Eskom.  Wri t ten 

submissions were prepared in vacuo.   In other words,  rely ing 

on memory,  not  the benef i t  of  certain documents,  etcetera.    

 And on that  basis,  the cl ient  also gave evidence there.   

You wi l l  appreciate,  for him now to f rom memory deal  wi th  20 

issues that  he gave evidence on,  I  th ink the date was in 

January of  2018.   I t  is just  not  fa i r.    

 He needs an opportuni ty to go through h is evidence and 

deal  wi th the issues that  arose there.   To that  extent ,  I  th ink 

yesterday af ternoon, qui te late,  we f inal ly got  an electronic 
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vers ion of  the evidence.    

 And you wi l l  appreciate Chai rperson,  and forgive me for 

repeat ing this,  we deal t  wi th i t .   We constant ly asked,  we 

need i t .   I t  is  important  for  us to  have i t .   We need i t  to 

comprehensively deal  wi th the issues raised.    

 So you wi l l  understand that  th is is not  a quest ion of  not  

having prepared al l  a long.   As we have stated.   We worked 

on an aff idavi t .   There was a draf t  which we constant ly had 

to amend because of  the new evidence that  came up.   And 

we . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   You were requi red as at  a certain date 

to give your version based on what was avai lable at  the t ime.  

Obviously,  i f  subsequent ly someth ing else cropped up that  

needed, that  you supplement.   A supplementary aff idavi t  

could be put  in.   But  al l  you would be requi red to is ,  to give 

your version to the best  of  your knowledge and bel ief  and 

your recol lect ion.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Ja,  but  Chairperson,  again,  you 

need to understand the reason why the cl ient  was 

apprehensive to do that  because he once before found 20 

himsel f  in  a posi t ion where he had to give evidence and i t  

led to di ff icul t ies.    

 He deals wi th i t  in his aff idavi t ,  where he has not  had 

the benef i t  of  documents,  other people’s input ,  et  cetera,  to  

give a fai r,  reasonable and t ruthful  explanat ion at  the t ime.   
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And for that  reason,  he explains to the Commission:   I  was 

apprehensive to in vacua  just  deal  wi th – because Tegeta,  

you wi l l  recal l ,  is  Annexures A to G.   So just  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Where is that?  Can I  have a copy of  the 

summons that  was served on him?   

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    The summons to appear today? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Ja,  because these are the 

di rect ives.   Mr Mathopo.. .   Chairperson,  may I  just  approach 

my at torney whi lst  you read? 10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  th is summons says:  

“He is di rected to  appear before the Commission for 

the purpose of  giv ing evidence before the 

Commission and being quest ioned on the aff idavi ts  

that  he had submi t ted to the Commission and issues 

ar is ing f rom or relat ing thereto. ”  

 What aff idavi t  had he signed,  had he f i led at  the 

Commission? 20 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    [Microphone not  switched on. ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    P lease switch on the mic.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Sorry.   At  that  point ,  he had not  

f i led an aff idavi t  and my inst ruct ing at torney went on record 

to say:   We do not  know what aff idavi t  you are referr ing to.   
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P lease enl ighten us.   And you wi l l  appreciate,  and again,  I  

do not  want to put  blame at  the door of  Mr Seleka and his 

team, but  the f i rst  communicat ion that  we got  back f rom them 

was on the 7t h of  January.   That  is af ter the let ter of  

Mr Mathopo of  18 December.   And just  more point  that  was 

brought to my at tent ion Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    The f i rst  t ime our cl ient  was 

informed or that  he wi l l  be needed for purposes of  giv ing – 

potent ia l ly giv ing evidence in the Commission was in  August  10 

last  year.   So i t  is  not  an issue – and we have taken note of  

the fact  that  many people that  has been involved in the 

issues that  has been canvassed,  were not  – were never  

cal led.    

 So wi th  that  again as background, there potent ia l ly could 

have been a reasonable thought process by the cl ient  that  he 

might  not  be cal led,  that  says that  he might  not  be needed to 

come and give evidence.    

 And i t  was on that  basis,  as I  said,  that  the cl ient  

prepared the draf t  aff idavi t .    20 

 And constant ly amended i t  as the evidence came up 

because the though process was that  i f  we present  the 

Commission wi th a thoroughly thought through 

comprehensive aff idavi t  deal ing wi th these issues – and I  

can p lace on record that  in the way we deal t  wi th the draf t  –  
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and I  have informed my learned f r iends about i t  – is  to deal  

wi th the issues as we were informed you wish to deal  wi th.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Assume that  you persuade me, and I  am 

far f rom being persuaded, but  assuming that  you persuade 

me that  I  should al low Mr S ingh not  to test i fy today.   This 

aff idavi t  that  you are talk ing about,  which I  assume would 

deal  wi th the issues contained – he was required to deal  wi th  

in the di rect ives and deal  wi th the – certain ly those.   Maybe 

to deal  wi th some of  the matters that  he was supposed to 

test i fy about  today.   When would you undertake to f i le i t  wi th  10 

the Commission? 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Chairperson,  the only issue that  

we are basical ly  lef t  wi th at  th is  point  is,  we last  night  

received his oral  evidence.   I t  goes in qui te a number of  

pages.   We need to peruse that .   We need to take 

instruct ions on that ,  and we need to prepare on i t .    

 Our suggest ion to  our learned f r iends was,  that  we f i le  

our aff idavi t  on Fr iday,  next  week.   I t  wi l l  then be deal ing 

wi th al l  the issues.   I  th ink the . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  that  is too long.   Ja.   I t  is too long.  20 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Maybe i f  you can g ive us 

guidance Chairperson? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    I f  we can be so bold,  to  give us 

guidance as to  when you would f ind i t  reasonable for us.   As 
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I  sa id,  I  p lace on record,  we are relat ively far  in our 

preparat ions.   I t  is l i teral ly – we need to deal  wi th  our  oral  

evidence and we need to deal  wi th,  I  th ink some of  the 

evidence that  was presented yesterday.    

 And then we can – and we have to – sorry,  there is one 

more issue.   We have to deal  wi th the Reference Fi le .   There 

are issues contained,  documents in the Reference Fi le that  

is ut i l ised by my learned f r iends for the Commission,  and 

there are certain  documents in there that  we have to deal  

wi th.    10 

 And that  is having regard to the manner and the way 

evidence was led and the issues that  was highl ighted by both 

yoursel f  Chai rperson and my learned f r iend that  you f ind 

important  where you need a proper  explanat ion on,  and that  

is what our cl ient  wants to give you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Can I  see the d irect ives that  were 

issues as wel l?  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    The di rect ives? 

CHAIRPERSON :    The direct ives,  ja .   Or was i t  one or was i t  

two? 20 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    I t  was two direct ives Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    In the aff idavi t ,  we state that  the 

one that  relates to the Tegeta issue,  i f  I  can cal l  i t  

. . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    . . .s imple is a di rect ive wi th  

Annexures A to G.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    These annexures are pure 

documents in vacuo  i f  I  can be so bold to state i t  l ike that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    And i f  you – i f  we were to  f i le,  and 

that  was our  problem at  the t ime,  and you would not ice that  

we asked for numerous documents in order to assist  us to 10 

deal  wi th the issues that  – or to deal  wi th Annexures A to G.   

I f  we were f i le in vacuo ,  we would have said:   Yes,  we agree 

that  th is is – the document is recorded correct ly.   Yes,  we 

agree.    

 But  that  would not  have assisted you Chairperson.   What  

you want to have is to understand how document or  

Annexure A came about.   What role did you play?   

 And in – to that  extent ,  what t ranspired – and again,  we 

deal t  wi th i t  in  the aff idavi t  –  what t ranspi red is  that  

wi tnesses came to give evidence and thei r  d iversion on i t .   20 

And on occasion we agree and on other occasions we do not  

agree.    

 And then documents came up that  we never had sight  of  

and those documents,  of  course,  refreshed our memory and 

we – by looking at  the document,  we can object ively say to  
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the Commission in our aff idavi t :    

 I f  you look at  the document,  th is is our version.   And we 

are not  taking issue,  for instance,  wi th the Commission’s 

approach on this.    

 Or,  i f  you look at  th is document – and a lot  of  these 

documents,  i f  I  may interrupt  mysel f ,  only came up dur ing 

December wi th the evidence,  and to that  extent  –  I  do not  

want to highl ight  i t .   Ms Daniels’ evidence is qui te important .    

 And documents were presented to her  that  we did not  

have.   And that ,  of  course,  again prompted us to deal  wi th  10 

that .    

 So I  hope you understand Chai rperson what our  

predicament is.   We want to assist  the Commission.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    And we want to curta i l ,  c l ient  

s i t t ing here and going through wri t ten submissions that  we 

might  say:   Take i t  as a given.   I t  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Except  – I  want to ampl i fy th is  

point .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Instead to taking the c l ient  

through that :   But  did you say this?  Yes.   Did you say this?  

Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  



13 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 327 
 

Page 26 of 167 
 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    So wi th  that  as a background, we 

real ly l i tera l ly beg you to give us an indulgence to assist  the 

Commission and f i le th is aff idavi t .   And we – and take i t  f rom 

us,  we bel ieve i t  wi l l  curtai l  h is evidence and we wi l l  not  – 

and I  am not  going to say,  today wi l l  be wasted i f  he is taking 

through that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    But  i t  might  not  even be 

necessary to deal  wi th i t  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I f  I  grant  you the indulgence.   My 10 

incl inat ion would be that  i t  should be enough i f  you have – i f  

you f i le on Monday.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    We understand and i f  that  is your  

di rect ive,  we wi l l  f i le on Monday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.   Okay al r ight .   Let  me hear what  

Mr Seleka has to say.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Thank you,  Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Thank you,  Chairperson.   Chairperson,  I  

have l istened careful ly to my learned f r iend.   I  have two 20 

issues that  needs to be addressed f rom what she is saying.   

One is the reason for the fai lure.    

 I  th ink that  is apparent  f rom the aff idavi t  that  the 

posi t ion taken by Mr Anoj  Singh is that :   I  wai ted to hear the 

evidence of  other people in order to f i le an aff idavi t  or 
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submit  one,  and that  the evidence in regard to the Tegeta 

matters only came up only in December 2020.   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  te l l  you what Mr Seleka.   The only th ing 

that  might  persuade me to grant  e ffect ively a postponement 

of  the hearing of  Mr Anoj  Singh’s evidence.   I  am not  sure 

about al l  the arguments that  have been advanced about the 

reasons and so on.   But  I  have looked at  th is summons.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Have you looked at  th is summons that  was 

issued to him? 10 

ADV SELEKA SC :    I  have looked at  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  says:   He is di rected to appear before 

the Commission. . .   And i t  g ives the address and the date,  

which is today.    

 And then i t  says:  

“ . . . for the purpose of  giv ing ev idence before the 

Commission and being quest ioned on the aff idavi t  

that  you had submit ted to the Commission and 

issues ar is ing f rom or relat ing thereto.”  

 Now, what aff idavi t  was the legal  team talking about 20 

there? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  Chairperson that  is an important  

quest ion.   Chai r,  I  want  to read f rom the let ter that  we 

addressed to him because . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  let  us talk about  the summons f i rst .  
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ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   Because . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So I  am asking the quest ion.   The 

summons cal led h im to appear today.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    His evidence . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .and to be quest ioned on the aff idavi t ,  he 

al leged he had submit ted to the Commission and the issues 

ar is ing f rom or relat ing thereto.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    What aff idavi t  was the legal  team talking 

about? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.    At  that  stage Chai rperson,  as my 

learned f r iend sa id for Mr Anoj  Singh,  he had not  served an 

aff idavi t  but  i t  was expected f rom him the day af ter the 

summons was served.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So the summons i t  was talk ing about,  a  

non-existent  aff idavi t?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I t  was talk ing about an aff idavi t  at  the 

t ime that  was not  – had not  been given.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was . . . [ indist inct ]  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Correct ,  Chai rperson.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Does th is make this summons – does not  

that  make the summons defect ive? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Wel l ,  Chai r  I  th ink in discussion wi th the 
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legal  team at  the t ime they were assist ing me with at torneys 

for Mr Anoj  Singh,  there was an undertaking f rom thei r  part  

that  there wi l l  be an aff idavi t  on the 18t h of  December.   I  

bel ieve the summons was served on the 17t h of  December.    

CHAIRPERSON :    How does that  help,  whether or not  the 

summons is defect ive?  I f ,  at  the t ime, the summons was 

issued,  i t  referred to a non-existent  aff idavi t ,  that  he must  

come and test i fy  about  a non-existent  aff idavi t  and issues 

ar is ing f rom that  a ff idavi t  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .which did not  exist .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  what  I  am saying to the 

Chairperson is that .   I f  there is any defect  in  that  regard 

Chairperson,  i t  is taking care of  by the arrangement  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    But  why was a summons issued which 

said he had submit ted an aff idavi t  when factual ly he has not  

submit ted an aff idavi t?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  that  point  I  have mysel f  a lso raised 

Chai r.   But  I  was given – to understand that .   Look,  i t  was 20 

against  the background of  an undertaking given by 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    But  you cannot issue summons that  says,  

you f i led – and now somebody has f i led an aff idavi t ,  i f  

factual ly that  has not  happened.  
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ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   Chai r,  the summons is issued 

against  a part icular person.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    And that  person has been engaging wi th  

the Commission in regard to the f i l ing . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    But  i t  does not  matter.   The summons 

must te l l  the person to whom i t  is issued what he is requi red 

to test i fy about  on the day when he is requi red to appear.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And effect ively,  what th is summons is 10 

requi r ing Mr Singh to come and test i fy about ,  is an aff idavi t  

that  did not  exist  then and actual ly does not  exist  even now,  

as far as I  am concerned because I  do not  th ink that  the 

aff idavi t  that  has been handed up is that  aff idavi t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    No,  i t  is not .   No,  i t  has not .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So how do I  insist  that  he must  give 

evidence today when the summons told him to come and 

test i fy about  a non-existent  aff idavi t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja.   Chai r,  when the issue was raised,  

you wi l l  see f rom the let ter that  I  then wrote Chai rperson 20 

personal ly,  which is the last  annexure in th is aff idavi t ,  I  

explained the posi t ion that :   Okay,  I  understand that  the 

communicat ion between you and the Commission,  which is  

my assistance in the Commission,  was that  you – and I  th ink 

wi th the secretar iat  – was that ,  an aff idavi t  was ant ic ipated 
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f rom you on the . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    But  the moment  you say i t  was ant ic ipated 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  does not  help.   You as the leader should 

not  have author ised your team to give the secretar iat  a  

summons to sign which said Mr Singh was requi red to 

appear and give evidence and be quest ioned on an aff idavi t  

that  you had not  seen.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    I  accept  that  Chai rperson.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    You agree? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    That  i t  could not  have been wri t ten that  

way.   Ordinar i ly,  you would not  wri te i t  that  way Chai rperson.   

That  I  accept .   I  accept  that  they would have then based 

their  summons in that  regard in the l ight  of  the ant ic ipat ion.   

That  is not  giv ing you the answer Chai rperson but  I  am 

saying that  is . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Just  help me.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because in the f i rst  p lace,  the summons 20 

did not  have to refer to any aff idavi t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  Chai r.   Correct .   I  have raised that  

issue Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You and your team ought to have known 

what the issues are or were that  you wanted him to test i fy 
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about .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And those could have been l isted in  

annexures,  as Annexure A.   So the summons could have 

said:   For the purpose of  giv ing evidence before the 

Commission and being quest ioned on the matters l isted in 

Annexure A.    

 Then you could l ist  the issues or you refer to  the 

aff idavi ts of  wi tnesses that  have impl icated that  you would 

want to quest ion about.   That  could have been done.  You 10 

did not  have to refer to any aff idavi t  by him in ci rcumstances 

where there was no aff idavi t  by him.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Chai r,  I  have ra ised that  issue mysel f .   

The explanat ion I  have give you Chairperson is how I  get  i t .   

I  wrote a let ter,  explaining to the at torney for Mr Anoj  Singh 

that  the issues that  he would be expected to test i fy  about ,  

are those that  were l isted in the d irect ives.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  the summons should stand or  fa l l  on 

i ts own.  I t  should be completely.   I t  should tel l  the person to 

whom i t  is di rected what the matters are that  he is required 20 

to test i fy about .    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And th is summons, as i t  stands,  does not  

te l l  h im anyth ing meaningful  because everybody knows that  

whereas i t  says he would give ev idence and the quest ions on 



13 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 327 
 

Page 33 of 167 
 

the aff idavi t  he had submit ted,  everybody knows he had not  

submit ted any aff idavi t .    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  Chair  that  is – what I  am saying to 

the Chairperson.   I  accept  your  posi t ion Chairperson.   That  

is correct .   What I  am saying to the Chairperson is how the 

communicat ion unfolded between the part ies.   So 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   No,  no.   My interest  was whether or  

not  I  can insist  on the basis of  the summons that  he test i f ies 

today and i t  seems to me that  I  cannot or  I  should not 10 

because I  am not  sat isf ied that  th is summons suff ic ient ly 

te l ls him or te l ls h im . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    What is . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .what  he is going – he is requi red to 

test i fy about .   There may be have been correspondence 

between . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Between the part ies.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the Commission’s legal  team and – but 

the summons which requi red and compel led him to appear 

before the Commission,  does not  te l l  h im.  The only th ing 20 

you can ask him about today,  st r ic t ly speaking,  is  th is non-

exist ing aff idavi t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  for him to. . .   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He would be ent i t led to  say:    I  have been 

asked to – I  have been told through this summons that  I  wi l l  
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g ive evidence and be quest ioned on this  aff idavi t  and issues 

re lat ing to  i t .   And he can say:   Where is that  aff idavi t  before 

you ask me quest ions?  What would you say?  He would be 

ent i t led to  say:   You cannot ask me quest ions on other  

matters.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    The matters you have cal led me here to  

deal  wi th,  are the matters that  are in the aff idavi t .   And the 

aff idavi t  is ta lk ing about a non-exist ing aff idavi t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    H’m.  Chai r,  i f  the – and I  am not  10 

answering the Chai rperson but  I  am answering him on the 

hypothet ical  quest ion Chai rperson.   But  i t  wi l l  not  be fai r  for 

him to ask the quest ion i f  there has been an engagement  

between.. .  [ technical  cut  in recording]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  but  the fact  of  the matter is.   Why 

would he not  be ent i t led to say:   I  am here under compulsion 

on the basis of  th is summons? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    H’m. 

CHAIRPERSON :    And th is summons says,  today my 

evidence must re late to th is  aff idavi t .   You cannot outside 20 

the scope of  the summons.  So I  must  say that  I  was very 

incl ined to refuse the indulgence,  the request  for indulgence 

that  counsel  for Mr Singh asked for.   And wanted to insist  

that  Mr Singh begins his ev idence today and be quest ions.  

 But  in the l ight  of  th is summons, I  do not  th ink that  I  can 
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do that .   But  I  a lso take note that  counsel  for Mr Singh has 

very passionately undertaken that  they intend to f i le a 

comprehensive aff idavi t  and – when I  ind icated that ,  i f  I  

grant  the indulgence,  I  would not  grant  them up to Fr iday but  

up to Monday.   She has said that  they wi l l  comply wi th that  

deadl ine.    

 So i f  you have something to say,  something else to say,  

you can say i t  but  r ight  now,  I  am incl ined to reluctant ly 

grant  the indulgence but  may be order that  they must  f i le 

their  aff idavi t ,  comprehensive aff idavi t  on Monday.  10 

 But  i f  you . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .you would l ike to  deal  wi th some 

matters to argue that  I  should not  grant  the indulgence,  you 

may do so.   But  that  is my di ff icul ty.   I  have ind icated to you 

how I  feel  about  th is.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   No,  Chai r  I  understand because on 

the one hand you have discussions between the part ies,  

exchange by let ters,  and you see how part ies accommodate 

each other or the Commission and the part ies.  20 

 On the other hand,  you have the formal i t ies of  the rules.   

So i f  you go st r ict ly by the formal i t ies of  the rules 

Chairperson which I  appreciate,  that  is what the Chai rperson 

is focussing on,  that  is the approach to be adopted.  

 But  I  th ink i t  is real ly opportunist ic Chairperson,  af ter  
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having engaged a long the l ines of  the Commission and the 

party have done,  and mind you Chairperson,  re l iance was 

not  placed on that  summons to seek a postponement.   I t  is  

placed on other th ings.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  i t  might  not  have been placed on i t  

but  i f  I  am going to insist  that  Mr Anoj  Singh takes the 

wi tness stand and give evidence and be quest ions,  I  must  be 

sat isf ied that  he has been properly summoned because he 

could be ent i t led and that  is not  what his counsel  has sa id,  I  

mean.   10 

 But  he could be ent i t led to say:   Wel l ,  i f  I  am being 

forced to give ev idence,  I  am going to  approach the court  

and have the summons set  aside because i t  is fatal ly 

defect ive.   And he might  have a good point .    

ADV SELEKA SC :    H’m.   

CHAIRPERSON :    So i t  is  more about whether in these 

ci rcumstances and in the l ight  of  th is summons, I  can insist  

that  he gives ev idence.   That  is where my di ff icul ty is and I  

am incl ined to – that  I  cannot or should not .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  Chair  . . . [ in tervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    The. . .   I  get  the impression that  certainly  

his counsel  is commit ted in assist ing the Commission by way 

of  th is comprehensive aff idavi t .   And so that  wi l l  be helpfu l .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   Yes,  Chai r.   Certainly,  I  have been 

– she has communicated that  much to me.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    But  can I  a lso – and I  do not  need to 

persuade the Chairperson because she has al ready told the 

Chairperson that  we have informed them that  he wi l l  be 

test i fy ing on the Tegeta matters.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    But  that  does not  have to change. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Because the emphasis is  on the 

summons as i t  is.   I  mysel f  have had to quest ion the 10 

summons.  The Chairperson wi l l  appreciate the workload and 

not  everyth ing passes under one’s eye.   So.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV SELEKA SC :    yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  a summons must – in a summons in 

your  work st ream should not  go out  wi thout  you having 

author ised i t .   That  should not  happen.  And as you see,  this 

is,  as far as I  am concerned,  a fatal  defect  of  the summons.  

The summons is fatal ly defect ive.   Okay.   I . . .  

 Unless you have some other points to make,  I  am 20 

incl ined to grant  the indulgence,  make i t  an order  that  

Mr Singh must f i le his comprehensive aff idavi t  by close of  

business on Monday.    

 And then one wi l l  have to f ind another date when he 

must  come back.   And you wi l l  just  have to make sure that 
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that  t ime the summons is not  defect ive.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    I  wi l l  certainly at tend to that  one 

Chairperson.   I  do not  th ink I  have any further to say.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Ja.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Except  that  my learned f r iend wi l l  bear  

in mind that  there has been a long str ing of  indulgences.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    So.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   I  am going to adjourn the 

hearing of  Mr Anoj  Singh’s evidence to a date yet  to be 

determined and then order that  he del ivers to the 

Commission by close of  business on Monday a 

comprehensive aff idavi t  as indicated by his counsel ,  deal ing 

wi th al l  the issues referred to in  the aff idavi t  in the 10.6 

Di rect ives.   But  counsel ,  i t  goes beyond that  what you want  

to put  up.   I t  is  actual ly also other issues that  he would 

test i fy about .   Is that  r ight? 

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Indeed Chairperson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Our intent ion is to deal  wi th the 

evidence,  the documents,  et  cetera.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Based on the issues that  we know 
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you wish to hear.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Those evidence on.   This wi l l  be 

Tegeta.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay.   No,  that  is f ine.   Okay.   So 

the order I  make is the fol lowing.    

1.  The hearing of  Mr Anoj  Singh’s evidence is 

adjourned to a date to be determined.  

2.  Mr Anoj  Singh is  ordered to del iver  to  the 

Commission by c lose of  business on Monday,  the 10 

18t h of  January 2021, a comprehensive aff idavi t  th is  

counsel  has referred to that  wi l l  deal  wi th,  among 

other th ings,  the issues referred to in the two 

di rect ives as wel l  as al l  the issues that  he is  

requi red to test i fy  about .  

3.  Another date for  Mr Anoj  Singh to appear 

before the commission wi l l  be determined in due 

course.  

 That  is the order.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Thank you,  Chai rperson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .    

ADV VAN DEN HEEVER :    Thank you,  Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   We are going to adjourn for  

the day but  later on,  the Commission wi l l  hear evidence.   So 

there wi l l  be a s i t t ing later on,  I  th ink at  four.   We wi l l  hear  
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evidence f rom Mr Chris Todd relat ing to Transnet .   But  then 

tomorrow, the Commission wi l l  cont inue wi th evidence 

re lat ing to Eskom.  Who are the wi tnesses for tomorrow? 

ADV SELEKA SC :    That  is – in the morning is Ms Matsietsi  

Makholo.   Then there are two further  wi tnesses,  Ms Mosi lo  

Mothepu and Ms Bianca Goodson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay al r ight .   Okay.   We adjourn.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Good a f te rnoon,  Mr  Myburgh,  good 

a f te rnoon everybody.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Good a f te rnoon,  Cha i rpe rson .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  a re  we ready?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson,  th i s  a f te rnoon ’s  

ev idence re la tes  to  the  Transnet  [ indist inct ]  00 .00 .43   Mr  

Todd is  be ing  reca l led  as  a  w i tness to  dea l  w i th  two th ings 

…[ in tervenes] .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  one second,  I  th ink  they w i l l  need 

to  ad jus t  the  a i r  con,  i t  i s  qu i te  no isy.   But  in  the  meant ime 

you can t ry  and ra ise  your  vo ice .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  cer ta in l y.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd w i l l  dea l  w i th  two th ings and  

I  w i l l  go  in to  more  de ta i l  in  a  moment ,  GNS and the  th i rd  

payment  o f  lega l  cos ts  made to  Mr  Gama upon h i s  

re ins ta tement .   Mr  Gama is  p resen t  th is  a f te rnoon together  

w i th  counse l .   Perhaps I  shou ld  a f fo rd  h is  counse l  

oppor tun i ty  to  p lace  h imse l f  on  record .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  le t  h im p lace h imse l f  on  record  o r  

herse l f .   You can do –  ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Le t  them jus t  

san i t i se  f i rs t .  

ADV OLD WADGE SC :   Thank  you,  Mr  Cha i rpe rson,  10 

O ldwadge.   I  w i l l  spe l l  tha t ,  i t  i s  O- l -d -w-a-d-ge,  K  C.   I s  

my name,  I  am a  member  o f  the  Johannesburg  Bar.   I  

appear  on  beha l f  o f  Mr  Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV OLDWADG E SC :   I  am ins t ruc ted  in  th is  mat te r  by  

Br ian  Kahn Incorpora ted .   Ms Barke r  seated to  my r igh t  

f rom the  a foresa id  f i rm is  in  a t tendance w i th  me.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV OLDWADGE SC :   I  have appeared before  you in  these  

proceed ings.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  I  remember.  

ADV OLDWADGE SC :   Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

ADV OLDWADGE SC :   Thank you,  Mr  Cha i r.   We are  

mere ly  here  to  observe  today and  there  may very  we l l  be  
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an  app l i ca t ion  tha t  fo l lows the  tes t imony.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

ADV OLDWADGE SC :   I  am indebted.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Cha i rperson,  i f  I  cou ld  jus t  take  a  

few minutes  to  ske tch  the  background then to  Mr  Todd ’s  

ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The name GNS,  Genera l  Nyanda  

Secur i t y  has fea tured in  these proceed ings when Mr  Todd  10 

f i rs t  gave ev idence.   You w i l l  reca l l  tha t  Mr  Gama was  

d ismissed as  the  Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i cer  o f  Transnet  

Fre igh t  Ra i l  on  a  number  o f  cha rges o f  m isconduct .   He 

was found gu i l t y  i n te r  a l ia  o f  neg l igent  conduct  in  re la t ion  

to  h is  s ignature  o f  the  conf inement  tender  in  favour  o f  GNS   

They were  then  appo in ted  as  a  secur i t y  p rov ider  a t  

Transnet .   So ev idence has been g iven by  Mr Todd  in  tha t  

contex t .    

 Today the  focus  sh i f t s  to  ev idence by  Mr  Todd 

re la t ing  rea l l y  to  the  propr ie ta ry  o f  the  cont rac t  and 20 

u l t imate ly  the  se t t lement  o f  l i t i ga t ion  tha t  ensued between  

Transnet  and GNS.  

 Between the  t ime  tha t  Mr  Gama was d i smissed and  

re ins ta ted ,  Transnet  ins t i tu ted  lega l  p roceed ings aga ins t  

GNS where  they e f fec t i ve l y  rec la imed the  R95 mi l l ion  tha t  
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had been pa id  to  GNS dur ing  the  course  o f  the  cont rac t  

a f te r  they had te rm inated i t .    

Somet ime a f te r  tha t ,  by  wh ich  t ime Mr  Gama was  

re ins ta ted  Transnet  and GNS o r  Nyanda Secur i t y,  i t s  

successor  in  t i t le ,  en tered in to  a  se t t lement  agreement  in  

te rms o f  wh ich  Transnet  w i thd rew i t s  app l i ca t ion  and  

agreed to  pay costs  on  an  a t to rney and own c l ien t  sca le  

and u l t imate ly  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was i t  no t  an  ac t ion?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  was an ac t ion ,  yes ,  an  ac t ion  fo r  10 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    An  ac t ion ,  ja ,  i t  c la imed fo r  damages.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  Transnet  had ins t i tu ted  GNS.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  to  recover  e f fec t i ve l y  money tha t  

they had pa id  to  GNS pursuant  to  the  cont rac t  tha t  Mr  

Gama had approved.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l leged ly  an  i r regu lar  cont rac t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja ,  so  tha t  ac t ion ,  Mr  Cha i rman,  you 

are  co r rec t ,  i t  was an ac t ion .   I t  was w i thdrawn and then  

there  was an agreement  to  pay costs  on  an  a t to rney c l ien t  
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sca le .   That  l i t i ga t ion  was s t i l l  a t  qu i te  a  prematu re  s tage,  

there  had been an exchange o f  p lead ings and I  th ink  the  

f i l i ng  o f  a  d iscovery  a f f idav i t .   U l t imate ly  Transnet  pa id  

some R20 mi l l ion  in  costs .    

 So Mr  Todd ’s  ev idence w i l l  g ive  you ins igh t  in to  

a l leged i r regu lar i t ies  in  re la t ion  to  the  conc lus ion  o f  the  

cont rac t ,  i r regu lar  per fo rmance under  the  cont rac t ,  the  

dec is ion  to  se t t le  and the  dec i s ion  to  pay the  R20  mi l l ion 

costs .  

 The o the r  leg  o f  Mr  Todd ’s  ev idence re la tes  to  the 10 

th i rd  payment  o f  lega l  cos ts  made to  Mr  Gama fur ther  to  

h is  re ins ta tement .   The background to  tha t  you w i l l  reca l l ,  

Mr  Cha i rperson,  when Mr  Gama was re ins ta ted ,  i t  was 

agreed tha t  Transnet  wou ld  pay 75% of  h is  cos ts  in  re la t ion  

to  the  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion  and  re fer ra l  o f  h is  d ismissa l  

d ispute  to  the  barga in ing  counc i l .   Now what  we  know 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And i t  was taxed cost ,  hey?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  we do know is  tha t  Mr  Gama 

was pa id  tha t  bu t  then he was pa id  more ,  he  was a lso  pa id  

75% of  the  costs  tha t  were  incu r red  by  Transnet  by  two  

separa te  se ts  o f  a t to rneys and counse l  in  the  H igh  Cour t  

p roceed ings.  
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 When Mr  Todd and Mr  Mapoma gave ev idence  

before  because Mr  Mapoma dea l t  w i th  the  costs  i ssue,  we 

d id  br ing  to  your  a t ten t ion  tha t  a  year  o r  two la te r  there  

was in  fac t  a  th i rd  payment  tha t  was made in  respect  o f  Mr  

Gama’s  lega l  cos ts  o f  some 1 .5  m i l l ion .  

 Mr  Todd has under taken an invest iga t ion  in  tha t  

regard .   He has been prov ided w i th  the  documents  and he  

puts  up  a  shor t  a f f idav i t  wh ich  he  w i l l  a lso  speak to  bu t  

tha t  par t  o f  h is  ev idence w i l l  be  very  shor t .   Un less  you 

have any quest i ons,  Mr  Cha i rman,  m ight  I  ca l l  then Mr  10 

Todd as  a  w i tness?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  thank you.   Good a f te rnoon,  Mr  

Todd,  thank you once aga in  fo r  coming back to  ass is t  the  

Commiss ion  in  regard  to  th i s  ma t te r.   We apprec ia te  the  

fac t  tha t  you have ass i s ted  the  Commiss ion  to  unders tand  

exact ly  what  happened in  regard  to  th is  mat te rs .   Thank  

you.  

MR TODD:   Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.   P lease admin i s te r  the  oa th  

or  a f f i rmat ion .  20 

REGISTRAR :   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record?  

MR TODD:    Chr is topher  Franc i s  Nea le  Todd.  

REGISTRAR :   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  t ak ing  the  

prescr ibed a f f i rmat ion?  

MR TODD:    No,  I  do  no t .  
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REGISTRAR :   Do you so lemnly  a f f i rm tha t  the  ev idence  

you w i l l  g ive  w i l l  be  the  t ru th  the  who le  t ru th  and  noth ing  

e lse  bu t  the  t ru th.   I f  so ,  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and  

say I  t ru ly  a f f i rm.  

CHRISTOPHER FRANCIS NEALE TODD:   I  t ru ly  a f f i rm.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you,  you may be seated,  Mr  Todd.   

Mr  Myburgh,  the  la tes t  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Todd tha t  dea ls  w i th  

the  th i rd  payment . . .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  read i t  yes te rday,  i t  was separa te ,  I  10 

wonder  whether  i t  i s  now in  th is  bund le  because I  do  no t  

see i t  separa te .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  i t  has  been added  to tha t  

bund le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  has  been added.   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Cha i rpe rson,  as  you know,  Mr  

Todd ’s  a f f idav i t s  a re  conta ined in  EXHIBIT 17 wh ich  is  –  I  

th ink  i t  i s  marked as  bund le  3  and tha t  conta ins  EXHIBIT  

BB16 and EXHIBIT BB17.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  guess we shou ld  s ta r t  by  say ing  tha t  20 

we w i l l  be  us ing  Transnet  bund le  03 .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  r igh t?   And then the  var ious  

exh ib i t s  a re  in  tha t  bund le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    So i t  i s  the  var ious a f f idav i t s  o f  Mr  Todd 

appear  in  EXHIBIT 17.   I f  I  cou ld ,  be fore  I  ge t  to  the  de ta i l  

o f  them,  jus t  ske tch  th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd  has now produced f i ve  

a f f idav i t s .   The  f i rs t  a f f idav i t ,  wh ich  has a l ready been 

admi t ted  in to  ev idence,  dea ls  w i th  Mr  Gama’s  

re ins ta tement .  

 The second a f f idav i t  tha t  has a lso  been admi t ted  

dea ls  w i th  the  issue o f  condonat ion ,  the  bas is  upon wh ich  10 

Mr  Gama was re ins ta ted .   You w i l l  reca l l ,  Mr  Cha i rperson,  

tha t  r igh t  a t  the  end o f  tha t  a f f idav i t  Mr  Todd a l so  dea ls ,  

g ives  a  b i rd ’s  eye  v iew rea l l y  o f  GNS.  

 Mr  Todd then has p roduced a  th i rd  a f f idav i t  tha t  

dea ls  w i th  GNS,  he  produced a  four th  a f f idav i t  wh ich  dea ls 

w i th  GNS but  jus t  the  payment  o f  cos ts ,  tha t  i s  a  ve ry  shor t  

a f f idav i t .  

 And then the  f i f th  a f f idav i t  dea ls  w i th  the  th i rd  

payment  o f  lega l  cos ts  made to  Mr  Gama a f te r  h is  

re ins ta tement .   So I  am go ing  to  take  Mr  Todd now to h is  20 

th i rd ,  four th  and f i f th  a f f idav i t  and then I  w i l l  ask  you as  we 

go a long to  admi t  them in to  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd,  do  you have in  f ron t  o f  you 

bund le  3 ,  EXHIBIT 17?  
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MR TODD:   Yes,  I  do .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cou ld  I  take  you p lease to  page –  

and,  as  you know,  we re fer  in  ev idence to  the  b lack  

numbers  –  cou ld  I  p lease take  you  to page 486?  Are  you 

there?  And pe rhaps I  cou ld  ask  you to  tu rn  to  page 508.   

Would  you conf i rm tha t  th is  i s  an  a f f idav i t  o f  yours  together  

w i th  a  se r ies  o f  annexures runn ing  f rom I  a l l  the  way  

th rough to  –  I  th ink  i t  i s  NN a t  page 797.  

MR TODD:   Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Do you con f i rm then,  i f  you  go back 10 

to  page 508,  tha t  i t  i s  an  a f f idav i t  o f  yours  deposed to  on  

the  25  September  2020?  

MR TODD:   That  i s  cor rec t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And wou ld  you conf i rm aga in  under  

oa th  the  accuracy  o f  th is  a f f idav i t ,  the  t ru th  and accuracy?  

MR TODD:   Yes,  I  can conf i rm i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Cha i rperson,  m ight  I  ask  you then  

p lease to  admi t  Mr  Todd ’s  a f f idav i t  o f  the  25  September  

2020 as  EXHIBIT 17.3?  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you sa id  tha t  one is  the  one tha t  20 

beg ins  a t  486?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:      And goes up  to  508 and then  i t  has 

annexures?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes and the  annexures run  a l l  the 



13 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 327 
 

Page 49 of 167 
 

way to  797,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   Wha t  exh ib i t  number  wou ld  i t  

be?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   17 .3 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    There  is  no  le t te r  be fo re  17?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  wou ld  be  BB17.3 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    BB,  okay.   The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  

Chr is topher  Franc is  Nea le  Todd s tar t ing  a t  486 together  

w i th  i t s  annexures is  admi t ted  and w i l l  be  marked as  

EXHIBIT BB17.3 .  10 

CHRISTOPHER FRANCIS NEALE TODD’S AFFIDAVIT  

STARTING AT  486 TOGETHER WITH ANNEXURES 

HANDED IN AS EXHIBIT  BB17.3  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.    

MR TODD:   Yes  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now you  prev ious gave ev idence  

about  what  Mr  Gama sa id  about  h is  s ignature  o f  the 

or ig ina l  conf inement  tender  bu t  perhaps we cou ld  jus t  –  I  

am not  go ing  to  ask  you to  rehash tha t ,  bu t  cou ld  we s tar t  

a t  parag raph 4 .   Jus t  to  fo rmer ly  p lace  on record  the  20 

s ignature  o f  tha t  document  by  Mr  Gama.  

MR TODD:   Yes,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  document  was the  

or ig ina l  conf inement  document  tha t  was approved and tha t  

in i t ia ted  the  appo in tment  o r  was necessary  to  in i t ia te  the  

appo in tment  o f  GNS.   The document  i t se l f  appears  a t  page 
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509 and the  pages tha t  fo l low and the  s ignature  page o f  

tha t  document  i s  a t  page 515.    

 So tha t  i s  the  document  wh ich  se ts  ou t  the  –  i f  one 

looks a t  page 509,  a t  the  s ta r t  o f  i t ,  tha t  i s  the  document  

tha t  se ts  ou t  the  t i t le  o f  the  submiss ion ,  i s  a  conf inement .   

The head ing  a t  the  top  was conf ident ia l ,  GNS conf inement .   

The recommendat ion  wh ich  se ts  ou t  the  reasons fo r  i ssu ing  

a  conf ined tender  i s  then exp la ined and they ta l k  about  

how –  and I  do  no t  want  to  repeat  the  ev idence,  there  was  

an unknown tender  p rocess,  wh ich  was s topped and th is  10 

document  reco rds  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    There  m ight  be  –  m ight  no t  be  a  bad  

idea jus t  go  back a  l i t t le  b i t  jus t  so  tha t  even the  pub l i c  

tha t  i s  l i s ten ing  they can fo l low.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wi thout  go ing  too  much back,  jus t  the  

contex t .   So tha t  the  pub l i c  can fo l low your  ev idence  

cor rec t l y .  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  20 

MR TODD:   Thank you,  Cha i rperson.   The –  so  what  th is  

document  in  fac t  summar ises is  tha t  there  had  been a  

pub l i c  p rocurement  p rocess,  compet i t i ve  b idd ing  process 

and as  I  gave ev idence las t  t ime,  GNS was not  one  o f  the  

b idders ,  i t  was not  invo lved in  tha t  p rocess.   That  p rocess 
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was then s topped .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Th is  was a  tender  fo r  the  p rov i s ion  o f  

secur i t y  se rv i ces .  

MR TODD:   O f  secur i t y  serv i ces .  

CHAIRPERSON:    A t  Transnet .  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:   Yes  and as  I  sa id  las t  t ime i t  was a  tender  

wh ich  eve rybody agreed,  and Mr  Gama was qu i te  emphat ic  

about  th is ,  tha t  i t  was not  su i tab le  fo r  conf inement  because  10 

there  were  so  many ava i lab le ,  pub l i c  p rov iders  o f  the  

serv i ce  and h is  ev idence was had he known the  t rue  fac ts  

he  wou ld  never  have approved th is  conf inement  bu t ,  as  I  

exp la ined las t  t ime,  he  sa id  he  d id  no t  read the  document ,  

he  jus t  s igned i t  bu t  the  document  i t se l f  exp la ins  the  

background,  i t  exp la ins  tha t  i t  i s  a  conf inement ,  exp la ins  

tha t  there  had been a  pub l i c  tender  p rocess tha t  had been 

s topped and then says –  and I  am read ing  in  the  second 

paragraph next  to  the  le t te r  2  on  page 509,  in  tha t  b lock ,  

four th  pa ragraph f rom the  bot tom,  i t  says :  20 

“A  research  o f  po ten t ia l  compan ies  was conducted 

and  Genera l  Nyanda  Secur i t y ,  GNS,  was ca l led  i n  to  

do  a  presenta t ion  in  a  fo rm o f  a  p roposa l . ”  

And then i t  exp la ins  tha t :  

“GNS’  p roposa l  was in  content  w i th  ou r  requ i red  
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so lu t ion . ”  

E tce tera ,  e tce tera .  

“They were  h igh ly  recommended”  

And so  on .   So th is  document  rea l l y  i s  the  or ig ina l  

mot iva t ion  fo r  the  conf inement  and i t  was o r ig ina l l y  

in tended to  be  f i ve  months  sub jec t  to  a  rev iew and  tha t  i s  

exp la ined over  the  page a t  page 510 next  to  paragraph 4  

wh ich  ta lks  about  the  cont rac t  per iod  and i t  spec i f ies  there  

f rom 1  November  to  30  Apr i l  2008,  f i ve  months  on  a  

per fo rmance rev iew per iod  and then i t  says  the  to ta l  10 

cont rac t  per iod  is  one year ,  f rom 1  November  to  31 

October  2008.  

 And then i t  se ts  ou t  the  pr ic ing ,  i t  se ts  ou t  a  

commerc ia l  eva lua t ion ,  who approved i t ,  techn ica l  

eva lua t ion  and the  name o f  the  company i t se l f ,  the 

tendere r  a t  page  511,  i s  Genera l  Nyanda Secur i t y  (P ty)  

L td .   The d i rec tors  a re  se t  ou t  there  as  be ing  Sy lveste r  

S i tho le  and Genera l  S iph iwe Nyanda.  

 Over  the  page on  512 the  BEE requ i rements  are  se t  

ou t  and i t  says  percentage  b lack  ownersh ip  o f  the  tendere r  20 

is  conf i rmed as  be ing  100% and so  on .  

 And then the  s ignatures  eventua l l y  a re  appended a t  

page 515 and there  are  rea l l y  a  ser ies  o f  approva ls ,  the  

las t  o f  wh ich  is  Mr  Gama’s  approva l  wh ich  was g iven on  

the  5  December  in  2007.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Paragraph 4  in i t ia l l y  ta lks  about  the  

per iod  be ing  1  November  2007 to  30  Apr i l  2008,  wh ich  is  

no t  a  year ,  bu t  i t  says  in  the  next  sentence to ta l  cont rac t  

per iod  one year ,  1  November  2007 to  31  October  2008,  i s  

there  an  incons is tency there  or  no t?  

MR TODD:    Wel l  i t  i s  a  s t range p rov i s ion  because  i t  says  

i t  i s  a  one year  cont rac t ,  bu t  i t  says ,  i t  a lso   says i t  i s  f i ve  

months  pe r fo rmance rev iew and i f  one – the  on ly  tha t  was 

ra ised was th is ,  one o f  the  compla in ts ,  one o f  the  issues 

was tha t  th is  con t rac t  i t s  annua l  va lue  wh ich  on  the  in i t ia l  10 

pr ic ing  o f  i t  was es t imated to  be  R18mi l l ion  as  an  annua l  

va lue ,  and you f ind  tha t  i f  you  look a t  paragraph 11,  tha t  

exceeded Mr  Gama’s  au thor i t y  wh ich  was a  R10mi l l ion 

au thor i t y  and Mr  Gama sa id  no  I  ac tua l l y  on ly  approved 

f i ve  months ,  wh ich  fe l l  w i th in  the  R10mi l l ion  au tho r i t y .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mmm.  

MR TODD:  Now whethe r  tha t  was  the  in ten t ion  o f  pu t t ing  a  

f i ve  months  in  there  i f  the  o f f i c ia ls  were  a l i ve  to  the  

R10mi l l ion  i ssue  they may we l l  have inser ted  tha t  f i ve  

month  rev iew per iod  in  o rder  to  g ive  an  argument  tha t  i t  20 

fe l l  w i th in  Mr  Gama’s  au thor i t y .   As  i t  happens th is  cont rac t  

in  fac t  doub led  in  va lue  w i th in  –  ins ide  tha t  g ive  month  

per iod  and was then ex tended fu r the r  and as  we know 

wi th in ,  i t  con t inued  fo r  25  mon ths  a t  a  t o ta l  cos t  o f  

R95mi l l ion ,  bu t  tha t  i t s  o r ig ins  and cer ta in l y  a t  a  t ime Mr  
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Gama sa id  tha t  hav ing  on ly  approved the  f i rs t  f i ve  month  

rev iew per iod  i t  ac tua l l y  fe l l  w i th in  h is  leve l s  o f  au thor i t y ,  

bu t  tha t  a rgument  wasn ’ t  rea l l y  ava i lab le  to  h im once he 

sa id  in  h i s  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  tha t  ac tua l l y  he  never  read 

these documents ,  and jus t  appended h i s  s ignature ,  so  I  

don ’ t  know,  you know he wou ld  be  ab le  to  exp la in  whether  

he  re l ied  on  tha t  o r  no t .     

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  qu i te  s t range,  and o f  course  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  made  cer ta in  

f ind ings,  bu t  i t  i s  most  concern ing  tha t  the  Ch ie f  Execut ive  10 

Of f i cer  cou ld  s ign  a  document  commi t t ing  a  company to  

such –  to  m i l l ions  o f  rands w i thout  read ing  the  document ,  

to  the  ex ten t  tha t  he  says he  was approv ing  the  cont rac t  

tha t  wou ld  run  fo r  f i ve  months  when in  the  document  there  

is  re fe rence to  a  year ,  so  you s igned someth ing  tha t  you 

cannot  exp la in  yourse l f ,  say ing  i s  th is  cont rac t  fo r  f i ve  

months  or  i s  i t  fo r  a  year  because in  the  same document  

you have got  a  re ference to  a  year ,  then you have got  a  

re ference to  f i ve  or  s ix  months ,  ja .  

MR TODD:   Yes tha t  was the  f ind ing  o f  the  Cha i rman as  to  20 

why he sa id  i t  was ser ious neg l igence fo r  a  ch ie f  execut ive  

and jus t i f ied  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .    Thanks.    Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH:    Mr  Todd i f  I  cou ld  take  you back to  page 

487 o f  you r  a f f idav i t ,  you have a l ready touched on th is ,  
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you  have ment ioned the  d isc ip l ina ry  proceed ings tha t  were  

ins t i tu ted  aga ins t  Mr  Gama,  one o f  the  charges tha t  he  

faced,  you dea l  w i th  th is  a t  pa ragraph 5 ,  re la ted  to  h is  

s ignature  o f  th is  conf inement .  

You then go on to  exp la in  what  Mr  Gama sa id  and  

some o f  th is  you have a l ready  touched on,  about  h i s  

s ignature  o f  tha t  conf inement  dur ing  h i s  d i sc ip l inary  

hear ing ,  you a t tached the  t ransc r ip ts  o f  the  hear ing  and 

you dea l  w i th  th is  a t  parag raph 7 .  

Th is  i s  a lso  ev idence tha t  you have g iven befo re ,  10 

bu t  perhaps in  l ine  w i th  the  d i rec t ion  g iven  by  the  

Cha i rperson fo r  the  sake o f  the  pub l i c  cou ld  you jus t  

summar ise  or  paraphrase fo r  us  what  Mr  Gama sa id  about  

h is  s ignature  o f  th is  cons ignment  dur ing  h is  d isc ip l ina ry  

hear ing?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  Cha i rperson i f  I  may jus t  make i t  c lear ,  

the  fu l l  t ransc r ip ts  run  to  many more  pages,  the  inqu i ry  ran  

over  –  I  don ’ t  reca l l  the  exact  number  o f  days,  bu t  poss ib ly  

seven or  e igh t ,  and not  a l l  o f  the  t ranscr ip ts  a re  a t tached  

tha t  –  i t  seem to  be  very ,  we l l  unnecessar i l y  paper  heavy,  20 

bu t  these t ranscr ip ts  do  show cer ta in  th ings,  key  th ings,  

p r imar i l y  what  Mr  Gama actua l l y  sa id  in  the  d isc ip l ina ry  

hear ing  and i t  dea ls  w i th  in  parag raph 7  o f  the  a f f idav i t  I  

dea l  w i th  one po in t  wh ich  we have a l ready canvassed,  

wh ich  is  the  re la t ionsh ip  be tween  Mr  Gama and Genera l  
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Nyanda wh ich  was a  mat te r  o f  concern ,  because i t  was  

a l leged by  Transnet  in  the  d i sc ip l i nary  hear ing  o f  Mr  Gama 

tha t  there  was a  persona l  re la t ionsh ip  and Mr  Gama sa id  –  

pu t  i t  th rough h i s  counse l  th rough cross-examinat ion  tha t  

there  was no such pe rsona l  re la t i onsh ip  and tha t  he  knew 

Genera l  Nyanda l i ke  any o ther  member  o f  the  pub l i c  wou ld  

know h im and what  then happened was tha t  Transnet  

p roduced Mr  Gama’s  ce l l  phone  records wh ich  showed 

var ious te lephone ca l l s  be tween  Mr  Gama and Genera l  

Nyanda in  the  per iod  immedia te l y  p reced ing  the  award  o f  10 

the  cont rac t  and the  –  in  fac t  as  I  po in t  ou t  there ,  the  most  

recent  phone ca l l  be tween them had been on 1  December  

2007 wh ich  was four  days be fore  the  cont rac t  was s igned.  

 What  Mr  Gama was obv ious ly  ca l led  upon to  exp la in  

th is  d isc repancy,  hav ing  sa id  tha t  he  d id  no t  know Genera l  

Nyanda,  bu t  then  hav ing  to  exp la in  why i t  was tha t  he  had  

been in  touch w i th  h im and he then sa id  tha t ,  and  th is  i s  

exp la ined,  and th is  i s  the  por t ion  tha t  i s  re f lec ted  in  these  

t ranscr ip ts ,  a  po r t ion  o f  Mr  Gama’s  own tes t imony where  

he  sa id  tha t  he  had in  fac t  g iven h is  counse l  in  the  inqu i ry  20 

inco r rec t  ins t ruc t i ons because he had wanted to  pu t  some 

d is tance between  h imse l f  and the  Genera l ,  and he admi t ted  

tha t  tha t  had been wrong and  he apo log ised  to  the 

Cha i rperson and he then s ta ted  tha t  Genera l  Nyanda was  

not  a  c lose  f r iend,  bu t  an  acqua in tance w i th  whom he had 
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p layed go l f  in  the  past ,  w i th  whom he had spoken  on the  

phone when there  were  fami ly  be reavements  and who had  

ca l led  h im to  commisera te  when he  had been suspended.    

So he exp la ined  tha t  as  be ing  the  na tu re  o f  tha t  

re la t ionsh ip  be tween h im and Genera l  Nyanda .   The  

s ign i f i cance o f  tha t  o f  cou rse  was tha t  the  company tha t  

had benef i ted  f rom the  conf inement  in  fac t  above Genera l  

Nyanda ’s  name i t  was Genera l  Nyanda Secur i t y  and  

obv ious ly  tha t  was someth ing  wh ich  crea ted qu i te  a  s t rong 

in fe rence tha t  Mr  Gama was in  fac t  aware  and par t y  10 

consc ious l y  to  g rant ing  an  i r regu la r  conf inement .    

But  Mr  Gama’s  vers ion  as  I  have sa id  i n  the  inqu i ry  

was then tha t  he  knew Genera l  Nyanda but  had no idea 

even tha t  the  cont rac t  was in  favour  o f  Genera l  Nyanda  

Secur i t y  and he then sa id  and th is  i s  summar ised  in  the  

a f f idav i t .   He then sa id  tha t  ac tua l l y  an  o f f i c ia l  had come 

and asked h im to  s ign  the  document  w i thout  le t t ing  h im  

read the  document  and he had exp la ined the  document  

comple te l y  d i f fe ren t ly  and not  to ld  h im who i t  was i n  favour  

o f  and i t  sa id  i t  was the  p roduct  o f  a  fu l l  open tender  and  20 

tha t  he  was mere ly  conf i rm ing the  appo in tment  o f  the  

successfu l  tenderer  a f te r  a  pub l i c  p rocu rement  p rocess.  

So tha t  was the  ev idence he gave in  the  hear ing  

inc lud ing  tha t  he  had not  read any pa r t  o f  the  document  

and then what  rea l l y  i s  impor tan t  a lso  f rom those ex t rac ts  
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i s  tha t  in  a d isc ip l inary  hear ing  when i t  was put  to  h im but  

Mr  Gama you now concede th is  conf inement  document  

wh ich  you s igned is  wr i t ten  a l l  over  i t  tha t  there  was a  

conf inement  and i t  i s  wr i t ten  a l l  over  tha t  i t  i s  in  favour  o f  

Genera l  Nyanda  Secur i t y.   The  amount  exceeds your  

au thor i t y  and var ious o ther  i r regu lar i t ies  were  brought  to  

h is  a t ten t ion  and i t  was then tha t  he  sa id  in  the  inqu i ry  tha t  

in  fac t  now hav ing  been shown a l l  o f  th is  he  rea l i sed he  

cou ld  smel l  someth ing  f i shy  and tha t  he  rea l i sed tha t  th is  

was in  fac t  f raudu len t  i t  was a  comple te  f raud and  tha t  he  10 

now rea l i sed wha t  the  scam was a l l  about  and by  th i s  scam 

he was re fe r r ing ,  i f  one reads the  ev idence to  the  way in  

wh ich  th is  p rocurement  occur red  wh ich  he  descr ibed as  a  

scam and what  he  sa id  though he was an innocent  par t y  in  

the  scam.   He had not  rea l i sed he had been manipu la ted  

by  o f f i c ia ls  who had as  i t  were  pu l led  the  woo l  over  h is  

eyes.  

So tha t  was the  ev idence and when he was asked in  

those por t ions  o f  the  t ranscr ip t  i f  one can see he is  asked  

we l l  who shou ld  be  accountab le  i f  you  s igned th is  20 

document  and i t  was a  f raudu len t  scam and he then  

po in ted  to  var ious o f f i c ia ls .   Two o f  them a l ready had been  

d ismissed in  fac t ;  one Mr  Senemela  and Mr  Kanye and the  

o ther  person he suggested shou ld  be  he ld  accountab le  i s  a  

Mr  Beat ty  who had in  fac t  p resented h im wi th  the  document  
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and who by  then was l i v ing  in  Aust ra l ia .    

So tha t  i s  what  we dea l  w i th  here  and tha t  rea l l y  

leads to  I  th ink  the  po in t  tha t  th is  cont rac t  w i th  Genera l  

Nyanda Secur i t y  ra ther  than be ing  cance l led  and the  

money recovered  i t  was cance l led  bu t  when Transnet  sued  

fo r  the  re turn  o f  the  money i t  had pa id  under  th is  cont rac t  

two th ings happened.   One,  Mr  Gama was re ins ta ted  in to  

h is  employment  and then th rough a  ser ies  o f  ove r  a  pe r iod  

o f  t ime the  management  o f  Transnet  g radua l ly  e f fec t i ve l y  

poured co ld  water  on  the  l i t iga t ion  and u l t imate ly  10 

persuaded the  Board  tha t  i t  was  appropr ia te  to  w i thdraw 

the  l i t iga t ion .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  the  t ranscr ip t  o f  h is  ev idence in  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  inqu i ry  tha t  you have re fer red  to  wou ld  my 

unders tand ing  be  cor rec t  tha t  wha t  he  in  e f fec t  was  say ing  

when he sa id  tha t  he  has g iven h is  counse l  incor rec t  

in fo rmat ion  abou t  the  re la t ionsh ip  be tween h imse l f  and  

Genera l  Nyanda because he wanted to  c rea te  a  d is tance 

between h imse l f  and Genera l  Nyanda,  tha t  in  e f fec t  he  was  

admi t t ing  to  hav ing  g iven h is  counse l  un t ru th fu l  20 

in fo rmat ion .      

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  use to  cha l lenge the  ev idence o f  

w i tnesses.    

MR TODD:    Yes,  Cha i rperson tha t  i s  exact ly  what  he  d id .   
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CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  what  i t  means.   

MR TODD:    Yes  and tha t  i s  what  he  –  and he apo log ised  

fo r  hav ing  done so .   He accepted tha t  tha t  i s  what  he  was  

do ing  and then he sa id  i t  was wrong.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i t  was a lso  he  was caught  ou t .   

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because the  te lephone records were  

produced and then he was in  a  corne r  he  cou ld  no t  deny  

the  te lephone records.   

MR TODD:    That  i s  what  happened Cha i rperson,  tha t  i s  10 

cor rec t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes and a t  the  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  as  I  

unders tand the  pos i t ion  everybody ag reed inc lud ing  h im 

tha t  there  was no bas i s  fo r  Genera l  Nyanda ’s  company to  

have been awarded th is  cont ract  on  the  bas is  o f  a  

conf inement  in  o ther  words w i thout  an  open tender,  

everybody accepted tha t .      

MR TODD:    Cor rec t  Mr  Gama is  very  c lear  on  tha t  he  sa id  

he  wou ld  never  have s igned i t ,  had he known o f  the  

i r regu lar i t y.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    And o f  cou rse  tha t  jus t  he lps  us  to  

compound the  who le  subsequent  w i thdrawal  o f  the  ac t ion  

wh ich  you w i l l  dea l  w i th  in  due course .   Okay a l r igh t  Mr  

Myburgh you may  cont inue.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you ,  Mr  Todd you go on in  
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parag raph 9  to  exp la in  tha t  the  f ind ing  o f  th is  hear ing  as  

we l l  as  the  f ind ing  o f  the  Cass im enqu i ry  wh ich  dea l t  w i th  

Mr  Senemela  and Kanye wh ich  we dea l t  w i th  las t  t ime 

fo rmed the  backdrop to  the  c iv i l  c la im.   You a lso  ment ioned  

in  paragraph 9  tha t  what  was a lso  re levant  to  b r ing ing  the  

c la im was the  inab i l i t y  to  ob ta in  i n fo rmat ion  f rom GNS as 

to  what  they had ac tua l l y  done under  the  cont rac t  and you 

say a t  parag raph 9  tha t  th is  i s  someth ing  tha t  you dea l  w i th  

in  your  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  and you re fer  to  parag raph 37,  A to  E .   

Cou ld  I  jus t  take  you there  p lease 37,  A to  E  in  your  f i rs t  10 

a f f idav i t  you w i l l  f ind  i t  on  page 61.  

MR TODD:    Yes,  Cha i rperson rea l l y  what  I  dea l t  w i t h  there  

is  the  i r regu lar i t ies  in  the  appo in tment  wh ich  u l t imate ly  

were  conf i rmed by  Mr  Gama tha t  the  appo in tment  i tse l f  had  

been comple te l y  in  b reach o f  the  procu rement  regu la t ions  

and had ar i sen as  was very  c lear  par t i cu la r l y  in  the  inqu i ry  

invo l v ing  Mr  Senemela  and Mr  Kanye had invo lved  

co l lus ion  be tween –  i t  was not  i t  was put  ra ther  coy l y  in  the  

conf inement  document  here  was  research  done and tha t  

GNS was ident i f ied ,  in  fac t  there  were  emai l s  exchanged  20 

between the  Transnet  o f f i c ia ls  and GNS in  a  way tha t  i s  

desc r ibed in  the  f ind ing  o f  a  Cha i rperson in  tha t  inqu i ry  

wh ich  showed tha t  Transnet  he lped GNS to  compi le  i t s  

p roposa l  and tha t  in  fac t  GNS cont rary  to  what  i t  sa id  i t  

had zero  t rack  record  and i t  had adopted,  rea l l y  p lag ia r ised  
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f rom an Amer i can secur i t y  compan ies  in  p i t ch ing  fo r  i t s  

long t rack  reco rd  and i t s  exper ience.   There  were  a  who le  

lo t  o f  ind ica t ions tha t  th is  was  a  comple te ly  i r regu la r  

cont rac t  wh ich  as  I  sa id  Mr  Gama used words l i ke  f raud 

and scam when he was conf ron ted w i th  what  had ac tua l l y  

happened here  and tha t  was what  had happened a t  i t s  

incept ion .    

In  fac t ,  the  cont rac t  was then doub led  in  s i ze  qu i te  

soon a f te rwards and I  w i l l  come to  tha t  in  a  moment  and  

what  u l t imate ly  led  to  the  to ta l  amount  pa id  to  GNS be ing  10 

R95.5mi l l ion  ove r,  jus t  over  two years ,  twenty- f i ve  months .   

The to ta l  amount  pa id  was R95.5mi l l ion  fo r  those twenty-

f i ve  months .   But  the  peace tha t  i s  the  dea l t  w i th  and th is  

i s  what  i s  rea l l y  impor tan t  to  unders tand how th is  cont rac t  

was,  I  have sa id  and I  have g i ven ev idence about  the  

i r regu lar i t y  in  i t s  incept ion  bu t  what  became equa l ly  o f  

concern  was the  i r regu lar i t y  o f  i t s  execut ion  and by  tha t  I  

mean tha t  Transnet  a t tempted a t  tha t  s tage to  ascer ta in  

what  GNS had ac tua l l y  been do ing  and whethe r  i t  had 

ac tua l l y  rendered serv i ces  to  Transnet  and i t  became 20 

immedia te ly  apparent  tha t  there  were  ser ious quest ions 

over  whether  i t  had ac tua l l y  done what  i t  was cont rac ted  to  

do  and what  i t  had been pa id  fo r  and tha t  i s  a  p iece  tha t  I  

can ac tua l l y  exp la ined.                  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps we  can s ta r t  i f  we can have 
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a  look  a t  the  pa rag raph 37 a t  page 61.   A t  l i t t le  [a ]  you 

then make re ference to  the  cont rac t  wh ich  is  a t tached as  

G.    

MR TODD:    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cou ld  I  take  you to  Annexure  G,  tha t  

you f ind  a t  page 110 and you go on to  make the  po in t  that  

o f  par t i cu la r  s ign i f i cance is  Annexure  C to  th is  cont rac t  

wh ich  you f ind  a t  page 141 and tha t  se ts  ou t  the  resources  

tha t  GNS were  to  dep loy.   

MR TODD:    Yes.   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Page 141.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh in i t ia l l y  you sa id  

we shou ld  go  to  110 and then 140? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  110 i s  the  commencement  o f  

the  cont rac t  i t  runs th rough and is  s igned a t  136 and then 

there  are  se r ies  o f  annexures A ,  B  and C.   C you w i l l  f ind  

Cha i rperson a t  page 141.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.     

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You want  to  address tha t  annexure  

and page Mr  Todd .   20 

MR TODD:    Yes,  th is  document  is  impor tan t  because the  

cont rac t  e f fec t i ve ly  says the  se rv i ces  to  be  rendered are  

se t  ou t  in  Annexures A ,  B  and C  and Annexure  C  is  the  

cost ing ,  the  bas is  on  wh ich  the  cost  was ca l cu la ted  the  

cost  o f  the  cont rac t .   And so  Annexure  C se ts  ou t  i t  re fe rs  
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to  a  budget  based on cost  es t imated us ing  cur ren t  

resources ava i lab le .   The cost  inc ludes d isbursements  and 

any o ther  p ro jec t  re la ted  costs  and they exc lude VAT and  

then i t  se ts  ou t  the  resources  tha t  a re  go ing  to  be  

a l loca ted  to  each  o f  th ree  e lements  o f  the  cont ract  o r  the  

serv i ces  and those are  exp la ined in  the  cont rac t .   There  is  

an  invest iga t ions  e lement ,  a  mon i to r ing  and eva lua t ion  

e lement  and an in te l l igence e lement .    

Overa l l  those a re  overseen by  a  p ro jec t  d i rec tor  and 

tha t  i s  a t  the  top ,  p ro jec t  d i rec tor  w i th  a  cost  per  month  o f  10 

R40 000 and then a  pro jec t  coo rd ina to r  a t  a  cost  o f  R25 

000 per  month  and then under  each o f  those th ree  

head ings tha t  I  have ment ioned the  resources tha t  wou ld  

be  made ava i lab le .   In  re la t ion  to  invest iga t ions a  manager  

a t  R25 000,00 a  month  and then ten  invest iga tors  wou ld  be  

dep loyed a t  an  hour ly  ra te  o f  R320,00 g iv ing  r i se  to  a  

month l y  cost  o f  R537 600 and  one can do the  maths  

e f fec t i ve l y  the re  a t  R530 000 i s  the  month l y  cost  o f  ten  

invest iga to rs  a t  a  ra te  o f  R320,00 an hour.   And then tha t  

g ives  a  to ta l  fo r  the  invest iga t ion  team o f  R562 000 and  20 

then the  same breakdown is  g iven  fo r  the  mon i to r i ng  and  

va lua t ions team.   There  they have  a  manager  a t  R25 000 

but  they do  not  have invest iga tors  they have researchers  

and there  are  e igh t  researches a lso  a t  R320 an hour  and 

they then resu l t  in  a  cost  o f  R430 080.     
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And then under  the  in te l l igence s t ream o f  th i s  

cont rac t  aga in  a  th i rd  manager,  aga in  a t  a  cost  o f  R25 000  

a  month ,  e igh t  hand lers  a t  R320 an hour  now they are  

hand l ing  in fo rmers .   So they are  e igh t  hand lers  a t  R320 an  

hour  aga in  lead ing  to  a  month l y  cost  o f  R430 000.   Twenty  

in fo rmers  a t  R2 000 a  month  each,  R40 000 a  month  g iv ing  

a  to ta l  o f  R495 000 under  tha t  s t ream and tha t  leads to  a  

sub- to ta l  o f  R1 577 760 per  month  exc lud ing  VAT.    

So I  have re fer red  to  i t  in  some deta i l  Cha i rperson 

because as  i t  happened th is  was a t tached to  the  cont rac t  10 

and each invo ice  issued fo r  th is  work  re f lec ted  tha t  

b reakdown o f  those charges fo r  the  cont rac t .        

CHAIRPERSON:    Which  –  or  the  in fo rmat ion  conta ined  

here in  Annexure  C inc lud ing  the  to ta l  and i t  sa id  to ta l  per  

annum wou ld  a l l  ind ica te  tha t  the  in ten t ion  was fo r  the  

cont rac t  to  run  fo r  a  year.               

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because o therw ise  why ca lcu la te  on  the  

bas is  o f  a  year  i f  i t  i s  four,  f i ve  months .    

MR TODD:    Yes,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay a l r igh t .   

MR TODD:    Th i s  i s  the  number  tha t  was wr i t ten  in to  the  

conf inement  ag reement  as  the  annua l  cos t .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   

MR TODD:    And then i t  had tha t  sor t  o f  p rov iso  wh ich  sa id  



13 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 327 
 

Page 66 of 167 
 

we l l  we w i l l  rev iew i t  a f te r  f i ve  months .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  i t  i s  jus t  d i f f i cu l t  to  unders tand how 

anybody wou ld  no t  have seen a l l  o f  these th ings,  yes  okay  

a l r igh t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  i f  you  go back to  page  61 you  

then say a t  [b ]  tha t  there  were  ex tens ions,  I  am go ing  to  

leave tha t  fo r  a  moment  Mr  Todd we w i l l  come to  the  de ta i l  

o f  tha t  when we  re turn  to  your  th i rd  a f f idav i t .   But  then 

impor tan t ly  a t  [ c ]  page 62 you ta lk  about  the  fac t  tha t  

cons idera t ion  as  g iven to  te rm inat ing  the  cont rac t  and tha t  10 

you then a t tended a  meet ing ,  perhaps you cou ld  address 

what  t ransp i red  a t  tha t  meet ing  and thereaf te r  lead ing  up 

to  the  issu ing  o f  the  summons tha t  i s  [e ] .    

MR TODD:    So  the  backdrop to  th is  i s  tha t  wh i le  p repar ing  

and fo rmula t ing  the  compla in t  aga ins t  Mr  Gama and Mr  

Senemela  and Mr  Kanye who had  e f fec t i ve l y  en te red in to 

th is  h igh l y  i r regu lar  f raudu len t  cor rup t  scam whatever  

words are  most  appropr ia te  to  a t tach  to  i t .   The fac t  o f  the  

mat te r  was tha t  every  month  Transnet  was pay ing  th is  

company a t  tha t  s tage roundabout  R4.5mi l l ion  a f te r  two 20 

ex tens ions to  th is  cont rac t  and Transnet  wan ted to 

te rm inate  t ha t  a r rangement  and so  they engaged w i th  GNS,  

w i th  the  company and they se t  up  a  meet ing  wh ich  I  was 

asked to  a t tend because I  had now become fami l ia r  w i th  a l l  

o f  the  background fac ts  and they wanted to  know –  one o f  
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the  par t i cu la r  concerns tha t  Transnet  had was o f  course  i t  

was not  en t i re ly  sure  whethe r  th is  was jus t  an  i r regu la r  

p rocu rement  bu t  the  serv i ces  were  be ing  rendered as  

requ i red  or  whether  i t  was worse  and one o f  the  th ings  

wh ich  wou ld  worse  mean ing  in  fac t  the  serv ices  weren ’ t  

even be ing  p rov ided o r  a t  leas t  no t  as  they shou ld  be  and 

one o f  the  b iggest  a la rm be l l s  tha t  rang fo r  Transnet  was  

tha t  on  a  very  qu ick  ana lys i s  o f  GNS by the  fo rens i c  

invest iga t ions team i t  immedia te ly  t ransp i red  tha t  GNS in  

fac t  had no employees s t i l l .   I t  had no employees a t  a l l ,  i t  10 

was not  even reg is te red as  a  PAYE payer  and i t  wasn ’ t  

reg i s te red w i th  PSIRA,  wh ich  is  the  pr i va te  secur i t y  

indust ry  regu la to ry  au thor i t y,  and tha t  was a  very  –  so  tha t  

was the  backdrop ac tua l l y  o f  the  meet ing  tha t  I  went  to  

wh ich  Transnet  sa id  look  you don ’ t  have any employees,  

a re  you –  we a re  pay ing   you eve ry  month  fo r  a l l  o f  these 

resources,  what  i s  go ing  on ,  and a t  tha t  meet ing  GNS 

rep resenta t i ves  were  there  and they sa id  we l l  you don ’ t  

unders tand ou r  bus iness mode l ,  and so  we sa id  we l l  –  

p lease we a re  he re ,  exp la in  the  bus iness mode l .  20 

 And they sa id  ac tua l l y  we are  a  p la t fo rm and we  

opera te  as  a  p la t fo rm and we procure  employees f rom 

o ther  secur i t y  compan ies ,  who then render  serv ices  to  

Transnet .    So we sa id  to  them wel l  tha t  i s  in te res t ing  to  

hear  because your  cont rac t ,  and I  can po in t  to  the  
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p rov is ions,  says you cannot  sub-cont rac t  un less  you have  

our  consent  as  Transnet ,  we have  cont rac ted  w i th  you on 

the  bas is  tha t  you are  Genera l  Nyanda Secur i t y,  w i th  two 

d i rec tors ,  who l ly  b lack-owned and you w i l l  de l i ver  the  work  

because o f  your  t rack  record  in  de l i ver ing  serv ices ,  so  i f  

you  want  to  sub-cont rac t  you are  supposed to  have our  

permiss ion ,  bu t  le t  us  pu t  tha t  as ide  fo r  the  moment .    I f  

you  have been procu r ing ,  and in  fac t  de l i ve r ing  these  

resources th rough o ther  serv ice  p rov iders  then you  w i l l  be  

ab le  to  p rov ide  us  w i th  de ta i l s  o f  those o ther  serv ice  10 

prov iders  are ,  your  cont rac tua l  a r rangements  w i th  them,  so  

tha t  we can get  comfor t  tha t  there  are  u l t imate ly,  to  use  

co l loqu ia l  language warm bod ies ,  there  are  ac tua l l y  

peop le ,  there  are  managers  and invest iga tors ,  researchers  

and hand le rs  who are  ac tua l l y  do ing  the  work ,  because a t  

the  moment  there  is  jus t  no  ev idence tha t  any such peop le  

ex i s t  and they –  a t  tha t  s tage in  the  meet ing  they asked fo r  

a  caucus,  wh ich  meant  tha t  we  were  asked to  excuse 

ourse l ves wh i le  t hey cons idered whethe r  they wou ld  g i ve  

us  th is  in fo rmat ion .  20 

 I  may ment ion  i t  was qu i te  theat r i ca l ,  they  had  

ar r i ved a t  the  meet ing  w i th  su i t cases on whee l ie  –  whee l ie  

su i t cases say ing  we have got  a l l  o f  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  

you are  ask ing  fo r  in  a l l  o f  these su i tcases and we sa id  to  

them when –  be fore  they had the i r  caucus we sa id  to  them 
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a l l  we suggest  –  we don ’ t  a l l  need  to be  in  a meet ing ,  we  

w i l l  jus t  nominate  one or  two o f  ou r  peop le  and they  can s i t  

w i th  whoever  on  your  s ide  and can go th rough the  

in fo rmat ion  you have and then jus t  reconc i le  i t  and show 

who the  peop le  a re  who have been  do ing  the  work  over  the  

per iod  o f  the  cont rac t  tha t  we have been pay ing  fo r,  and 

wh ich  compan ies  have been cont rac ted  to  do  so .  

 They then had a  caucus wh ich  las ted  a  few minute  

and when we came back in to  the  meet ing  we were  to ld  they 

had dec ided,  the i r  a t to rney who was present  in  the  10 

meet ing ,  tha t  they d iscussed the  mat te r  w i th  the i r  a t to rney  

and  they wou ld  no t  be  d i sc los ing  anyth ing  to  Transnet  

concern ing  any o f  the  mat te rs  t ha t  we had asked,  they 

weren ’ t  go ing  to  d isc lose  anyth ing  about  the i r  cont rac tua l  

a r rangements  w i th  these o the r  en t i t ies  tha t  had supposed ly  

p rov ided these serv i ces  no r  where  they go ing  to  d isc lose  

the  de ta i l s  o f  the  warm bod ies  o r  the  personne l  who had  

ac tua l l y  de l i vered the  serv i ce  and they then w i thd rew wi th  

the i r  su i t cases o f  in fo rmat ion ,  and as  a  consequence o f  

tha t  Transnet  gave a  le t te r  fo l low ing tha t ,  say ing  we l l  we 20 

have t r ied  to  engage w i th  you but  we are  te rm inat ing  your  

cont rac t  and tha t  ended the  con t rac t  a t  the  end  o f  25  

months .     

 Had they no t ,   had Transnet  no t  ended i t  then the  

cont rac t  –  the i r  pos i t ion  was tha t  i t  shou ld  jus t  keep go ing ,  
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they  thought  they  were  do ing  a  good job ,  bu t  tha t  is  what  

led  to  the  cance l la t ion  o f  the  con t rac t ,  bu t  i t  a lso  led  to  

concerns on  Transnet ’s  s ide  wh ich  sa id  no t  on ly  was th is  

cont rac t  en tered  in to  i r regu lar l y  bu t  we are  now very 

wor r ied  tha t  ac tua l l y  what  we pay ing  every  month  fo r  m ight  

no t  even be be ing  p rov ided to  us  because we are  be ing  

g iven no in fo rmat ion  by  our  serv ice  prov ide r  about  who the  

peop le  a re  on  the  job .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd you ment ioned a  c lause in  

the  cont rac t  p roh ib i t ing  sub-cont rac t ing ,  cou ld  I  ask  you 10 

p lease to  tu rn  to  page 127 and can I  d i rec t  you r  a t ten t ion  

to  C lause 20.   

MR TODD:    Yes tha t  i s  the  cont rac t ,  and in  fac t  i t  i s  no t  

jus t  approva l  i t  i s  more  than approva l  tha t  i s  needed,  and I  

th ink  tha t  i s  a  sens ib le ,  I  mean i t  i s  a  s tandard  and a  

sens ib le  pos i t ion  i f  you  cont rac t  w i th  Genera l  Nyanda  

Secur i t y  you don ’ t  want  to  f ind  ou t  w i thout  your  express 

agreement  tha t  ac tua l l y  somebody e lse  is  p rov id ing  the  

job ,  i s  do ing  the  work ,  o the rw ise  you are  be ing  mis led .  

 So i t  requ i res  wr i t ten  approva l  fo r  any k ind  o f  20 

ass ignment  o r  sub-cont rac t ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And tha t  you see a t  20 .1  read w i th  

20 .1 .2?  

MR TODD:    Cor rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Go back to  page 63 o f  you r  a f f idav i t ,  
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you  have now to ld  us  o f  the  meet ing ,  you have to ld  us  o f  

the  le t te r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  one second Mr  Myburgh I  jus t  want  

to  make sure  tha t  my unders tand ing  o f  th is  i s  cor rec t .    So 

in  the  meet ing  GNS rep resenta t i ves  to ld  you tha t  the i r  

bus iness mode l  i s  in  e f fec t ,  was in  e f fec t  such tha t  they d id  

no t  have –  they d id  no t  keep employees tha t  wou ld  go  and  

do the  job  in  te rms o f  the  cont rac t ,  they  wou ld  sub-cont rac t  

and get  o ther  se rv ice  prov iders  to  e f fec t i ve l y  do  the  job  

tha t  they were  supposed to  do .   10 

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  now the  cont rac t  p roh ib i t ed  sub-

cont rac t ing  on  the i r  par t  w i thout  wr i t ten  approva l  o f  

Transnet .   

MR TODD:    Cor rec t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Which  tha t  w i l l  mean tha t  they cou ldn ’ t  

be  sa id  to  have per fo rmed in  te rms  o f  the  cont rac t .  

MR TODD:    No,  bu t  Cha i rpe rson  there  i s  no  doubt  about  

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

MR TODD:   On the i r  own bus iness s ta tement  about  the i r  

bus iness mode l  they were  f rom the  get -go  in  b reach o f  the 

cont rac t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  yes .  

MR TODD:   Right  f rom the  beg inn ing ,  bu t  the  Transnet  
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a t t i tude in  tha t  meet ing  had been however  le t ’s  no t  a t  th is  

s tage exerc ise  our  r igh ts  on  the  techn ica l i t y  and say you  

are  in  b reach o f  the  cont rac t  on  tha t  g round.   F i rs t  le t ’s  see  

who these peop le  ac tua l l y  a re  and then we can poss ib ly  

dec ide  ex poste  fac to  we cou ld  have dec ided ex poste  

fac to  to  g ive  wr i t ten  consent  and say now tha t  we ’ve  

unders tood i t ,  bu t  i t  gave r i se  to  o ther  very  ser ious  

concerns,  one o f  wh ich  i s  ra ised in  the  –  by  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  o f  Senemela  and  

Kanye wh ich  is ,  i s  th is  no t  s imp ly  f ron t ing ,  you ho ld  10 

yourse l f  ou t  as  be ing  an  exper ienced company capab le  o f  

de l i ver ing  se rv i ces ,  ac tua l l y  you have no t rack  record ,  no  

s ta f f ,  and you don ’ t  even te l l  us ,  you a re  jus t  ge t t ing  o ther  

peop le  to  come in  and do the  work .    What  a re  the  

commerc ia l  te rms  on wh ich  those o ther  peop le  are  coming  

in  to  do  the  work ,  and they never  had to  cont rac t  w i th  

Transnet ,  they never  even p i t ched w i th  Transnet ,  so  tha t  i s  

a  g ross  –  you know tha t  was a  very  ser ious prob lem tha t  

Transnet  had about  th is  supposed bus iness mode l  bu t  a t  

th is  s tage i t  went  even fu r the r,  because Transnet  was  20 

say ing  i r regu lar  bus iness mode l  as ide  who is  ac tua l l y  do ing  

the  work ,  have these peop le  ac tua l l y  been – you know 

obv ious ly  we wou ld  l i ke  to  know . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    That  they have  been th rough the  f ie ld  

and dug . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MR TODD:   I t  is  one th ing  to  te l l  us  we l l  you have sub-

cont rac ted  but  how do we know tha t  the  work  i s  even be ing  

done,  and tha t  these peop le  are  be ing  dep loyed  in  the  

f ie ld ,  and who a re  these peop le ,  and they sa id  we l l  we  

have got  the  in fo rmat ion  bu t  we a re  no t  go ing  to  share  i t  

w i th  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  ac tua l l y  wha t  GNS wants  to  represent  

to  Transnet  tha t  they had the  exper t i se  and the  exper ience 

and the  t rack  record  necessary  fo r  them to  prov ide  these  

serv i ces  bu t  once they te l l  us  about  the i r  bus iness mode l  10 

then i t  becomes c lear  tha t  then they had made a  

m isrepresenta t ion  in  the  f i rs t  p lace .  

MR TODD:   Yes.   Cha i rpe rson GNS d id  say and they sa id  

i t  la te r,  tha t  Transnet  knew so  when we come to  the  

l i t iga t ion  and when Transnet  sued fo r  repayment  o f  the  

R95.5mi l l ion  i t  had pa id  to  GNS,  GNS ra ther  b iza r re l y  

den ied  tha t  i t  had ever  had a  cont rac t  as  GNS wi th  

Transnet  and I  say  tha t  i s  b iza r re  because they have 

conf ined the  documents  in  the i r  f avour  and ment ions no  

o ther  en t i t y,  and the  cont rac t  i s  in  the i r  favour  and  20 

ment ions no  o the r  en t i t y  w i th  an  express prov i s ion  o f  sub-

cont rac t ing  bu t  desp i te  tha t  in  the i r  H igh  Cour t  p lead ing  

defend ing  the i r  c la im they sa id  the re  was never  a  cont rac t  

w i th  GNS,  ou r  company,  they sa id  the re  was  on ly  a  

cont rac t  w i th  someth ing  wh ich  they ca l led  the  GNS 
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consor t ium and  they sa id  tha t  consor t ium inc luded,  

rep resented ou r  bus iness mode l .   I  th ink  –  I  mean I  can 

exp la in  why tha t  i s  jus t  to ta l l y  incons is ten t  w i th  any o f  the 

documents ,  bu t  I  th ink  they fe l t  fo rced to  do  tha t  because 

a t  tha t  po in t  they  had admi t ted  to  Transnet ,  and they had 

to ,  tha t  they had  none o f  the i r  own s ta f f  and they had no  

ab i l i t y  themse lves to  de l i ver  i t ,  i t  was o ther  compan ies  tha t  

they needed to  de l i ver  the  se rv i ces .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  a lso  I  am sure  the  cont rac t  d idn ’ t  

re fe r  to  GNS Consor t ium i t  re fe r red  to  GNS.   10 

MR TODD:    Cor rec t  Cha i rperson,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .    Okay,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you .   A t  page 63 pa rag raph 

[e ]  you then ment ion  what  you have a l ready touched on 

and tha t  i s  tha t  fo l low ing the  te rm inat ion  o f  the  cont rac t  

w i th  GNS Transnet  then issued summons and tha t  

summons and the  par t i cu la rs  o f  c la im are  a t  o r  a t tached  as  

Annexure  H,  perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  take  you there  Mr  Todd,  

you f ind  tha t  a t  page 142,  one four  two.  

MR TODD:    Yes,  tha t  was H igh  Cour t  summons fo r  20 

payment  –  repayment  o f  R95.5mi l l ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And the  par t i cu la rs  o f  c la im 

commence a t  page 144,  and then  the  amounts  you see a t  

page 154,  the  R95mi l l ion ,  I  jus t  wanted to  ask  you to 

address the  fac t  tha t  here  the  de fendant  was c i ted  as  
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Aba loz i  R isk  Adv isory  Serv i ces .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why was tha t  so?   

MR TODD:    Yes,  be tween the  per iod  when the  cont rac t  

was te rm inated and Transnet  i ssued summons the  lega l  

en t i t y,  Genera l  Nyanda Secur i t y,  w i th  wh ich  Transnet  had  

cont rac ted ,  had changed i t s  name,  the  company name,  so  

i t  i s  the  same company but  w i th  a  now changed name and 

now i t  was ca l led  Aba loz i  R isk  Adv isory  Serv i ces ,  i t  had 

been ca l led  Genera l  Nyanda R isk  Adv isory  Serv ices  as  one 10 

cont rac t  tha t  was  conc luded w i th .  

ADV MYBURGH:   I f  I  could then ask you please to go back 

to your th i rd aff idavi t  to turn up page 489.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:   So we have deal t  wi th the signature of  the 

conf inement and you have deal t  wi th  the run-up and the 

issue of  the summons and then what you go on to do in your  

th i rd aff idavi t  at  page 490 is you analyse the charges as 

ref lected in the invoices and you deal  wi th the in i t ia l  serv ices 

and then you deal  wi th the f i rst  extension and the second 20 

extension.  

 You have al ready touched on this but  do you want to  

just  summarise your evidence in that  regard? 

MR TODD:   Yes so i f  I  can refer – I  d id take the Chai rperson 

and show Chairperson Annexure sheet  C to the contract  but  
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what  is – the point  that  I  thought i t  was appropriate to make 

then is that  when invoices were issued and I  have just  

at tached examples that  were avai lable to me when I  deposed 

to th is aff idavi t .   But  I  am very conf ident  because I  have 

seen al l  of  the invoices they take the same or simi lar form.   

 But  at  page 623 – 623 is an example of  a tax invoice 

for the f i rst  in i t ia l  services that  were contracted for wi th  

GNS.  And that  tax invoice shows that  – i t  shows the 

breakdown as in Annexure C to the cont ract .   In other words 

i t  shows a project  di rector.   I t  shows the project  coordinator 10 

at  R25 000.00 and then i t  has invest igat ion st ream 

R562 600.00.   The monitor ing and evaluat ion st ream at  

R455 080.00 and the intel l igence stream at  R495 080.00 

giving a total  of  R1 577 780.00 to  which VAT is then added 

for once to give a tota l  of  R1 798 645.00 for a month.  

 But  I  make – made that  point  because later i t  was 

suggested that  actual ly th is contract  was not  for  the 

part icular resources speci f ied in Annexure C.  That  i t  was 

just  a globular number and that  GNS could do whatever i t  

thought appropriate for that  number to t ry and manage 20 

securi ty.  

 But  i t  seems to me that  that  argument is – cannot be 

reconci led wi th  the way in  which GNS invoiced and i t  is  very 

clear  that  the invoice t ies back to Annexure C to the contract  

which sets out  that  there is going to be a project  di rector,  a 
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project  coordinator and in each of  these three st reams a 

manager,  ten invest igators,  a manger,  e ight  analysts or  –  

and a manager and eight  intel l igence handlers.   

 And so those are the resources which make up these 

numbers and then this  amount  is invoiced to Transnet every 

month of  the 25 months of  the contract  for that  – for  those 

in i t ia l  services.   

ADV MYBURGH:   And then you deal  wi th the f i rst  extension 

at  page 491.  

MR TODD:   Yes.   So what happened once this cont ract  had 10 

got  – had kicked off  in December 2007 is that  wi thin a few 

months and i t  is descr ibed in the document which is a t  page 

624.   I t  is  in fact  the document over  the page f rom that  

invoice.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What is the page? 

MR TODD:   624 Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay.  

MR TODD:   That  is a document which is referred to as an 

extension of  scope and this was a document – a procurement 

document which effect ive ly descr ibed the background and 20 

reasons for  extending the scope of  GNS’ cont ract  in – in 

effect  i t  was in March I  bel ieve – wi th effect  f rom March 

2008.  

 And the background to that  is explained in paragraph 

2 at  page 624 where i t  says:  
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“Recommendat ion reasons for extending the 

scope of  work.”  

And i t  says:  

“Due to thef t  i r regular i t ies at  the Kaserny 

Yard. ”  

And that  is a yard in south of  Joburg where a lot  of  

containers and other th ings are stored.  

“An appropriate decision was taken by TFR 

Securi ty Management to suspend the TFR 

securi ty personnel  at  the yard and the 10 

contractor  on si te Sinqobi le  quest ion 

Securi ty Services. ”  

So what happened was and then i t  is explained:  

“On the 14 February 2008 a container was 

found outside Kaserny Yard wi thout  the 

re levant  author i ty and as a resul t  they 

dismissed the – they suspended the TRF 

Securi ty personnel .   I t  was i rregular that  a  

container was outside the yard wi thout  

author i ty and they suspected insiders so they 20 

suspended the – Transnet ’s own secur i ty  and 

they dismissed Sinqobi le which was the 

outsourced service contractor  at  that  yard 

and they pul led in ext ra GNS resources and 

they said the ext ra GNS resources wi l l  be 
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used for the fol lowing conclusion of  the 

invest igat ion for  suspended TFR securi ty 

employees af ter internal  discipl inary process.  

2.  Execut ing secur i ty operat ional  funct ions 

that  were previously done by those TFR 

securi ty employees and 

3.   Escort  and protect  t ra in dr ivers.”  

I  am not  sure where – why that  fo l lows f rom the Kaserny 

Yard but  they – they explain those three reasons for  

extending the scope of  th is contract .  10 

 But  what is then important  i f  I  may say Chair  over the 

page – oh on the next  page 625 again this procurement 

document descr ibes exact ly what resources are now being 

procured through this extension of  the cont ract  f rom GNS. 

 So i t  says there at  page 625.  

“16 resources at  R150.00 per hour. ”  

Giving a total  of  R884 000.00 or R864 000.00 per month for  

16 resources at  R150.00 an hour.   So these were now people 

who were going to secure the yard and escort  and protect  

t ra in dr ivers working twelve hours for th i r ty days a month.  20 

And in i tem 2:  

“7 invest igators. ”  

So that  is 7 addi t ional  invest igators.   We have seen that  the 

f i rst  leg of  the cont ract  had 8 invest igators in the 

invest igat ions on this was an addi t ional  7 invest igators at  
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R320.00 an hour  R376 000.00 a month and they would be 

deployed nat ional ly to invest igate cable thef t  incidents l inked 

to syndicates.  

 Again i t  is not  c lear why that  fo l lows f rom the 

Kaserny Yard inc ident  i t  is just  another seven addi t ional  

resources for the f i rst  scope of  the cont ract  and then the 

thi rd i tem.  

“6 invest igators”  

That  is another 6 at  R320.00 an hour for R322 000.00 a 

month permanent ly dedicated to Kaserny and Klascorn Yards 10 

due to vastness of  the area working e ight  hours for 21 days 

a month.   That  is explaining how the invest igators you 

mult ip ly thei r  hour ly rate by eight  hours and 21 days a month 

you mult ip ly i t  by the number of  invest igators and you get  

R322 560.00.  

 And then one resource at  R150.00 an hour to be 

deployed at  elect r ical  cont rol  room to monitor the cal l  and 

report ing incidents for 24 hours for  30 days wi th a change of  

shi f t  and a rel iever.  

 So this extension again speci f ies per person what the 20 

cost  is ei ther  on an hourly basis so that  you get  to the 

addi t ional  month ly cost  of  and i t  explains that  there 

R1 670 880.00.   So R1.6 mi l l ion per  month addi t ional  cost .  

 And what you then f ind af ter that  is  every month f rom 

this point  of  v iew a second invoice is issued by GNS to 
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Transnet for that  amount plus VAT and that  is  why I  said in 

the aff idavi t  that  effect ive ly doubled the value of  the cont ract  

when you looked at  the cost .   In fact  i t  is s l ight ly more than 

double the value of  the contract .  

ADV MYBURGH:   I f  you go to paragraph 19 at  page 491 that  

is where you set  out  the f igure.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:   The second invoice each month in the 

amount of  R1 781 000.00.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Page 4? 10 

ADV MYBURGH:   491 Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   491.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Paragraph 19.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Yes you can cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Then Mr Todd you go on to deal  wi th the 

second extension.  

MR TODD:   The second extension the services occurred a 

year – about a year later in March 2009 and the background 

to that  is again set  out  in a simi lar procurement document.   I t  

is at tached – actual ly there is  a  – this t ime i t  is in  a let ter  20 

which is at  page 630 of  the documents.  

 And what i t  expla ins there is and what – what I  can 

go into the detai l  but  th is was actual ly expos facto what had 

happened af ter the event .  

 What had happened was that  an addi t ional  resources 
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had been procured f rom GNS but  there – i t  had – there have 

not  been regular ised through a procurement process and this  

let ter  asked for – th is let ter  is dated in May i t  is the 12 May 

2009 and i t  is actual ly explaining why addi t ional  resources 

have been procured f rom GNS and asking for those to be 

approved. 

 And the background to th is  is that  on the 28 February 

2009 a Mr Herber t  Msagala who one can see I  th ink later on 

he approves i t  as the General  Manager for Resource 

Management at  that  stage in TFR – Herbert  Msagala General  10 

Manager Resource Management.  

 He received a message that  a t ra in crew dr iver had 

gone missing wi th  a company off ic ia l  vehicle wi thout  a t race.   

And th is was descr ibed as a securi ty r isk;  as a hi jack ing of  a 

Transnet employee and that  th is  person never  turned up 

again.   And some of  the documents I  am not  able to say what  

the detai ls is but  there was a reference in the documents to 

th is person being presumed dead which was regarded as a 

very ser ious r isk to t rain crew and t rain dr ivers.  

 And so what they did was they acquired addi t ional  20 

resources f rom GNS.  And the addi t ional  resources f rom 

GNS are then explained.   They wanted armed vehicle ,  escort  

off ic ia ls and secur i ty to give t ra in crew management 

protect ion and that  led to an addi t ional  amount of  

R856 800.00 due to GNS excluding VAT per month.  
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 So that  extended the cont ract  by a further amount.   

An example of  the invoice is over the page at  62.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Sorry can I  just  – so the – the addi t ional  

resources that  were requi red they set  out  in the second 

paragraph of  page 631.   The requi red resources as you said 

are armed vehicle ,  escort  off ic ia ls and securi ty to give t rain  

crew management.   Is the – were those the addi t ional  

resources? 

MR TODD:   Yes that  is what th is  let ter says but  the invoice 

that  is – has been – was rendered for March they refer to the 10 

March 2009 and that  amount of  R856 800.00 excluding VAT 

being due.   That  very invoice one can see over the page at  

633 which then sets out  what the – how those resources are 

in fact  made up.   

 So at  page 633 that  is an invoice dated 25 March 

2009 and there you see the resources there what has been 

invoiced for are two supervisors at  a total  monthly cost  of  

R108 000.00 and 16 t rain crew monitors and rapid response 

at  a total  cost  of  R748 800.00.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Again warm bodies.  20 

MR TODD:   Those are – exact ly warm bodies.   16 people and 

this is in addi t ion to the ear l ier extension which I  referred to  

which – which had involved also involved 16 resources to  

secure the yard and escort  and protect  t ra in dr ivers.  

 So this  was an addi t ional  16 over and above the 16 
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that  had been procured a year ear l ier and were being 

provided every month.  

 So an addi t ional  16 t rain crew monitors and rapid 

response at  that  cost  of  R748 000.00 giving another  monthly 

cost  of  R856 000.00 wi th VAT amount ing to R975 752.00 and 

that  again became a thi rd invoice f rom that  point  onwards a 

thi rd  invoice was rendered every month to Transnet and that  

i t  was those three invoices together by this stage that  

cumulat ively was approximately R4.5 mi l l ion a month.  

ADV MYBURGH:   So that  you deal  wi th at  paragraph 25 of  10 

your aff idavi t  at  page 492.   There payments of  services 

in i t ia l ly procured that  is the R1.7 mi l l ion then the f i rst  

extension another  R1.7 and then the second extension the 

R976. 

MR TODD:   Correct .  

ADV MYBURGH:   And you go on to  say that  that  is  in effect  

how you computed the claim of  R95 mi l l ion.  

MR TODD:   Yes that  is correct  and what Transnet  I  have 

included i t  is was provided to me by Transnet ’s  I  have got  no 

reason to doubt  i t  is correct .   I t  is f rom their  payment  ledger.   20 

From their  SAP system which shows that  throughout the 

whole per iod of  th is contract  three invoices were rendered – 

wel l  not  for the whole per iod.   From the beginning the f i rst  

invoice is  rendered and once th is – the extension was 

granted f rom that  month a second invoice was rendered 
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every month and then when the thi rd – second extension a 

thi rd invoice was rendered every month f rom that  point  

onwards.  

 But  the amounts remain the same in each of  those 

invoices.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Mr Todd at  page 493 you then deal  wi th  

Abalozi ’s plea and counter claims do you want to summarise 

that  for us please? 

MR TODD:   Yes I  have at tached the documents themselves.   

There were var ious technical  points raised I  have ment ioned 10 

of  them al ready which is they put  in a plea of  misjoinder or 

non-joinder and there they said you have sued the wrong 

person.   GNS or  now Abalozi  Pty Limited was never  the 

counterparty.   The GNS consort ium was the counterparty.   

And that  as I  have al ready deal t  wi th i t  is an odd thing to say 

both because a consort ium is not  a  legal  ent i ty and secondly 

there was no cont ract  wi th the consort ium.  The cont ract  al l  

a long was wi th GNS now known as Abalozi .  

 But  that  became central  to the defence.   Throughout 

the plea they say i t  is the GNS consort ium and they ment ion 20 

two other companies which they say were part  of  the GNS 

consort ium which they name. 

 And ja in essence what they do is say the consort ium 

has been doing what i t  was asked to do.   The invoices – I  

mean again the invoices have al l  a long been rendered by 
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GNS the company and a suggest ion that  any other ent i ty was 

involved.   But  perhaps the most  s igni f icant  to say then is 

about  thei r  counterc laim because what Abalozi  d id  is  said 

you suing me for R95.5 mi l l ion wel l  I  am counterclaiming for  

something close to R500 mi l l ion for damages which have 

been caused to me by your conduct .   Because you have 

cancel led my cont ract  and this has created reputat ional  harm 

to me I  have lost  var ious cont racts in the publ ic sector and 

we have lost  var ious other hopeful  cont racts and in tota l  we 

suffer damages of  – when you add i t  a l l  up i t  is very poorly  10 

pleaded and i t  is di ff icul t  to make out  exact ly what they 

claiming.   But  i t  amounts to in the R400 mi l l ions as a counter  

– as counter claims which they say they br ing ing against  

Transnet.  

ADV MYBURGH:   But  you say you at tach that  document that  

is Annexure R. 

MR TODD:   Yes that  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH:   Or in f i le i t  is at  page 636,  is that  correct? 

MR TODD:   Correct .  

ADV MYBURGH:   Running through to page 661. .  20 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:   A lr ight .   Then i f  we can turn to the next  

main topic and that  is Transnet ’s decision not  to pursue the 

claim.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH:   That  you deal  wi th at  page 495 

commencing at  paragraph 32.   Please take us through that .  

MR TODD:   Yes – just  the – the context  for that  Chairperson 

i f  I  may say when I  deal ing wi th the reinstatement of  Mr 

Gama one of  the points I  made is  that  a reinstatement of  

somebody in these ci rcumstances has consequences and 

one of  the consequences i f  you fol low through is what  

happens in a case l ike this.  

 And – so what we then deal  wi th is that  you have now 

re instated a chief  execut ive who was charged with  a 10 

conclusion of  th is  cont ract  in an inappropriate – ul t imately  

found gui l ty of  negl igent ly and he admit ted act ing wi th 

ser ious negl igence when enter ing into this cont ract .   He is 

being reinstated.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink he was … 

MR TODD:   Into the business.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink he was lucky that  the arb i t rator – 

the chai rperson d id not  f ind that  he had intent ional ly.  

MR TODD:   Yes.   But  in the course of  doing so as I  have 

shown from the t ranscr ipt  he say that  effect ively th is was a 20 

f raud,  a scam the cont ract  should never have been 

concluded.    

 So one might  have expected the very f i rst  th ing on 

his desk when he was reinstated to say let  us get  that  money 

back.   I t  was al l  a f raud,  a scam, inappropriate,  the wrong 
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th ing was done here.  

 But  in fact  what happens over a per iod of  t ime as we 

see is that  the management wi thin  TFR which Mr Gama is  

again leading now starts to say actual ly there is no reason to 

sue these people.   And I  am paraphrasing.    

 But  they said and I  am real ly then set  out  what 

through the minutes that  were given to me.  We represented 

Transnet in the l i t igat ion and there were long per iods of  

s i lence when we had no instruct ions and nothing was real ly  

happening.    10 

 But  then we got  requests to say we had had month ly 

reports f rom them about the services they have rendered 

does that  not  show that  they actual ly did the work?  And then 

we had another th ing which – and I  – rea l ly that  is what th is 

sect ion of  the aff idavi t  takes you through.  So the Transnet – 

the management team over which Mr Gama now presided 

started to say and I  say i t  is the management team i t  is one 

manager in part icular under Mr Gama started to say,  wel l  we 

actual ly – the work was done there is no problem here.   So 

why are we suing them?  That  is rea l ly – I  am paraphrasing.  20 

ADV MYBURGH:   A lr ight  and then you – you ment ion along 

the way at  paragraph 37 page 496 that  there was a t ime 

where you were asked to obtain counsel ’s opinion.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Just  address that  please.  
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MR TODD:   Wel l  i f  you – the backdrop to  that  is you can see 

that  in Apri l  2012 and the minute is there – there is  a Risk 

Commit tee meet ing which shows that  the management team 

now – so now you have members of  the board interact ing 

wi th members of  the management  team.  The board sub-

commit tee is the Risk Commit tee which has got  a long 

agenda.  One of  the i tems on i ts agenda is that  Transnet  is  

suing Abalozi  for the repayment  of  R95.5 mi l l ion.   And 

Abalozi  has counterc laims.  

 And the management team say wel l  we have actual ly  10 

now – what is ref lected in the minute and I  of  course was not  

at  the meet ing.   I  can only read the minute.   And the minute 

says:  

”Management members of  the management 

team informed members of  the Risk 

Commit tee that  they have uncovered 

informat ion that  had not  been avai lable in the 

past  and that  we may not  actual ly have a 

case against  Abalozi . ”  

 And what then happens is in September of  that  year  20 

Mr Ndpiwe Sal inga he is  the legal  advisor wi thin Transnet 

who is responsible for managing this l i t igat ion.   He is the 

general  manager for legal  services and Mr Sal inga gets a 

memorandum and he has at tached an emai l  which we were 

provided wi th by Transnet .  
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 Now I  have been provided wi th i t  by Transnet .   I  have 

not  – again i t  is part  of  Transnet  providing me in  i ts capaci ty  

as a legal  advisor  wi th informat ion internal ly.    But  that  emai l  

says wel l  we have now got  a monthly report  for every month 

each of  the 25 months that  Abalozi  rendered services.   GNS 

rendered services.   We have got  a wri t ten report  set t ing out  

what they did.  

 Does that  not  prove that  they did the work and we 

should not  be su ing for the R95.5 mi l l ion.   And so what 

Bowman Gi l f i l lan was then inst ructed to do was to get  10 

counsel ’s opinion on whether the ex istence of  these monthly  

reports you know had a mater ia l  impact  on the – on the case.  

 And effect ively counsel  gave opinion.   I  have 

included i t  in – as an annexure to the aff idavi t  and said wel l  

th is does not  change i t  at  a l l .   I t  does not  real ly show what  

serv ices were actual ly provided.  

 And i t  is possible  i f   -  i f  GNS Abalozi  comes a long in 

the l i t igat ion and says we can prove that  we deployed 

resources on Transnet business.   We have deployed 16 t rain  

crew rapid response.   Here are thei r  – here is the ev idence 20 

that  they were deployed.   Here are the – here is the 

evidence of  the people who actual ly worked.   There could be 

some reduct ion in the amount c la imed.  There is st i l l  an 

argument that  the procurement was i rregular f rom the start  

and so i t  must  be repaid.    
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 But  there is a possibi l i ty that  i f  GNS could prove that 

they actual ly  rendered services that  that  might  reduce the 

amount of  the – that  we would claim. 

 But  up unt i l  th is point  and real ly i t  cont inued unt i l  th is  

date GNS had never produced any evidence of  those warm 

bodies those 16 t ra in  crew and the other – the next  16 t rain 

crew.  They never  produced the names and the ent i t ies and 

the contracts under which those people were provided.   And 

they never had them. 

CHAIRPERSON:   And they had had al l  the opportuni ty to  10 

produce those names.  

MR TODD:   They had had al l  of  that  opportuni ty before the 

contract  was cancel led.   Once the l i t igat ion started.   In the 

discovering process they never produced that  informat ion.  

 So i t  remained a big quest ion mark and real ly what 

then became the quest ion was wel l  they have got  these 

monthly reports saying we have done al l  th is work.  

 Now that  monthly  report  e i ther  is a t rue ref lect ion.   

What they should have said is  not  just  th is is  our report  but  

here is the l ist  of  people who we deployed and here are thei r  20 

hour t ime sheets.  

 That  would have been good – a good start .   But  they 

never did that .   They produced monthly  reports but  those 

reports could also simply have been a desktop analysis  

produced by one person.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   But  they – they had been asked before the 

contract  was terminated.  

MR TODD:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   To produce such informat ion and they did 

not  produce i t .  

MR TODD:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And took the r isk that  the cont ract  would 

be terminated because they did not  produce the informat ion.   

So one ask the quest ion.   I f  they had provided – i f  they had 

that  informat ion and they had actual ly got  some companies 10 

to provide the services why would they not  have given you 

the informat ion in order to  avoid the cancel lat ion of  the 

contract? 

MR TODD:   Yes Chairperson i t  would have been the obvious 

thing to do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   And i t  would have been the obvious thing to do 

when they were sued as wel l  for repayment.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   They never did i t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  now the repor ts that  were said to exist  

now that  was being said was that  being said by some people 

wi thin TFR af ter Mr Gama had been reinstated? 

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  had not  been said in the meant ime 
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and the cont ract  was terminated ear ly in 2010 is i t?  

MR TODD:   Yes in  January.  

CHAIRPERSON:   In January 2010.   So – and Mr Gama was – 

came back to the company in Apri l  2011.   So for more than a 

year af ter the contract  had been terminated they never 

placed before Transnet that  informat ion to say here is the 

informat ion.   And then af ter Mr Gama had come back 

suddenly managers under him began to say we – Transnet 

might  not  have a case against  GNS. 

MR TODD:   Yes.   Chairperson GNS had produced i rregular ly  10 

reports.   They were requi red to provide a monthly account of  

what they had done.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   But  those reports and there are versions of  them 

and they come – become relevant  because they were 

subjected to close analys is later.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   Before Transnet  u l t imately set t led th is case.  

They are monthly  reports of  the k ind which descr ibe what 

act iv i t ies general ly have been conducted.   What 20 

invest igat ions are on-going and what pol ice’s cases have 

been opened for cr iminal  conduct  and so on.  

 So as I  have said they could be a good summary of  

the – of  what is going on wi th the actual  deployment of  10 

invest igators,  8 researchers,  8 handlers,  16 t rain crew and 



13 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 327 
 

Page 94 of 167 
 

so on.  

 But  you would st i l l  expect  to be – see some evidence 

that  those people were actual ly  deployed in the f ie ld.   

Because i f  they were not  deployed in the f ie ld those reports  

could equal ly  have been produced by somebody si t t ing at  a  

desk plag iar is ing other  reports and simply wri t ing up a 

fantasy about what has been going on.  

 So in other words the reports themselves looked l ike 

a narrat ive of  services that  were being provided but  they did 

not  – they were not  evidence that  in fact  those services have 10 

been provided and part icular ly where Transnet was paying 

for al l  of  these warm bodies those resources in the f ie ld and 

there was no evidence that  those people existed and GNS 

had never provided that  evidence.  

 So i t  was a worry that  those reports .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:   S imply ref lected.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR TODD:   You know anybody can wri te  oh I  have been 

working real ly hard this month and this is what we have been 20 

doing.  But  which prove that  that  actual ly – that  that  work had 

actual ly been done.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Thank you.   At  paragraph 39 on page 497 

you then deal  wi th what becomes qui te  a signi f icant  event 
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and that  is the memorandum produced by Mr Mtetwa that  

was copied to Mr Gama.  

MR TODD:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH:   On the 14 January.   Please deal  wi th that .  

MR TODD:   Yes just  to round off .   Af ter counsel ’s  opinion 

said these reports are not  suff ic ient  you can see that  Mr 

Sal inga then sends a memorandum to his super ior Ms 

Mabandla who is the Group Execut ive for Legal  Services at 

that  t ime and says and th is is at  page 497.   I  have actual ly 

quoted f rom the memorandum which is Annexure V which is 10 

at  page  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   677.  

MR TODD:   6 – is i t  677.   Thank you.   So the memorandum 

i tsel f  is at  page or is at  page 8 I  th ink.   Yes.   Oh, sorry.   I t  is 

at  page 677.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.    

MR TODD :    There is a memorandum from Mr Sel inga.   I t  is 

in December 2012, saying:  

“Having received var ious monthly reports which 

were intended to demonstrate that  Abalozi  d id in  20 

fact  rendered secur i ty services to TFR.”  

 So having received var ious monthly reports which were 

intended to demonstrate that  Abalozi  d id in fact  render 

securi ty services.   That  was – that  explains what was the 

intent ion of  these reports.    
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 These reports were t ry ing to show, yes there was – they 

do – they did do the work.   Group Legal  was requested to 

obtain a br ief  opinion f rom counsel  and whether or not  the 

reports would be suff ic ient  to demonstrate that  Abalozi  had 

indeed performed in terms of  the agreement and i f  so,  

whether Transnet  would be just i f ied in wi thdrawing the act ion 

i t  inst i tuted against  Abalozi .   The language is . . . [ ind ist inct ]  

[00:00:55] ,  i t ’s would i t  be just i f ied in wi thdrawing the act ion 

i t  inst i tuted?  Not  whether i t  would be wise or whether i t  

would be – whether  i t  was l ikely to  lose the case.   I t  says 10 

whether th is would const i tute a good enough reason to 

wi thdraw the case.    

 Anyway,  the counsel ’s opinion was. . .   You know, there is  

an opinion given and the opinion is,  there is no reason to 

wi thdraw.  But  very soon af ter that ,  f rom that  t ime, that  is 

December 2012.   

 The very fol lowing month,  in  January 2013,  a 

memorandum appears f rom Mr Twetwa who, at  that  stage,  

was the General  Manager,  Rai l  Network.    

 And he sent  a memorandum to Ms Mbandla and copied i t  20 

to Mr Gama.  And that  is the memorandum which is at  page 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    678.  

MR TODD :    678.   Now.  So that  is January 2013.  Mr Mtetwa 

wri tes a memorandum and he says the purpose of  th is  
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memorandum is to provide feedback on the performance of  

GNS Risk Advisory Services and the cost  of  services they 

provided in comparison to the current  service provider.  

 And in a nutshel l  what  Mr Mtetwa does in that  

memorandum is he says i f  you analyse cable-thef t  loss per 

month in a per iod before GNS was appointed when we had a 

couple of  months where we had no securi ty provider and 

then when GNS provided thei r  services.    

 And you analyse monthly cable-thef t .   And then you 

analyse i t  now with a new secur i ty  provider where we 10 

actual ly paying a lot  more.    

 Overal l ,  he says,  actual ly we got  a  very good deal  wi th 

GNS.  And I  am paraphrasing.   I t  is  what Mr Mtetwa says.   I t  

is basical ly an analysis of  the length of  the copper cables 

stolen per month in  ki lometres and he sets that  out  in his  

memorandum.   

 Now – and he says in his conclusion which is at  page 

682,  he says i t  is evident  f rom the performance stat ist ics 

that  the use of  special ised secur i ty  services produced 

posi t ive resul ts in combat copper cable thef t ,  the per iod 20 

which TFR did not  have the service being provided,  resul ted 

in copper thef t  deter iorat ing signi f icant ly.  

 The cost  comparison reveals that  – and that  was the 

per iod between February and Apri l  2010 – the cost  

comparison reveals that  CPIR must be made almost  twice 
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what  GNS was paid monthly.   The aforement ioned facts 

refute the two claims made that  GNS was over paid and paid 

for work they did not  perform.   

 And then he said:   I  would have asserted these facts i f  

anybody had asked me.  Unfortunately,  I  was never made 

part  of  the invest igat ion or to ld of  the cla ims.  

 So what Mr Mtetwa says.   He says:   I  am not  looking at  

whether any warm bodies were deployed in the f ie ld.   I  am 

not  looking at  t ra in crew.  I  am not  looking at  the 

. . . [ indist inct ]  [00:04:13]  yard and the protect ion of  other 10 

assets.   I  am just  looking at  cable-thef t .    

 And i f  I  look at  cable-thef t ,  I  th ink that  GNS did a good 

job.   That  is what he says.   I f  I  look at  the cable thef t  

stat ist ics.  

 And so having been sent  the monthly reports to say is 

th is a just i f icat ion to wi thdraw the c la im.  In January,  the 

at torneys – us as at torneys are sent  th is report  and said but  

Mr Mtetwa says that  actual ly we got  good value for  money 

f rom GNS.  Is that  a reason to wi thdraw the claim?   

 And I  am again paraphrasing what he said but  that  is  20 

real ly the next  instruct ion that  comes is that  he get  asked to 

see counsel ’s  opinion on whether  or  not  the memorandum 

from Mr Mtetwa wi l l  change the game in terms of  the 

l i t igat ion.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   And you then obtained a 
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further opinion f rom counsel .  

MR TODD :    Yes,  let  us have a look.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  is Annexure Y at  page 689,  is  i t?  

MR TODD :    Ja.   I  mean, I  jumped a step because actual ly  

what happened was,  af ter Mr Mtetwa’s memorandum in 

January 2013,  wi thout  – before going to the at torneys.   

There is a meet ing of  the Risk Commit tee again.   Where 

management again say there is  a need to rev iew the 

decision,  to l i t igate in Transnet  versus Abalozi  Risk Advisory 

Services.    10 

 So management are again saying we have got  –  you 

know th is is new and there is a new issue which shows that  

perhaps we should rev iew our decision to be suing other  

Abalozi  and . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you deal  wi th i t  at  paragraph 40.  

MR TODD :    Yes,  correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Right .  

MR TODD :    And then we were then asked to br ief  counsel  

and did so.   And as you say,  the counsel  provided a further  

memorandum and that  is at  page . . . [ intervenes]   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    689.  

MR TODD :    689.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what was the upshot of  counsel ’s 

advice? 

MR TODD :    Ja.   What counsel ’s  advice is – I  mean,  i t  is not  
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equivocal .   But  effect ively what counsel  say is – says in that  

memorandum, i f  I  – and I  have not  read i t  r ight  now.  That  is:   

Look,  th is may indicate that  some services were rendered.   

May indicate that  Transnet der ived some value f rom GNS.   

 I f  GNS did in fact  help to curb cable-thef t ,  that  is – i t  

may become an indicat ion of  value that  mit igates or mi l i tates 

against  the amount,  the quantum that  is being claimed.   

 But  he real ly points to a di fferent  problem, counsel  does,  

he says;  I  am a bi t  worr ied here because I  advised – we 

were advising Transnet and our own people are te l l ing us 10 

that  they – you know – who are the wi tnesses for Transnet in  

TFR who are going to say i t  is going to be our wi tnesses?   

 They are going to say that  GNS did not  provide the 

serv ices that  they were contracted to provide and that . . .   

Who is  going to g ive the version of  events here that  was the 

basis on which we sued GNS for return of  the money?  And 

he raises that  problem and this is a t  page 698.   He says. . .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    He deals wi th  that  in the last  sentence 

of  paragraph 25.  

MR TODD :    Ja,  the upshot  is .   Unless Transnet has 20 

wi tnesses avai lab le who are wi l l ing and able to contradict  

Mr Mtetwa’s assert ions that  Transnet received fai r  value for 

the money expended and who can do so on f i rm grounds,  

pursuing the case further,  would be wasteful .  

 So counsel  is  now saying,  effect ively,  i f  we cannot get  
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somebody to stand by the arguments that  the reasons,  the 

cause of  act ions that  he put  up in  the summons and i f  the 

cl ient  i tsel f  – i f  the c l ient  i tsel f  is saying wel l ,  the work was,  

based on Mr Mtetwa’s memorandum, we are going to have a 

problem in the l i t igat ion.  

 And that  then led to a meet ing wi th the Group Chief  

Execut ive,  Mr Molefe that  I  a lso . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Now just  to make sure I  understand this 

part .   Mr Mtetwa’s memorandum does not  say here is  

evidence that  shows that  GNS provided the services.   I t  does 10 

not  say that .   But  i t  s imple says,  we have looked at  the 

stat ist ics of  cable-thef t  and we have seen that  there was 

some signi f icant  reduct ion dur ing the per iod of  the contract ,  

of  the GNS contract .   And we, therefore – I ,  therefore,  th ink 

that  might  be an indicat ion that  GNS did perform the 

serv ices.    

 Is that  what i t  says in effect  or does i t  say more than 

that?  

MR TODD :    Ja.   Chairperson,  I  mean, you are correct  wi th 

respect  that  the memorandum does nothing to say the 20 

var ious warm bodies,  the resources that  were being 

contracted f rom GNS were in fact  provided.  

 I t  actual ly operates on the assumpt ion that  they were 

and says I  can show that  they were effect ive.   That  is only 

what the memorandum does.  



13 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 327 
 

Page 102 of 167 
 

 I t  does not  say I  can conf i rm that  ten invest igators were 

deployed f rom the outset  but  another seven of  them – 

another six were then added.  That  is 16 people.  

 And also,  i t  does not  deal  wi th the t ra in  crew point  at  a l l  

that  resources were or  were not  provided to  the t rain crew.  

That  is not  deal t  wi th in that  memorandum at  al l .  

 I t  s imple deals wi th copper thef t  and i t  presupposes,  

actual ly,  that  GNS were in fact  del iver ing the resources that  

they had been contracted to del iver  and were invoicing.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  you said the only reports that  GSM did 10 

provide at  some stage,  were reports that  did not  show, in 

terms of  the informat ion they put  forward,  did not  show that  

the services were actual ly provided.   And the people who 

were supposed to – the stat ions where they were supposed 

to be stat ioned,  were stat ioned.    

 The reports,  as I  understood what you are saying,  could 

wel l  have been prepared by somebody si t t ing at  his desk and 

not  having seen people actual ly working.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So Mr Mtetwa’s memorandum must be 20 

understood in the context  of  the fact  that  he does not  put  up 

evidence that  says the services were actual ly provided,  were 

rendered as a mat ter of  fact .    

 And in ci rcumstances where GNS i tsel f  had not  provided 

any evidence showing that  the services were as a matter of  
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fact  provided.    

 Only provided was someth ing that ,  you know, rea l ly  did  

not  go that  far.   Is that  a fa i r  summary of  that  part  of  your  

evidence?  

MR TODD :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  ja.   Okay.   I  get  the impression and 

you must te l l  me whether – maybe get t ing that  impression 

and not  just i f ied – I  get  the impression that  at  th is t ime,  

which is af ter Mr Gama had come back,  had been reinstated,  

I  get  the impression that  managers wi th in his department, 10 

TFR, seemed to be going qui te an ext ra mi le  to  t ry  and not  

have Transnet pursue i ts c la im against  the GNS.   

MR TODD :    Yes,  al l  the informat ion avai lable to me suggest  

that  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    And in  fact ,  that  is  then exact ly  what we then 

said . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    . . . to the then Group Chief  Execut ive,  Mr  Molefe,  

when we had a meet ing wi th them in March of  2013.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    We said that  – we said exact ly what you have 

just  sa id.   We are get t ing the impression – we did not  

ment ion the fact  that  i t  was post  Mr Gama’s reinstatement 

but  we said we are not  get t ing. . .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    The management,  the execut ive or management 

team within TFR appear to be more al igned with GNS’s 

posi t ion in th is l i t igat ion than Transnet ’s.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR TODD :    And i f  that  is the case,  i t  can be very di f f icul t  to  

run this case.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Ja,  i t  seems that  they were more 

concerned real ly  about  protect ing Transnet – I  mean, GNS’s 

posi t ion than protect ing Transnet ’s interest .   Yes,  10 

Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   You deal  wi th your 

meet ing wi th Mr Molefe in paragraphs 42 and 43 at  page 

499.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Perhaps you could just  descr ibe to the 

Chairperson what Mr Molefe informed you of  – at  that  

meet ing? 

MR TODD :    Yes.   I  mean, in essence i t  was – i t  is not  usual  

that ,  you know, in a l i t igat ion that  – ninety f ive mi l l ion is  –  20 

that  is a relat ively  large case but  we would not  normal ly deal  

di rect ly wi th the Group Chief  Execut ive.   But  we were asked 

as at torneys to – together  wi th counsel  – to at tend the 

meet ing wi th the Group Chief  Execut ive.  

 And he sa id to us:   I  need to go on wi th th is case 



13 JANUARY 2021 – DAY 327 
 

Page 105 of 167 
 

because I  am – and I  am gain paraphrasing – fee l ing heat .   I  

am get t ing cal led.   I  am get t ing cal led – cal ls  f rom this 

fe l low.  

 And he did not  say who he was get t ing cal ls f rom but  he 

was get t ing cal ls  f rom somebody who was put t ing a lot  of  

pressure on him to – about th is l i t igat ion and to wi thdraw the 

l i t igat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Who was speaking,  saying that?  

MR TODD :    Mr Molefe,  the then Group Chief  Execut ive.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   Yes.   H’m.  10 

MR TODD :    And so we said to him – and in effect  I  have 

at tached a note.   I  kept  a f i le note at  the t ime which I  have 

at tached to page 699.    

 In fact ,  I  have prepared that  note in advance of  the 

meet ing because i t  was real ly a note of  what I  wanted to 

communicate to  Mr Molefe in the meet ing because we have 

been cal led there to and discuss.    

 We were – we – and we were get t ing the feel ing that  you 

have just  descr ibed Chairperson.   We are get t ing one th ing 

af ter another,  showing that  internal  managers thought that  20 

we should not  be pursuing the l i t igat ion.    

 And we kept  get t ing asked:   Wel l ,  does this change i t?   

Is th is a reason to wi thdraw?  And so,  effect ively what we 

communicated and I  am conf ident  that  I  communicated.    

 These were my talk ing points for that  meet ing on the 
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18t h of  March 2013.  I  had prepared them at  the t ime.  And 

the point  he made were:   Look,  th is  contract  was inval id f rom 

i ts foundat ion.    

 I t  was fundamental ly inval id f rom a procurement point  of  

v iew and i t  was the product  of  – I  use the words of  Mr Gama 

– a scam.  

 As to whether GNS actual ly did anything.   I t  is possible 

i f  they proved so.   We have asked them to show us evidence 

and so far we have been given a monthly  report ,  

summarising what  they say they did.  10 

 But  they have not  given us any underl in ing evidence of  

the warm bodies deployed that  we have paid for.   And so,  i t  

is possible.    

 I f  they prove that  they did do valuable work for Transnet,  

equi ty,  to the extent  that  i t  would come into play.   To the 

extent  that  a court  could say:    Wel l ,  to some equi table 

remedy to reduce the amount of  damages you are cla iming.    

 There are var ious other,  you know,  possible grounds on 

which a court  could reduce a claim.  But  an equi ty might  

just i fy reducing the total  amount that  Transept  has repaid i f  20 

actual ly GNS are able to show but  these are the resources 

we deployed.   This is what i t  cost  us to work for Transnet .    

And yes i t  was inval id but  we spent these amounts.    

 I t  might  be that  that  would resul t  in a reduct ion of  the 

amount we claimed by Transnet .   But  then,  on the prospects 
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of  success – and I  made this point  in  my – and I  made this 

point  very speci f ical ly to Mr Molefe.  

 We have to get  cooperat ion f rom the Transnet ’s  

Execut ive Team and a commitment to pursuing Transnet ’s  

interest  in the l i t igat ion.  

 I f  we,  as the lawyers,  are faced with the inst ruct ions al l  

the t ime which say we do not  real ly  th ink we got  a case.   We 

think GNS did a good job.    

 You know, unless we have somebody who is going to  

pursue Transnet ’s  interests that  i t  is ent i t led to pursue under 10 

the contract  as a resul t  of  th is whole exercise then we can 

real ly bat t le and to run the l i t igat ion successful ly.  

 We wi l l  be hamstrung by the kind of  instruct ions we get  

and we said we would actual ly l ike and we wanted him to 

give direct ion that  we get  given – somebody would be given 

clear inst ruct ions to work wi th us to  do a proper analyses of  

whether we got  the wi tnesses we need to win the case and 

whether we are r ight .  

 And we said,  in the inter im we should put  GNS to the 

proof  of  thei r  c la im that  they did actual ly rendered the 20 

serv ices because they have not  sat isf ied us to date that  they 

did anything.  

 So that  was effect ively what we communicated to 

Transnet at  that  point  in t ime.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You say that  Mr Molefe said he was 
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taking heat  and he was being persistent ly cal led by someone 

who was asking why Transnet was persist ing wi th the 

l i t igat ion.   Who did you think he was referr ing to? 

MR TODD :    Ja,  i t  is my – I  surmised that  he was referr ing to 

General  Nyanda but  because what the context  showed i t  was 

aw powerful  person that  was unhappy wi th the l i t igat ion 

cont inuing.   I  can put  i t  that  way.    

 He fel t  very uncomfortable about  i t  and he did not  

ment ion a name but  I  cannot say whether  i t  was in  fact  

General  Nyanda.   10 

 I t  seemed logical  in the context  that  he was referr ing 

having been cal led by General  Nyanda.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then Mr Todd.  Perhaps I  can just  

paraphrase what you deal  wi th  next  so that  we can come to 

the next  important  part  of  th is.   In paragraphs 45 and 46,  you 

deal  wi th the fact  that  Mr Sel inga addressed a memorandum 

to Mr Molefe where he proposed or recommended the 

rescission of  the decision real ly to blackl ist  GNS.  

MR TODD :    That  is r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And that  ul t imately,  Mr Molefe 20 

approved of  that .   And by b lackl ist ing,  I  mean, that  they had, 

on the face of  the document,  being t raced on a l ist  of  so-

cal led excluded tenderers.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Is that  correct? 
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MR TODD :    Yes.   We were not  aware of  that .   There is the 

documents at  page 700,  at  that  stage.   Even before we met 

Mr Molefe internal ly wi thout  recourse to us.   Transnet,  

Mr Sel inga had recommended to Mr Molefe who had 

approved actual ly removing the bar on doing further  

business wi th – now i t  is cal led Abalozi  – on grounds that  

real ly of  Mr Mtetwa’s memorandum.   

 To say we are sat isf ied internal ly on the strength of  Mr 

Mtetwa’s memorandum that  actual ly we should remove – we 

should upl i f t  the bar to doing further  business wi th  Abalozi .    10 

 And in fact ,  i t  even includes that  i t  was suspected that  

Abalozi  may have col luded with some Transnet employees in 

order to be awarded the contract .    

 However,  there is no di rect  evidence to corroborate 

those suspicions.   Is what i t  says.   Now there was a 

discipl inary process in  which Mr Senamela and Mr Kanye 

were dismissed which found precisely that  there was that  

corroborat ion.    

 And that  is precisely why Mr Senamela and Mr Kanye 

were dismissed.   And Mr Gama had descr ibed this  20 

procurement process as a scam and a f raud.    

 So on what  basis -  i t  is now being suggested – but  

Mr Gama was the Chief  Execut ive of  TFR at  th is point .   But  

Mr Selenga sends a memorandum to Mr Molefe supported by 

the Group Legal  Services,  saying there is no reason to 
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bel ieve that  there was anything improper in the conclusion 

wi th the contract  of  Abalozi .    

 And TFR are actual ly happy deal ing wi th their  jo int  

venture partners,  mai l  and revert  to securi ty providers that  

were working in their  consort ium and so actual ly we should 

clear them for further business wi th Transnet.    

 But  that  was done without  resource and we did not  know 

when we went to  see Mr Molefe that  that  was the at t i tude 

that  was being pursued by the management team at  the t ime.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :     Then at  paragraph 47 of  your 10 

aff idavi t ,  page 501,  you deal  wi th a memorandum dated the 

8 t h of  October f rom Mr Gama to Mr Molefe.   Please deal  wi th  

that .    

MR TODD :    There is typographic error in page – paragraph 

47.    I t  is the memorandum dated the 8t h of  October 2013,  

signed by Mr Gama on the 22n d of  October  2013.   I t  says 

2010.  I t  is – obviously,  that  memorandum of  October  2013.   

 And real ly th is  is the culminat ion of  these regular  

meet ings at  Risk Commit tee of  the board and that  the board 

where management are saying,  there is no real  – we – there 20 

is new informat ion.   We should not  be pursuing wi th th is 

l i t igat ion against  GNS.  

 And so this culminates in the Risk Commit tee saying:   

Wel l ,  somebody must come and tel l  us why.   And so 

Mr Gama at tends this memorandum or approves this  
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memorandum.   

 He wri tes i t  to Mr Molefe,  asking for  him to get  a slot  on 

– at  the Board Risk Commit tee meet ing.   That  is  at  page 

705.    

 Now the purpose of  the submission to request  approval  

f rom the Group Chief  Execut ive for TFR to present  i ts  

responses to the Transnet  Group Risk Commit tee to 

quest ions raised by the commit tee in respect  of  other laws 

Risk Advisory Services.  

 And so what appears f rom that  is  that  i t  says in  10 

January 2013 – that  memorandum says – Mr Gama.  This 

memorandum is prepared by Mr Mtetwa and i t  is effect ively 

signed by Mr Gama, addressed to Mr Molefe.   

 And i t  says in January 2013, TFR was requested to  

respond to the performance of  GNS Risk Advisory Services 

and the costs in comparison to the current  service provider.  

 This was done in  January 2013.  One assumes that  is  

the Mtetwa memorandum being referred to.   And then in 

October 2013, TFR was informed that  the Transnet  board 

Risk Commit tee was not  fu l ly sat isf ied wi th the responses 20 

and raised the fol lowing three speci f ic quest ions.    

 Ascertain  whether  the cont ractual  agreement was 

adhered to in terms of  the number of  securi ty personnel  

requi red and the si tes that  were to be covered by the 

contract .  
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 So the Board Risk Commit tee are saying,  can you 

actual ly te l l  us,  did we actual ly get  the securi ty personnel  

that  we were paying for.   Report  on the KPI ’s and for  

del iverables and reports on invest igat ions conducted dur ing 

the cont ract  per iod should be submi t ted to the commit tee.  

 So – and so then the – under discussion at  page 706,  

the memorandum wri tes – reads:   In an at tempt to br ing this  

matter to f inal i ty i t  is our request  that  that  the TFR General  

Manager Rai l  Network wi thin whose port fo l io securi ty 

serv ices resides and the TFR General  Counci l  address the 10 

commit tee in order to explain the background to the problem 

which the service aimed to solve,  the context  and the nature.  

 And i t  is ant ic ipated that  such d iscussion wi l l  have to  

resolve in moving the matter to  closure.   And let  TFR 

address the Board Risk Commit tee.  

 So this is Mr Gama sponsoring or  ei ther Mr Mtetwa – 

Mr Gama asking Mr . . . [ indist inct ]  [00:26:14]  can we br ing 

Mr Mtetwa and deal  – explain to the Risk Commit tee why we 

say there is no reason to cont inue wi th the l i t igat ion against  

GNS.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Is i t  not  st range that  i f  GNS had actual ly 

provided securi ty  personnel  at  the places where they were 

supposed to have been provided,  that  there would have been 

nobody wi thin Transnet who had seen that  they had been 

there? 
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 I  mean, i f  the Ci ty of  Johannesburg cont racts GNS to 

say,  provide secur i ty services and there must  be 50 

personnel  dur ing the day at  the fol lowing points,  surely there 

must  be Ci ty of  Johannesburg off ic ia ls who would see that  

those people are there.    

MR TODD :    Absolutely Chai rperson.   So we had asked GNS 

to provide informat ion of  who have they had posted,  where 

and when.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    They have not  provided i t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR TODD :    Then one thing that  is nowhere to be found in  

any of  these TFR interact ion wi th the board,  is any statement 

exact ly l ike you have made.  I  conf i rm that  16 t rained dr ivers 

worked a fu l l  shi t  and we hired another 16.   And I  can 

conf i rm that  those people did thei r  shi f ts.  

 There is no indicat ion – in fact ,  what Mr Mtetwa then 

does is,  as you wi l l  see,  he goes to the Risk Commit tee and 

he says,  th is is very special ised and actual ly we do not  pay 

for the resources.   We pay for  the outcomes.  That  is  20 

actual ly what  Mr Mtetwa does to  deal  precisely wi th that  

problem.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   I  mean, the contract  is c lear.   Provide 

X number of  personnel .  

MR TODD :    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    And you cannot – you could not  have 

provided personnel  over  a certain  per iod and nobody f rom 

Transnet would have seen them.   

 And i t  should not  be a problem to say,  here are the 

points at  which we provide the people and the people were 

working f rom eight  in the morning to eight  in the evening or 

whatever the per iod,  over th is per iod.    

 Here are even the names.  And then Transnet would 

simple go there and say:   Wel l ,  who are the people who are 

in charge of  that  point?  Were there people here dur ing that  10 

t ime?  And then they wi l l  say yes they were there or they 

were not  there.    

MR TODD :    So what Transnet – what TFR Management did 

at  th is point  is ret reated into the idea that  th is  is very 

special ised and i t  was ent i rely up to GNS to decide who to 

deploy,  when and where and we d id not  – we merely monitor  

the outcomes to see i f  we have noted a reduct ion in thef t  or 

something l ike that  over that  per iod.    

CHAIRPERSON :    But  then that  point  or  posi t ion seems to be 

inconsistent  wi th  the expressed terms of  the agreement 20 

which say deploy so many people.  

MR TODD :    I  would agree wi th you Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  Ja.   Okay.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Mr Todd, you go on then 

at  paragraphs 48 and 49,  page 502 and 503 to deal  wi th  a 
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presentat ion that  was prepared for the Risk Commit tee.  

MR TODD :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then the meet ing of  the Risk 

Commit tee on the 7t h of  November.   You deal  wi th those two 

things,  please.  

MR TODD :    Ja,  the presentat ion . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Which page are we now? 

MR TODD:   Sorry Chairperson? 

CHAIRPERSON:    502?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   I  have go t  i t .  

MR TODD:   And the  –  so  fo r  tha t  October  2013,  so  Mr  

Gama says to  Mr  Mole fe  can we  get  Mr  Mthethwa  an  

aud ience fo r  the  r i sk  commi t tee  and he w i l l  exp la in  th ings.   

So then a  presen ta t ion  is  p repared fo r  the  r i sk  commi t tee  

and I  have re fe r red  to  tha t .   The presenta t ion  i t se l f  i s  a t  

page 707 where  i t  i s  p repared by  Mr  Mthethwa  and i t  

conta ins  –  inc ludes in  i t  the  ex t rac t  tha t  I  have re fer red  to  

there  wh ich  i s  a t  page 710.   And tha t  i s  where  in  response  

to  the  quest ion  spec i f i ca l l y  ra i sed by  the  board  r i sk  20 

commi t tee :  

“Ascer ta in  i f  the  cont rac tua l  agreement  was  

adhered in  t e rms  o f  a  number  o f  secur i t y  personne l  

requ i red  and the  s i tes  tha t  were  to  be  covered by  

the  cont rac t . ”  
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That  i s  the  quest i on  tha t  Mr  Mthethwa  i s  asked to  address 

the  board  subcommi t tee  and h i s  response is  to  say:  

“Spec ia l i se  secur i t y  cont rac t  d i f fe ren t  to  t rad i t iona l  

guard ing  cont rac t .   Per fo rmance/outcomes focused  

is  based on a  ta rge ted reduct ion  in  the f t  inc idents ,  

length  o f  cab le  s to len ,  a r res ts  and conv ic t ions .   

Number  o f  t ype  o f  resources requ i red  are  no t  

p rescr ibed to  the  serv ice  prov ide r,  as  w i th  guard ing  

cont rac ts . ”  

Now tha t  s ta tement ,  the  board  subcommi t tee have not  read 10 

the  cont rac ts ,  bu t  i t  i s  fa lse ,  i t  i s  comple te ly  un t rue .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes because the  cont rac t  says  exact ly  

the  oppos i te ,  says spec i fy.  

MR TODD:   Yes and every  t ime –  when fu r ther  resources 

are  procured,  wh ich  more  than doub led  the  cont rac t ,  the  

two ex tens ions,  they spec i f i ca l l y  ment ioned the  exact  

number  and i t  i s  no t  jus t  fo r  cab le  the f t ,  i t  i s  fo r  t ra ined  

crew guards and i t  i s  fo r  somebody to  s i t  a t  the  –  

supposed ly  to  guard  the  Kaserne yard  and i t  i s  fo r  another  

se t  o f  t ra ined crew guards.    20 

So to  say tha t  the  GNS cont rac t ,  the  number  and 

type o f  resources  requ i red  are  no t  p rescr ibed is  jus t  –  i t  is  

comple te l y  m is lead ing  the  board ,  qu i te  f rank ly,  tha t  i s  what  

th is  d id .    

 But  i t  i s  someth ing  wh ich  was necessary,  i f  I  can  
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pu t  i t  tha t  way,  i f  you  wanted to  de fend –  i f  you  were  

de termined to  de fend th is  cont rac t ,  i t  i s  hard  to  know why  

any Transnet  wou ld  be  determined to  no t  –  to  undermine  

Transnet ’s  c la im fo r  recovery  o f  money pa id  to  GNS but  i t  

i s  a  log ica l  th ing  to  say when in  fac t  there  are  no  t ime 

sheets  and no l i s t  o f  s ta f f  dep loyed.   Then you say oh ,  

we l l ,  ac tua l l y  they d id  no t  have to  and in  fac t  what  he  then 

says is  the  secur i t y  –  he  in  fac t  then goes fu r ther,  he  says:  

“ I t  i s  a  month l y  p ro jec t  budget ,  rev iewed an 

eva lua ted.   Serv ice  prov ider  dep loys  resources  10 

such as  invest iga tors ,  researchers  and hand lers  a t  

i t s  d iscre t ion  w i th in  the  l im i t  o f  the  month ly  budget  

and accord ing  to  chang ing  cr ime pat te rns . ”  

So what  he  is  ac tua l l y  say ing  is ,  they  pu t  a l l  these  

numbers  togethe r  bu t  they do  not  rea l l y  have to  dep loy  

peop le  l i ke  tha t ,  they  can do someth ing  to ta l l y  d i f fe ren t  

and the  invo ices  say th is  i s  how much I  am charg ing  fo r  

and th is  i s  who I  am charg ing  fo r,  the  invo i ces say two 

superv i sors  and 16 t ra in  c rew but  whether  they  prov ide  

them or  no t  depends on the i r  assessment  o f  the  r i sk  a t  the  20 

t ime,  o f  whether  i t  i s  a  good idea  to  dep loy  t ra in  c rew or  

no t  bu t  they s t i l l  i nvo i ce  us  fo r  i t .   I  mean,  tha t  i s  rea l l y  Mr  

Mthethwa  was te l l ing  the  board  sub-commi t tee ,  i t  seems to  

me,  bu t  i t  i s  jus t  comple te l y  incons is ten t  w i th  the  

cont rac tua l  a r rangements  tha t  had been concluded f rom 
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the  ou tse t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You might  no t  be  ab le  to  say anyth ing  

about  th is  bu t  I  wonder  whether  somebody who cou ld  – who  

had  read the  cont rac t  cou ld  pu t  up  th i s  vers ion  w i thout  

in ten t iona l l y  seek ing  to  make a  m isrepresenta t ion .   One 

does not  know whethe r  Mr  Mthethwa  had read the  

cont rac t .  

MR TODD:   Yes and Cha i rperson,  read the  cont rac t  and the  

ex tens ions to  i t  and unders tood what  was go ing  on there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   And,  in  any event ,  the  10 

quest ion  tha t  was  sought  to  be  addressed ac tua l l y  requ i red  

the  person who  g ives response  and answer  to  have  

checked the  cont rac t  because the  quest ion  is  cer ta in ly  i f  

the  cont rac tua l  agreement  was adhered in  te rms o f  the 

number  o f  secur i t y  personne l  requ i red  and the  s i tes  tha t  

were  to  be  covered by  the  cont rac t ,  to  answer  tha t  

quest ion  you mus t  go  to  the  cont rac t .  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR TODD:   Seems to  me,  Cha i rperson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Then cou ld  you dea l  w i th  

what  happened before  the  r i sk  commi t tee?  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A t  paragraph 49 you say tha t  the  
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p resenta t ion  wh ich  you have jus t  spoken o f  was du ly  made  

to  the  r i sk  commi t tee  a t  a  mee t ing  on  the  7  November  

2013.  

MR TODD:   Yes,  I  was not  a t  the  meet ing  bu t  I  have read a  

m inute  o f  i t ,  i t  i s  an  approved minute  o f  tha t  meet ing  

prov ided by  Transnet  and tha t  says tha t  the  in ten t ion  –  

there  management ,  aga in ,  you  have got  the  m inute  

record ing  what  d id  management  te l l  the  commi t tee  and  

management  to ld  the  commi t tee  tha t  the  in ten t ion  o f  the  

exerc ise  was to  es tab l i sh  i f  there  was va lue  de r ived by  the  10 

company f rom the  cont rac t  o r  no t .   So they change  i t ,  they  

say oh  no,  th is  is  no t  –  were  the  personne l  there  or  no t ,  

they  say we l l ,  d id  we get  va lue  f rom the  cont rac t?   The 

quantum o f  the  va lue  der i ved was  se t  ou t  in  the  month l y  

repor ts  and matched by  invo i ces.   So whatever  tha t  means,  

management  a re  say ing  i f  you  read a  month l y  repor t  say ing  

we have done a  who le  lo t  o f  work  fo r  you and here  is  our  

invo i ce ,  tha t  i s  p roo f  tha t  the  invo i ce  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The work  was done.  

MR TODD:   Serv ices  –  tha t  the  work  was done.   That  i s  20 

what  management  a re  say ing .   They say tha t  the  supp l ie r  

was appo in ted  to  per fo rm a  da ta  ga ther ing  funct ion .   I  do 

no t  know what  tha t  means.   But  Aba loz i  adhered  to  the  

cont rac t  and tha t  the  company d id  no t  have a  KPI  tha t  

requ i red  the  se rv ice  prov ider  to  p rov ide  a  l i s t  o f  secur i t y  
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personne l .   So management  says,  you know,  you are  

ask ing  the  quest i on  bu t  they were  no t  ob l iga ted  to  te l l  us 

or  to  even have any spec i f ied  number  o f  peop le  on  the  job .   

They jus t  had to  g ive  us  repor ts  and g i ve  us  an  invo ice  and  

tha t  i s  a l l  they  needed to  do .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  a  very  s t range s i tua t ion  tha t  an  

en t i t y  can spend and pay 98 mi l l ion  –  R95 o r  R98 m i l l ion  to  

a  se rv i ce  p rov ide r  w i thout  be ing  ab le  to  say we know tha t  

the  serv ice  tha t  they were  supposed to  p rov ide  was 

rendered.  10 

MR TODD:   We l l ,  i t  obv ious ly  i s  r ipe  fo r  abuse,  tha t  

s i tua t ion ,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    P lease jus t  repeat  tha t ,  Mr  Todd? 

MR TODD:   I  jus t  i t  makes –  i t  i s  r ipe  fo r  abuse,  a  s i tua t ion  

where  a  management  team is  e i ther  unab le  or  does  not  –  i s  

no t  requ i red  to  ac tua l l y  ver i f y  tha t  serv ices  were  prov ided,  

tha t  i s  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then maybe  they were  no t  in te res ted  

in  knowing.  

MR TODD:   I t  i s  a  c lass ic  case where  c lear ly  a  serv i ce  20 

prov ider  can w i th  the  r igh t  suppor t  in te rna l l y  abuse tha t  

pos i t ion  by  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  the  quest ion  then ar ises ,  the  person 

who had the  f ina l  au thor i t y  to  approve tha t  these mi l l ions  

be  pa id ,  shou ld  he  not  have sough t  p roo f  tha t  the  serv i ces  
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had been rendered f i rs t  so  tha t  tha t  quest ion  wou ld  ar ise .   

I  wou ld  imag ine  tha t  i f  you  author i se  payment  o f  m i l l i ons  o f  

taxpayers ’ money,  the  least  you shou ld  do  is  to  say le t  me 

be sa t is f ied  tha t  th is  payment  i s  due.  

MR TODD:   Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh,  I  th ink  we shou ld  take  a  

shor t  ad jou rnment ,  jus t  ten  m inutes ,  and then we can 

cont inue.   What  i s  your  assessment  o f  how we are  do ing  in  

te rms o f  t ime?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  th ink  tha t  we shou ld  s t i l l  be  ab le  to  

f in ish  in  the  th ree  hours  tha t  I  ind ica ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  we take  a  ten  m inute  ad journment  

now,  I  hope to  f in ish  by  quar te r  past  s ix .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Le t  us  jus t  

take  a  ten  m inutes  ad journment .   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.   I  th ink  I  jus t  20 

wanted to  say be fore  we proceed,  I  th ink  jus t  f rom one ’s  

own exper ience,  I  mean,  when i t  comes to  the  dep loyment  

o f  secur i t y  in  compan ies  and government  depar tments  

there  wou ld  even be a  record  tha t  i s  kept  when secur i t y  

guard  repor t s  fo r  du t ies  they wou ld  s ign  somewhere  and  
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when they leave and somebody e lse  s ta r t s .   They wou ld  do  

tha t .    

So i t  ought  to  have been very  easy fo r  GNS to  

produce such documents  i f  they  d id ,  they had  ac tua l l y  

p rov ided the  se rv ices  and ac tua l l y  they wou ld  have had – 

they wou ld  have  asked the  compan ies  who might  have 

done the  work  fo r  them a lso  to  say jus t  p rov ide  the  names 

o f  those employees and they cou ld  even prov ide ,  tha t  i s  

GNS,  proof  o f  the  money tha t  they pa id  to  those 

compan ies .   A l l  o f  tha t  shou ld  have been easy i f  indeed  10 

they had ac tua l l y  subcont rac ted  and work  had been done.   

I  wou ld  have imag ined tha t  a l l  o f  tha t  shou ld  be  easy,  

shou ld  have been easy fo r  them to  produce,  to  say here  

are  amounts  tha t  we were  pay ing  month ly  to  company A ,  

company B ,  company C.   Each o f  whom – each o f  wh ich  

prov ided x  number  o f  secur i t y  personne l  dur ing  tha t  per iod .   

Okay,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Todd,  jus t  to  f in ish  o f f  on  the  r i sk 20 

commi t tee  wh ich  you dea l  w i th  a t  paragraph 49 a t  page 503  

and i t  goes ove r  to  504 a t  parag raph C.   You ment ioned 

there  tha t  what  the  commi t tee  reso lved is  tha t  the  mat te r  

shou ld  be  re fer red  to  the  Arb i t ra t ion  Foundat ion  o f  

Southern  A f r i ca  fo r  Reso lu t ion  p receded by  med ia t ion ,  i s  
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tha t  cor rec t?  

MR TODD:   Yes,  tha t  i s  what  the  m inute  shows the  

commi t tee  dec ided.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  happened a f te r  tha t?  

MR TODD:   Ja ,  so  th is  I  –  I  had g lean th is  f rom the  

documents  bu t  i t  i s  apparent  tha t  tha t  d id  no t  happen,  i t  

was a  s t range suggest ion  tha t  i t  wou ld  somehow tha t  the 

Arb i t ra t ion  Foundat ion  wou ld  produce a  reso lu t ion  un less  

they –  bu t ,  in  any event ,  what  happened was  tha t  in 

December  2013 ins tead what  Transnet  d id  was they  went  to  10 

f resh  a t to rneys,  an  independen t  law f i rm to  ask  the  

quest ion  whether  Transnet  rece ived va lue  fo r  money fo r  

the  se rv i ces  tha t  i t  had pa id  fo r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Th is  was –  was th is  s im i la r  to  what  

happened to  your  law f i rm in  regard  to  Mr  Gama’s  

d ismissa l  mat te r,  Mr  Todd,  because  as  I  reca l l ,  in  regard  to  

h is  d i smissa l  ma t te r  you r  law f i rm had been represent ing  

Transnet  and had  g iven cer ta in  adv ices to  Transnet  bu t  a t  

a  cer ta in  s tage Transnet  then dec ided to  te rm inate  i t s  

mandate ,  your  mandate  and then they went  to  another  law 20 

f i rm or  o ther  law f i rms in  te rms  o f  seek ing  to  have the  

mat te r  se t t led  and th is  seems to  be  someth ing  s im i la r.  

MR TODD:   Yes,  perhaps,  Cha i rpe rson.   I t  i s  an  ind ica t ion  

tha t  Transnet  wanted to  ask  another  law f i rm whe ther  o r  

no t  the  quest ion  tha t  they pu t  in  the i r  b r i e f  was d id  
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Transnet  rece ive  va lue  fo r  money and was the  payment  a t  

95 .6  m i l l ion  j us t i f ied ,  i s  the  quest ion  they ask  and – I  

mean,  the  quest i on  is  d i f fe ren t ly  fo rmula ted ,  i f  I  may jus t  

say,  what  had been sued fo r,  fo r  Transnet ,  and the  c la im 

tha t  had been brought  by  our  f i rm on beha l f  o f  Transnet  

was the  cont rac t  was inva l id  f rom a  procurement  

p rospect ive  and  then i t  su f fe red  a l l  the  var ious fu r the r  

de fec ts  tha t  i t  su f fe red  and serv ices  were  no t  rendered.  

 We had sa id  look,  there  may be some g rounds fo r  

p roduc ing  the  c la im aga ins t  p roo f  o f  serv ices  ac tua l l y  10 

rendered but  th is  seems to  be  the  board  say ing  we l l ,  le t  us  

ask  somebody e lse  i f  you  can say tha t  the  payment  was  

jus t i f ied .   That  was the  mandate  g iven to  another  l aw f i rm,  

anyway.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You then go  on to  ment ion  tha t  y9ou  

a t tended a  meet ing  w i th  these a t to rneys,  HNR,  and 

perhaps I  cou ld  then take  you to  paragraph 53.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   They,  HNR,  br ie fed  a  secur i t y  20 

consu l tan t .   Who was he?  

MR TODD:   Ja ,  they exp la in  i t  in  the  repor t .   So the  – I  do 

no t  know th is  person but  h is  c redent ia ls  a re  se t  ou t  by  

HNR At to rneys as  somebody proper ly  qua l i f ied  to  ana lyse  

the  repor ts  tha t  had been prov ided  to  Transnet  by  GNS and 
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to  comment  on  cer ta in  key ques t ions tha t  they asked o f  

th is  spec ia l i s t  secur i t y  consu l tan t .   So they e f fec t i ve l y  

engaged an exper t  in  secur i t y  serv ices  to  look  a t  what  had 

been done here  and answer  var ious quest ions tha t  they se t  

ou t .    

And i f  I  –  I  mean,  they then dea l  w i th  tha t  in  the i r  

repor t  and I  th ink  there  is  a  repor t  in  –  I  have a t tached to   

my a f f idav i t  the  repor t  –  the  fu l l  repor t  o f  tha t  secur i t y  

consu l tan t  bu t  the  key prov is ions  o f  i t  and the  quest ions 

tha t  were  spec i f i ca l l y  asked are  a lso  summar i sed  in  the 10 

repor t  f rom HNR at to rneys and tha t  i s  p robab ly  the  eas ies t  

way to  look  a t  what  th is  secur i t y  consu l tan t  ac tua l l y  sa id .   I  

do  no t  know,  I  can re fer  to  any page but  tha t  i s  a t  page  

762.   A t  page 762,  th is  is  in  the  repor t  o f  HNM At to rneys,  I  

do  no t  know why  I  sa id  HNR,  i t  shou ld  be  HNM,  I  th ink ,  

A t to rneys.  

And tha t  re f lec ts  –  there  were  s i x  quest ions,  they  

say we posed s i x  quest ions to  Per i tus ,  i s  the  name o f  the 

spec ia l i s t  f i rm tha t  John Pearson worked fo r.  

1 .  Do the  repor ts  re f lec t  tha t  serv i ces  were  20 

prov ided?  

That  i s  the  f i rs t  quest ion ,  do  the  repor t s  re f lec t  tha t  

serv i ces  were  p rov ided?  He says:  

“Yes,  pa r t l y. ”  

I s  h is  answer  and he then exp la ins  what  was p rov ided in  
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ind ica tes  tha t  work  was ac tua l l y  done and what  i s  no t  

shown and then the  second quest ion  a t  page 763 says:  

“Would  the  serv ices  as  se t  ou t  in  the  repor ts  

rep resent ,  in  your  op in ion ,  what  one might  expect  to  

have been prov ided g iven the  mandates?”  

“No”  

I s  h is  conc lus ion  there .  

“Repor ts  were  nonspec i f i c ,  vague,  no  ev idence o f  

in te rna l  invo lvement  o f  Transnet  employees,  

contents  were  more  o f ten  than no t  con jec tured w i th  10 

base less  op in ions,  never  ind i ca t ion  tha t  any o f  the  

in te l l igence-based in fo rmat ion  was proper ly  

p ro f i led . ”  

Dah-de-dah-de-dah.   So the  answer  to  tha t  quest ion  is  no .   

There  were  s i x  quest ions.   So the  f i rs t  one was yes,  par t l y.   

The second quest ion ,  no .   The th i rd  quest ion :  

“Would  the  leve l  o f  repor t ing  i n  te rms o f  de ta i l  o f  

in fo rmat ion  prov ided rep resent ,  in  your  op in ion ,  

what  one might  expected to  have been prov ided in  

repor ts  o f  th is  na ture?  I f  no t ,  p lease e labora te . ”  20 

“No,  they d id  no t  conta in  secur i t y  ob jec t i ves”   

And then there  is  a  long exp lana t ion  o f  what  they  d id  no t  

do .  

“Do the  repor t  re f lec t  an  account  o f  serv i ces?”  

Th is  i s  the  fou r th  quest ion .  
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“…which ,  i f  rendered,  wou ld  represent  in  you r  

op in ion  cont rac tua l  compl iance?”  

“No. ”  

They pursued the  agreement  and they say no ,  there  was no  

cont rac tua l  compl iance.   Quest ion  f i ve :  

“On the  bas is  o f  the  content  o f  the  repor ts  can you 

ident i f y  any apparent  mater ia l  gaps in  serv i ces  tha t  

the  serv i ce  prov ider  was mandated to  p rov ide?  Can  

you ident i f y  mate r ia l  gaps?“  

“Yes po l i ce  CAS were  fa lse ly  repor ted  and d id  no t  10 

ex i s t .   There  was no feedback in  c r im ina l  cases. ”  

And they go  on to  de f ine  tha t .   Now,  I  mean,  tha t  i s  a  

p re t ty  mate r ia l  conc lus ion .   They  say yes,  these repor ts  

say we opened cases w i th  the  po l i ce  and here  are  a l l  the  

case numbers  and when you read  the  repor t  in  any de ta i l  

they  l i s t  a  s ign i f ican t  number  o f  po l i ce  case numbers  wh ich  

jus t  do  no t  ex is t  and are  fa lse .   And then:  

“Would  you render  an  op in ion  represent ing  an  

overa l l  assessment  o f  the  serv ices  rendered based 

on the  contents  o f  the  repor t s?”  20 

“Repor t  wr i t ing  i s  poor. ”  

E tce tera ,  e tce tera .   So e f fec t i ve ly  they h i red  an  exper t  to  

look  a t  whethe r,  you know,  what  the  repor ts  show about  the  

leve l  o f  secur i t y  serv i ces  prov ided  and overwhe lm ing ly  the  

exper t  says someth ing  was done,  peop le  t rave l led  to  
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cer ta in  s i tes ,  the re  were  photographs a t tached to  cer ta in  

repor ts  so  there  is  some ev idence tha t  someth ing  was done  

but  no th ing  l i ke  the  cont rac t  contempla ted .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then what  was the  conc lus ion  then o f  

th is  repor t?  

MR TODD:    Wel l ,  what  these a t to rneys then conc lude,  

ra the r  ex t rao rd inar i l y ,  in  my op in ion ,  bu t  they conc lude,  

they say the  fo l low ing,  i f  I  am –  and I  am jus t  summar is ing ,  

paraphras ing  wha t  they say.   They say,  f i rs t  quest ion :  

“We t r ied  to  f ind  ou t  i f ,  f rom GNS,  i f  they  ac tua l l y  10 

cou ld  prov ide  any  ev idence o f  pe rsonne l  dep loyed. ”  

So we had seen the  request  f rom Transnet ,  we had been 

to ld  they had g i ven no in fo rmat ion ,  we wro te  to ,  a t  that  

s tage,  Werksmans A t to rneys who  were  represent ing  GNS 

and they ignored us .   They ignored  our  ca l l s ,  they  gave us  

no th ing  and in  l igh t  o f  the  l ong h is to ry  o f  th i s  mat te r  we 

have got  no  reason to  be l ieve  –  we do not  th ink  we a re  

go ing  to  ge t  anyth ing  f rom them.  

 So tha t  i s  the  f i rs t  ra ther ,  in  my v iew,  ra ther  a  

c ruc ia l  pa r t  o f  the  repor t  wh ich  says we l l ,  no  ev idence in  20 

tha t  sense o f  warm bod ies .  

 The second quest ion  is ,  they  say we l l ,  we have 

looked a t  th is  compara t ive  ana lys is  o f  cab le  the f t  dur ing  

GNS,  dur ing  the  new cont rac tor ,  we have looked a t  Mr  

Mthethwa’s  repor t ,  we have ex tended i t  beyond,  we cannot  
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reach any conc lus ion  based on a  compara t ive  ana lys i s  tha t  

ac tua l l y  these serv ices  were  prov ided.  

 Then they look a t  the  th i rd  th ing  and say we l l ,  

based on our  i n te rv iews w i th  s ta f f  members  and the i r  

in te rv iews tha t  they spec i f i ca l l y  ment ion ,  the  in te rv iewed 

Mr  Gama who emphas ised to  them how the  consequences,  

the  f inanc ia l  consequences and the  losses su f fe red  when 

cab le  the f t  occurs  i s  huge and i t  is  very  d i f f i cu l t  to  quant i f y  

because o f  a l l  the  knock-on e f fec ts .   So Mr  Gama’s  

ev idence say they reca l l  f rom the i r  in te rv iew wi th  h im was 10 

to  say tha t  cab le  the f t  has huge consequences fo r  

Transnet .  

 Mr  Mthethwa sa id  tha t  ac tua l l y  the  cab le  the f t  

s ta t i s t i cs  were  no t  bad or  qu i te  good o r  modera te ly  good 

dur ing  GNS’  cont rac t  and tha t  Mr  Ms iga la  sa id  tha t  a f te r  

the  h i jacked t ra in  c rew member  had d isappeared  w i th  a  

veh ic le ,  they d id  no t  have another  inc ident  l i ke  tha t  and i t  

had been a  good th ing  fo r  Transne t  to  have add i t iona l  t ra in  

c rew suppor t .  

 So they desc r ibe  tha t  and they say essent ia l l y  on  20 

the  bas i s  o f  tha t  we conc lude tha t  Transnet  on  ba lance d id  

ge t  va lue  on  cab le  the f t ,  we cannot  say  tha t  i t  go t  any  

va lue  on  pro tec t i ng  Karsene yard  or  anyth ing  l i ke  tha t ,  the 

m idd le  por t ion ,  le t  us  ca l l  i t ,  o f  the  cont rac t ,  the  f i rs t  

ex tens ion .   And as  regard  t ra in  c rew,  on  the  bas is  o f  what  
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Mr  Ms iga la  sa id ,  what  va lue  can  you p lace on a  human 

l i fe?   We conc lude tha t  va lue  was g iven to  Transnet  fo r  the 

money pa id .   That  i s  the  conc lus ion  tha t  the  a t to rneys  

reached.   And they sa id  on  ba lance then,  Transnet  go t  

va lue .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  you summar i se  in  parag raph 55  

a t  page 505.    A t  page 506 you then go on to  ment ion  tha t  

the  r i sk  commi t tee  then he ld  a  meet ing ,  i t  was p resented 

w i th  these f ind ings and i t  reso lved a t  the  r i sk  commi t tee ,  

tha t  the  l i t iga t ion  aga ins t  Aba loz i  shou ld  no t  be  pursued.   10 

MR TODD:   Ja ,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Par t  o f  what  i s  changed is  –  and  maybe 

i t  i s  someth ing  tha t  I  ment ioned ear l ie r,  i s  in te rna l l y  

Transnet  i s  rea l l y  go ing  qu i te  fa r  to  do  –  to  i t se l f  do  what  

one wou ld  have thought  they wou ld  ca l l  upon GNS to  do ,  

day prov ide  us  w i th  p roof .   But  they are  do ing  a l l  o f  that  

themse lves and i t  i s  l i ke  they want  to  f ind  a  bas is  to  

w i thdraw the  c la im.    

 I  know tha t  when  we were  dea l ing  w i th  the  quest ion  20 

o f  the  se t t lement  o f  Mr  Gama’s  d i smissa l  d ispute ,  a lso  one 

got  the  impress ion  tha t  there  was qu i te  a  ser ious e f fo r t  to  

make sure  tha t  he  was re ins ta ted ,  no t  mat te r  what .   Yes,  

okay,  Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   And then a t  pa ragraph 57  
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you  say tha t  the  Transnet  met  on  the  same day and you 

a t tach  a  copy o f  the  m inute .   Cou ld  I  take  you there ,  

p lease?  That  annexure  is  LL a t  page 787.  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You w i l l  see  tha t  what  you a t tached  

to  your  a f f idav i t  was rea l l y  an  ex t rac t ,  parag raph 7 .4  under  

the  head ing  Board  R isk  Commi t tee ,  bu t  i f  you  drop down to  

7 .4 .3  you w i l l  see  tha t  i t  i s  cu t  o f f :  

“One o f  the  members  ind ica ted  tha t  the  commi t tee  

had approved the  f ina l i sa t ion  o f  the  Aba loz i  mat te r  10 

based on the  f ind ings f rom an independent  

med ia tor.   Moreover,  management  had a l so  

in fo rmed…”  

And then there  is  no th ing  a f te r  tha t .   Mr  Todd,  you have 

managed to  procure  the  fu l l  m inu tes  o f  tha t  meet ing  and i t  

i s  apparent  f rom the  fu l l  m inu tes  and I  w i l l  hand up them in  

a  moment  tha t  the  m inutes  went  on  to  s ta te  tha t :  

“Management  had a lso  in fo rmed the  commi t tee  tha t  

the  cr im ina l  mat te r  on  Aba loz i  was  w i thdrawn by the  

NPA due to  a  lack  o f  in fo rmat ion  to  p rosecute .   The 20 

commi t tee  requested management  to  compi le  a  

lessons lea rn t  document  f rom the  Aba loz i  

cha l lenges and then the  board  no ted the  update . ”  

So the  rea l  dec is ion ,  the  ac tua l  dec i s ion  was taken by  the  

commi t tee  and s imp ly  no ted  by  the  board .    
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 Mr  Cha i rperson,  i f  I  cou ld  jus t  hand up th is  

document  wh ich  we w i l l  fo rmal ly  add in to  the  exh ib i t  to  be 

marked and to  be  p laced a f te r  page 787 marked A and B ,  i t  

inc ludes the  m iss ing  sentence tha t  I  have jus t  read.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR TODD:    Wou ld  you g i ve  i t  to  Mr  Todd as  we l l?   A l r igh t ,  

then …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  th is  w i l l  be  page 787A and 

787B? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  Mr  Cha i rperson.    10 

CHAIRPERSON:    You know,  your  handwr i t ten  looks to  me 

l i ke  75A.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  beg your  pardon.   787,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   Now,  Mr  Todd,  le t  us 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  I  am sor ry.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  you say do  they rep lace the  cur ren t  

787?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l ,  787,  as  i t  s tands …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  name.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I s  cu t  o f f ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l ,  i t  i s  …[ in tervenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Or  shou ld  we rep lace i t  o r  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  suppose the  on ly  impor tan t  page is  

ac tua l l y  787B,  Cha i rperson,  because tha t  conta ins  the  

m iss ing  sentence .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   So what  do  you say f ina l l y  do  we  

take out  787A or  do  you say we jus t  rep lace …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  suppose tha t  perhaps cou ld  be  the  

eas ies t  way to  do  i t  jus t  to  add one  page.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  i s  no t  787A tha t  I  have re fe r red  to .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  the  787B,  we cou ld  tu rn  tha t  in to  

787A.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And i t  then inc ludes the  m iss ing  

sentence and on ly  one page needs  to  be  added.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   So the  one you had marked  

as  787B becomes  787A.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  i s  cor rec t ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  we s lo t  i t  a f te r  page 788.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Comes a f te r  the  ex is t ing  787.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  w i l l  be  marked A .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Ja ,  i t  goes up to  –  the  m inutes  

s ta r t  on  787 and then go up to  788,  hey?  Ja .   788.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  I  beg your  pardon.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  we s lo t  i t  a f te r  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then i t  w i l l  be  –  or  shou ld  i t  be  

788A? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  th ink  i t  i s  p robab ly  be t te r  to  be  –  

upon re f lec t ion ,  and I  am ter r ib ly  sor ry,  788A.  

CHAIRPERSON:    A ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Then maybe fo r  the  record  you  10 

can jus t  p lace  on  record  what  the  e f fec t  i s  o f  do ing  th is  so  

tha t  whoever  reads the  t ranscr ip t  can fo l low.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So ,  Mr  Todd,  jus t  to  re t race our  

s teps.   I f  I  cou ld  ask  you go to  787 .  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see the re  is  a  repor t  o f  the  r i sk  

commi t tee  and i t  ends o f f  w i th  a  sentence say ing  tha t :  

“One o f  the  members  ind ica ted  tha t  the  commi t tee  

had approved the  f ina l i sa t ion  o f  the  Aba loz i  mat te r  

based on the  f ind ings f rom an independent  20 

med ia tor.   Moreover,  management  had a l so  

in fo rmed…”  

And i f  you cou ld  t hen go to  what  i s  now marked page 788A,  

i t  con t inues:  

“…in fo rmed the  commi t tee  tha t  the  cr im ina l  mat te r  
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on  Aba loz i  was w i thdrawn by the  NPA due to  a  lack  

o f  in fo rmat ion  to  p rosecute .   The commi t tee  

requested management  to  compi le  a  lessons learn t  

document  f rom the  Aba loz i  cha l lenges and tha t  the  

board  no ted the  update . ”  

MR TODD:   Yes,  I  can conf i rm tha t  tha t  i s  f rom the  fu l l  

vers ion  o f  the  approved minutes  p rov ided to  us  by Transnet  

and tha t  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Cha i rpe rson,  why I  asked  fo r  th is  

and have gone to  the  t roub le  o f  add ing  i t ,  i s  I  th ink  i t  m igh t  10 

be  an impor tan t  fac t  fo r  the  purposes o f  the  mater ia l  fac ts  

o f  th is  case,  tha t  i t  i s  rea l l y  the  r i sk  commi t tee  tha t  took 

the  dec is ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then tha t  tha t  i s  no ted  by  the  

board .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  thought  i t  was impor tan t  to  add th is  

page.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  no ,  I  th ink  i t  i s  …[ in te rvenes]  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  tha t  becomes c lea r  to  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  i t  i s  impor tan t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   Now,  Mr  Todd,  the  dec is ion  

is  taken to  w i thdraw f rom the  l i t iga t ion  and then a t  

parag raph 58 a t  page 507 o f  you r  a f f idav i t  you go on to  
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exp la in  tha t  a  se t t lement  agreement  was then conc luded,  i s  

tha t  cor rec t?   

MR TODD:    Yes  and i t  para l le l s  w i th  the  prev ious  mat te r  

on  wh ich  I  gave ev idence but  i t  was indeed the  case tha t  

th is  se t t lement  agreement  too  d id  no t  invo lve  the  a t to rney 

or  Transnet  d id  no t  invo lve  the  l i t iga t ion  a t to rneys who  

were  represent ing  i t  in  th is  H igh  Cour t  l i t i ga t ion  when they  

negot ia ted  and conc luded th is  se t t lement  agreement .   I t  

was conc luded w i thout  our  adv ice .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  se t t lement  ag reement  you f ind  10 

as  annexure  MM at  page 789 and the  te rms o f  i t  a re  se t  ou t  

a t  790 where  i t  records  tha t :  

“Transnet  hereby w i thd raws i t s  ac t ion  aga ins t  

Aba loz i .   Aba loz i  hereby w i thdraws i t s  counterc la im 

aga ins t  Transnet .   Transnet  w i l l  upon s ignatu re  

hereof  i ssue a  med ia  s ta tement  in  the  fo rm as  

agreed and a t tached here to  marked A . ”  

And then o f  some s ign i f i cance,  4 :  

“Transnet  w i l l  pay  a l l  the  lega l  cos ts  incu r red  by  

Aba loz i ,  i t s  d i rec to rs  and the  co founders  and  20 

d i rec tors  o f  GNS on an a t to rney and own c l ien t  

sca le .   Terms o f  the  se t t lement  agreement  a re  

conf ident ia l  and shou ld  no t  be  d isc losed to  any one 

o f  the  par t ies ,  to  any th i rd  pa r ty. ”  

Cou ld  I  jus t  ask  you to  comment  on  7Cou ld  I  jus t  ask  you  
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to  comment  on  paragraph 4  o f  the  prov is ion  dea l i ng  w i th  

costs?  

MR TODD:   Ja ,  i t  i s  unusua l  in  two respects .   I  mean,  the  

f i rs t  i s  tha t  i t  purpor ts  to  re fe r  to  costs  o f  no t  on ly  the  

company tha t  was pa r ty  to  the  l i t iga t ion  bu t  a lso  i t s  

d i rec tors  and the  co founders  and d i rec tors  o f  GNS 

suggest ing  o ther  ind iv idua ls ’ lega l  cos ts  wou ld  be  covered,  

no t  jus t  Aba loz i ’s  bu t  I  do  no t  know to  what  ex ten t  tha t  was 

in tended or  p layed a  ro le .   As I  say,  we were  no t  asked to  

adv ise  on  i t .   So  i t  i s  unusua l .  10 

 And then obv ious ly,  an  a t to rney  and own c l ien t  

sca le  i s  what  i s  genera l l y  re fe r red  to  as  a  pun i t i ve  sca le  as  

i f  Transnet  i t  was –  somehow shou ld  be  pun ished fo r  

hav ing  conce ived  o f  a  case l i ke  th is  in  the  f i rs t  p lace .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  as  i f  Transnet  has done someth ing  

rep rehens ib le .  

MR TODD:   Bu t  there  is  one o ther  po in t  tha t  I  jus t  make 

here ,  i s  tha t  Aba loz i  d id  w i thdraw i t s  counterc la ims and 

tha t  i s  impor tan t .   I t  w i l l  appear  in  a  moment  impor tan t  fo r  

what  Transnet  subsequent ly  d id  to  se t t le  the  lega l  cos ts .  20 

And jus t ,  as  fa r  as  the  lega l  cos ts  a re  concerned,  

when you se t t le  H igh  Cour t  l i t i ga t ion  l i ke  th is ,  th is  i s  a  

mat te r  wh ich  had  on ly  been p leaded.   So any taxed b i l l  o f  

cos ts  i s  go ing  to  be  the  cost  even on an a t to rney and own 

c l ien t  sca le  consequent  on  p lead ing  the  case,  tak ing  
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ins t ruc t ions and dra f t ing  the  p lead ings and so  on  and so  

fo r th .   There  were  no  p repara t ion  fo r  t r ia l  o r  t r ia l  in  th is  

mat te r.   In  fac t  d iscovery  had occur red  but  on  a  very  

l im i ted  bas i s  and tha t  i s  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And ac tua l l y  there  m ight  no t  have been 

many w i tness s ta tements  tha t  had been taken a l ready.  

MR TODD:   I t  –  ja ,  I  w i l l  comment  in  a  moment  when we 

dea l  w i th  the  lega l  cos ts  themse lves tha t  were  

subsequent ly  pa id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   Do you by  any chance know whose 10 

s ignature  tha t  i s  tha t  s igned on beha l f  o f  Transnet?   You  

might  o r  m ight  no t  know,  Mr  Todd?  

MR TODD:   I t  i s  cons i s ten t  w i th  o ther  documents  s igned by  

Mr  Mole fe .   I t  appears  to  be  s igned  by  Mr  Mole fe .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:   I  am not  a  handwr i t ten  exper t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR TODD:   Bu t  i t  appears  to  be  s igned by  Mr  Mole fe  

h imse l f .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  20 

MR TODD:   And the  o ther  s ignatu re  i s  leg ib le ,  appears  to  

be  S iph iwe Ayanda.   But  tha t ,  aga in ,  I  am not  a  handwr i t ten  

exper t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  yes .  

MR TODD:   I t  appears  to  say leg ib ly  tha t  tha t  i s  the  person 
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who s igned tha t  document .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then,  Mr  Todd,  you go on in  your  

a f f idav i t  a t  pa ragraph 60 to  re fer  to  two le t te rs  f rom 

Aba loz i ,  the  one dated the  8  September  and the  o ther  the  

16  October.   Cou ld  you jus t  dea l  w i th  those le t te rs?   You 

f ind  them a t  page  791 and then 793.  

 So these are  le t te rs  tha t  were  sen t  to  Transnet  a f te r  

the  se t t lement  ag reement .  

MR TODD:   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The se t t lement  ag reement  was  

…[ in tervenes]  

MR TODD:   The se t t lement  agreement  was  s igned 

apparent ly  on  the  4  August  2014 and the  fo l low ing,  w i th in  a  

month ,  Aba loz i  –  o r  a t  leas t  somebody on beha l f  o f  Aba loz i  

wr i tes  a  le t te r  to  Transnet ,  to  Mr  Mole fe .   And th is  i s  a t  

page 791 say ing :  

“The fo l low ing shou ld  be  taken  in to  account  in  

f ina l i s ing  the  lump sum payab le  to  Aba loz i  in  fu l l  

and f ina l  se t t lement  Aba loz i ’ s  lega l  cos ts . ”  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry ,  you sa id  791?  

MR TODD:   791.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh you a re  read ing  f rom paragraph 2?  

MR TODD:   Paragraph 2 ,  yes .   Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   The le t te r  i s  addressed to  Mr  
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B r ian  Mole fe .  

MR TODD:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And i t  comes f rom – the  le t te rheads are  

those o f  Aba loz i .  

MR TODD:   Aba loz i  R isk  Serv ices .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR TODD:   And i t  appears  to  be  p ick ing  up  on the  

ob l iga t ion  in  paragraph 4  o f  the  se t t lement  agreement  fo r  

Transnet  to  pay  a l l  lega l  cos ts  incu r red  by  Aba loz i  and 

var ious pa r t ies .   So i t  says :  10 

“The fo l low ing shou ld  be  taken  in to  account  in  

f ina l i s ing  the  lump sum payab le  to  Aba loz i  in  fu l l  

and f ina l  se t t lement  o f  Aba loz i ’s  l ega l  cos ts  in  the  

ac t ion  ins t i tu ted  by  Transnet  and damages 

c la imab le  in  connect ion  w i th…”  

And then they re fer  to  o ther  ma t te rs  wh ich  –  ne i ther  o f  

wh ich  I  th ink  was ever  pursued.   But  they then  say in  

parag raph 3 :  

“The essence o f  th is  i s ,  in  our  v iew,  an  amount  o f  

R40 mi l l ion  w i l l  be  reasonab le  compensat ion  to  20 

Aba loz i . ”  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Todd,  I  th ink  the  contents  

o f  tha t  le t te r  a re  impor tan t  in  the i r  en t i re ty.   Cou ld  you jus t  

read i t  in to  the  record ,  the  le t te r  a t  791? 

MR TODD:   Yes.   So i t  say  –  i t  i s  wr i t ten  w i thout  p re jud i ce  
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and i t  says :  

“Dear  Br ian…”  

Which  I  take  to  be  re fer r i ng  to  Mr  Mole fe .  

1 .  We re fer  to  ou r  le t te r  o f  20  August  2014.  

The fo l low ing shou ld  be  taken  in to  account  in  

f ina l i s ing  the  lump sum payab le  to  Aba loz i  in  fu l l  

and f ina l  se t t lement  o f  Aba loz i ’s  l ega l  cos ts  in  the  

ac t ion  ins t i tu ted  by  Transnet  and damages 

c la imab le  in  connect ion  w i th :  

 2 .1  The pend ing  rev iew app l ica t ion ,  and  10 

 2 .2  The pend ing  defamat ion  c la im.  

 3 .  Our  v iew is  tha t  amount  o f  R40 mi l l ion  w i l l   

be  reasonab le  compensat ion  to  Aba loz i  in  

th is  regard .  

 4 .  As th is  mat te r  has been d ragg ing  on fo r  too   

long we need your  response w i th in  seven  

days f rom today ’s  da te  fa i l ing  wh ich  we w i l l  

have no cho ice  bu t  to  ask  our  lawyers  to  

i ssue the  b i l l  o f  cos ts  and proceed w i th  the 

pend ing  c la ims.   Shou ld  our  p roposed 20 

se t t lement  amount  be  acceptab le ,  i t  shou ld  

be  depos i ted  i n to  our  a t to rneys ’ t rus t  

account  as  fo l lows. ”  

And i t  g ives  the  de ta i l s  o f  Werksmans A t to rneys bank  

account .  
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  “We awai t  to  hear  f rom you. ”  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now,  Mr  Todd,  perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  

ask  you to  comment  on  what  you know o f  th is  so-ca l led  

pend ing  rev iew app l ica t ion  and pend ing  defamat ion  c la im.   

What  d id  they invo lve?  

MR TODD:   Wel l ,  I  do  no t  know – I  w i l l  te l l  you  what  I  am 

ab le  to  say bu t  as  regards the  rev iew app l i ca t ion ,  I  be l ieve  

the  f ind ings in  t he  d i sc ip l inary  hear ing  wh ich  resu l ted  in  

the  d ismissa l  o f  Mr  Senemela  and Mr  Kanya.   An ar t i c le  10 

was pub l i shed in  a  newspaper  re fer r ing  to  those f ind ings,  

and Aba loz i  be l ieved,  . . . [ Ind is t inc t ]  sa id  i t  was go ing  to  do 

two th ings,  one was i t  was go ing  to  rev iew the  f ind ings o f  

the  d isc ip l inary  cha i rperson,  Aba loz i  as  an  ex terna l  par ty  

was go ing  to  b r ing  an  app l i ca t ion  to  rev iew and se t  as ide  

the  d isc ip l ina ry  cha i rperson ’s  f ind ings,  and second ly,  they 

were  go ing  to  sue Transnet  because they he ld  Transnet  

respons ib le  fo r  the  pub l i ca t ion  o f  the  d i sc ip l inary  mat te r.   I  

don ’ t  reca l l  whether  a  rev iew app l ica t ion  was eve r  b rought  

o r  i f  i t  was,  i t  cer ta in ly  wasn ’ t  pursued,  and I  don ’ t  be l ieve  20 

tha t  de format ion  proceed ings were  eve r  ins t i tu ted .   I  made 

the  –  cer ta in ly,  I  don ’ t  be l ieve ,  to  the  best  o f  my 

knowledge,  our  f i rm cer ta in ly  wasn ’ t  b r ie fed  in  any  

de format ion  proceed ings,  there ’s  no  re ference  to  any  

proceed ings tha t  have been ins t i tu ted .   So,  my –  as  fa r  as  I  
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can  te l l  th is  i s  re fe rence to  a  th rea tened c la im ra ther  than  

one tha t  i s  cu r ren t ly  pend ing  befo re  the  Cour t s ,  bu t  I ’m  not  

ab le  to  say more  than tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and then you ’ re  a lso  go ing  to  

dea l  w i th  the  le t te r  o f  the  16 t h  o f  October,  tha t  you  f ind  at  

793.   

MR TODD:    Yes,  so  there  is  m iss ing  cor respondence 

because tha t  re fe rs  to  a  response f rom Mr  Mole fe  da ted the  

29 t h  o f  September  and I  d id  no t  have a  – don ’ t  have a  fu l l  

p ic tu re  o f  a l l  o f  those –  or  a  fu l l  record  o f  tha t  –  the  10 

miss ing  co r respondence but  th is  i s  the  s tance o f  Aba loz i  

a f te r  Transnet  responded and i t  says  –  i f  I  shou ld  read th is  

one too ,  Cha i rpe rson?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    Aga in ,  

“Dear  Br ian ,  you r  le t te r  da ted  29  September  2014 

re fers .   1 )  In  re fe rence to  ou r  le t te r  da ted  8  

September  2014,  we have ind i ca ted  tha t  we wou ld 

request  our  a t to rney to  i ssue the  b i l l  o f  cos t  and 

proceed w i th  the  rev iew app l ica t ion ,  de format ion  20 

c la ims and the  D i rec tors /Employees pa in  and 

su f fe r i ng  c la ims,  shou ld  our  p roposed se t t lement  

no t  be  acceptab le ” .  

 So,  i t  does appear  tha t  they  are  th rea ten ing  

add i t iona l  p roceed ings tha t  haven ’ t  ye t  been b rought  o r  
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cer ta in ly,  no t  p roceeded w i th .    

“As  th is  mat te r  has been dragg ing  fo r  so  long,   our  

cons idera t ion  was tha t  a  lump sum wou ld  e l im ina te 

any fu r ther  lega l  p rocesses and thus,  sw i f t ly  

conc lude th is  mat te r.   3 )   I n  l igh t  o f  Transnet ’s  own 

admiss ions,  a f te r  appo in t ing  an  ex te rna l  law f i rm 

wh ich  conducted a  v igorous  and exhaust ive  

invest iga t ion  and  conc luded tha t  we were  un jus t l y  

persecuted” .  

 Now,  tha t ’s  a  ra ther  s t range th ing  to  –  so r ry,  I ’m  10 

read ing ,  

“4 )   Rest i tu t ion  and compensat ion  wou ld  be  a  due 

remedy fo r  the  de format ion  Aba loz i ,  i t s  employees 

and D i rec to rs .   5 )  I t  shou ld  a l so  be  noted that  

p re jud ice  was a l so  car r i ed  over  to  compan ies  wh ich  

had the  D i rec tors  o f  Aba loz i  as  members  or  

D i rec tors  in  the i r  compan ies  as  a l l  those compan ies  

were  p laced on Transnet ’s  l i s t  o f  exc luded 

tendere rs .   Th is  cou ld  pose fu r the r  l i t i ga t ion  aga ins t  

Transnet ,  and 6 )   The consequence o f  Transnet ’s  20 

ac t ions,  inc lud ing  the  cr im ina l  charges have caused  

i r revers ib le  a f fec ts ,  wh ich  Aba loz i  and i t s  D i rec tors  

have su f fe red  in  the  bus iness arena.   Reputa t ions 

o f  i t s  D i rec tors  and o f f i c ia ls  were  severe l y  ta in ted  

render ing  them unemployab le  and not  t rus twor thy  in  
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the  sphere  o f  secur i t y  se rv i ces .   The nature  o f  the  

company ’s  core  serv i ce  is  i t  requ i res  in tegr i t y  and 

honesty,  and then ,  7 )   The fo l low ing were  taken in to  

account  when cons ider ing  the  proposed amount  and 

exc lude the  counterc la ims tha t  were  sub jec t  to  

se t t lement  agreement  on  the  4 t h  o f  August ” .  

 And then the re ’s  var ious fu r the r  p rov is ions wh ich  

suggest  very  la rge  counter  c la ims wou ld  s t i l l  be  brought  

a f te r  –  inc lud ing  a  R700mi l l ion  de format ion  c la ims and they  

then say,  the  R40mi l l ion  a t  paragraph 8 ,   10 

“The R40mi l l ion  proposa l  o f  se t t lement  was  

be l ieved to  be  a  fa i r  res t i tu t ion  and compensat ion  

inc lus ive  o f  the  lega l  cos ts  incu r red  in  a l l  mat te rs  

w i th  Transnet ” .  

 G iven the  ex t ra  in fo rmat ion  requ i red  by  Transnet  in  

response,  a  le t te r  da ted  29 September  2014,  

“And the  de ta i l  o f  los t  revenue prov ided in  th is  

communica t ion ,  we th ink  tha t  a  se t t lement  o f  

R60mi l l ion  wou ld  be  jus t i f iab le .   I t  wou ld  be  prudent  

to  have th is  mat te r  conc luded exped i t ious ly  so  as  to  20 

avo id  any fu r ther  lega l  and consequent ia l  cos ts ,  we  

wa i t  to  hear  f rom you” .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now,  Mr  Todd,  i f  you  go back to  

page 507 o f  you r  a f f idav i t ,  a f te r  hav ing  dea l t  w i th  those  

two le t te rs  a t  page 61 a t  508,  you go on to  say tha t  you,  a t  
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tha t  t ime,  were  no t  aware  o f  what  ac tua l  cos ts  were  pa id ,  

cor rec t?  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That ,  then  takes us  to  your  four th 

a f f idav i t ,  cou ld  I  ask  you,  p lease,  to  tu rn  to  page 798,  you 

say a t  parag raph 5 ,  

“That ,  s ince  I  deposed to  tha t  a f f idav i t ,  tha t ’s  the  

one we ’ve  jus t  dea l t  w i th ,  by  be ing  prov ided w i th  

cer ta in  documents  by  Transnet ,  whose authent ic i t y  I  

have no reason  to  doubt ,  wh ich  ind ica te  tha t  10 

Transnet  u l t imate ly  agreed to  pay an  amount  o f  

R20mi l l ion  to  Aba loz i ” .    

Wou ld  you jus t  p ick  up  f rom paragraph 6  p lease? 

MR TODD:    Yes,  thank you,  Cha i rperson,  these documents  

were  p rov ided to  me by Transnet  f rom i t s  reco rds ,  bu t  they 

appear  to  re f lec t  they come f rom Transnet ’s  f i l es ,  

par t i cu la r l y  re f lec t ing  payments  tha t  were  ac tua l l y  made 

and they –  so  they appear  to  come f rom the  f inanc ia l  

records  and o the r  c red ib le  records  o f  Transnet ,  I ’ ve  go t  no  

reason to  th ink  they don ’ t  –  a ren ’ t  cor rec t .   They show tha t  20 

–  and rea l l y  what  the  ra t iona le  fo r  th is  R20mi l l ion  payment  

i s  se t  ou t  in  a  memorandum at  page 801 dated the  30 t h  o f  

January  2015 addressed by  Mr  Nd iph iwe S i l inga  to  the 

then,  Group Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Off i ce r,  Mr  Ano j  S ingh  and i t  

says ,  
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“The purpose o f  th is  submiss ion  is  to  request  the 

Group Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Of f i ce r  to  au thor i se  the 

payment  o f  an  amount  o f  R20mi l l ion  in  fu l l  and f ina l  

se t t lement  o f  the  lega l  d isputes  be tween Transnet  

and  Aba loz i ” ,  

 Then they re f lec t  tha t  in  2011,  Aba loz i  sued 

Transnet ,  th is  was i t s  counterc la ims,  fo r  damages in  the  

sum o f  R487mi l l ion  ar i s ing  ou t  o f  var ious c la ims,  inc lud ing  

loss  o f  bus iness,  loss  o f  p ro f i t ,  de format ion  o f  character  

and o the rs .  So those were  the  counterc la ims in  the  H igh  10 

Cour t  l i t i ga t ion .    

“Dur ing  2014 the  par t ies  engaged in  se t t lement  

negot ia t ions  wh ich  resu l ted  in  Aba loz i  o f fe r ing  to  

accept  an  amount  o f  R60mi l l ion  in  fu l l  and f ina l  

se t t lement ,  a l l  i ts  c la ims and lega l  cos ts  aga ins t  

Transnet  pe r  le t te r  da ted 16  October  2014 .  

Paragraph 4 ,  Transnet  made a  counte ro f fe r  o f  

R20mi l l ion  per  le t te r  da ted  16 

January…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m sor ry,  I  th ink  I ’ ve  los t  you,  I ’m  a t  798 20 

and 799,  what  page are  you on?  

MR TODD:    My apo log ies ,  Cha i rpe rson,  I  was read ing  f rom 

–  so  i t ’s  798 pa ragraph 6  (a )  re fe rs  to  a  memorandum 

dated 30 January  2015.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  
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MR TODD:    That  memorandum is  jus t  two pages fu r the r  

on ,  o r  th ree  a t  801.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  tha t ’s  a l r i gh t ,  cont inue.  

MR TODD:    And then so  tha t  memorandum records tha t  

Transnet  made a  countero f fe r,  in  paragraph 4 ,  Transnet  

made a  counte ro f fe r  o f  R20mi l l ion  in  a  le t te r  o f  16  January  

2015 and tha t  countero f fe r  was accepted and i t  goes on to  

say tha t  i t  i s  due fo r  payment ,  

“E f fec t i ve  wh ich  w i l l  be  to  se t t le  a l l  lega l  d isputes  

pend ing  between  -  the  par t ies  tha t  were  pend ing  10 

before  the  South  Gauteng H igh  Cour t ,  inc lud ing  

costs” ,  

 And tha t  was then approved and pa id .   The le t te rs  

o f fe r ing  the  se t t lement  amounts  and record ing  the  

acceptance o f  the  R20mi l l ion  are  then a t tached to  those  

documents .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you re fer  there ,  a t  page 803 to  a  

le t te r  f rom Mr  Mo le fe  to  Aba loz i  where  he  made the  o f fe r  o f  

R20mi l l ion ,  wh ich  was then accepted by  Aba loz i ,  co r rec t?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  cor rec t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now Mr  Todd,  jus t  to  f in ish  o f f  on 

th is ,  cou ld  I  take  you back,  p lease,  to  page 799 and you 

under take some ana lys is  and commenta ry  a t  parag raph 7 ,  

8  and 9 ,  cou ld  you jus t  –  and 10 ,  cou ld  you go th rough  

those p lease?  
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MR TODD:     So ,  in  essence what  occu r red  here  is  tha t  –  I  

ment ioned ear l ie r  Aba loz i  had fo rmula ted  some ve ry  broad 

rang ing  counte rc la ims aga ins t  Transnet  in  response to  

Transnet ’s  c la im  o f  R95.5mi l l ion .   So,  in  i t s  p lea  and  

counterc la ims re fer red  to  ear l ie r,  i t  fo rmula ted  broad  

rang ing  counterc la ims aga ins t  Transnet ,  to ta l l ing  in  the  

R400mi l l ions .   When tha t  –  the  deed o f  se t t lement  recorded  

tha t  the i r  counte rc la ims were  w i thdrawn,  thus te rm inat ing  

l i t iga t ion  in  re la t ion  to  those counterc la ims and wha t  I  have  

suggested –  sa id  in  paragraph 7  (a )  a t  page 799 is  tha t  10 

hav ing  w i thdrawn i t s  counterc la ims on any reasonab le  

assumpt ion  the  deed o f  se t t lement ,  tha t ’s  th is  –  tha t  

se t t lement  agreement  compromised each o f  the  e lements  

o f  the  counterc la im tha t  were  se t  ou t  in  parag raphs 26 to  

31  o f  the  Aba loz i  p lea  and counterc la im.   So,  th is  i s  –  back  

in  2011,  Aba loz i  fo rmula tes  w ide  rang ing  counterc la ims  

aga ins t  Transnet  and then i t  compromises them and 

w i thdraws them,  and Transnet  pays lega l  cos ts .   What ,  

immedia te ly  happens –  so  Transnet ’s  lega l  cos ts  –  and I  

then dea l  w i th  what  lega l  cos ts  ac tua l l y  wou ld  be ,  I ’ ve  sa id  20 

on any reasonab le  –  on  reasonab le  assumpt ions the  tax  

costs  wou ld  no t  have exceeded R1mi l l ion ,  tha t  wou ld  be  

ex t raord ina r i l y  generous  fo r  a  case tha t  

wasn ’ t…[ in te rvenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  I  was th ink ing  tha t  wou ld  be  qu i te  
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ser ious,  I  th ink .  

MR TODD:    I t ’s  more  l i ke l y  to  be  in  the  low hundreds o f  

thousands a t  most ,  s ince  i t ’s  on  an  a t to rney and c l ien t  

sca le  bu t  whatever  i t  i s ,  you ’ re  no t  go ing  above a  m i l l ion 

rand and so ,  on  what  conce ivab le  bas is  cou ld  Aba loz i  c la im 

R40mi l l ion  or  R60mi l l ion  and  wou ld  Transnet  o f fe r  

R20mi l l ion .   Wha t  appears  to  be  the  case,  e f fec t i ve ly,  i s  

tha t  Aba loz i  re - th rea tened proceed ings tha t  had –  in  2015,  

re - th rea tened proceed ings tha t  had been compromised  

a l ready.   A l ready  in t roduced to  l i t iga t ion  back in  2011 and  10 

–  we l l ,  I  say  in  paragraph 9 ,  e i the r  somebody i s  suggest ing  

tha t  R20mi l l ion  i f  a  fa i r  assessment  o f  lega l  cos ts ,  tha t ’s  

absurd ,  i t  can ’ t  be .   So,  there fore ,  the  ove rwhe lm ing 

por t ion  o f  tha t  must  be  a  f resh –  a  payment  to  compromise  

a  f resh  what  has  a l ready been w i thdrawn.   A l te rna t ive ly,  i f  

they  say,  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  Aba loz i  says,  we l l  we cou ld  

have brought  new c la ims tha t  weren ’ t  w i th in  our  

counterc la ims,  then the  po in t  I  make is  tha t ,  th is  i s  four  

years  la te r  –  f i ve  years  a f te r  the  –  these events .   Any 

c la ims o f  tha t  na ture  tha t  weren ’ t  inc luded  in  the 20 

counterc la ims have long s ince  prescr ibed under  our  

o rd inary  lega l  p r i nc ip les .   So,  Transnet ’s  apparent ly  ac t ing  

w i thout  lega l  adv i ce ,  a t  th is  po in t  in  t ime…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That ,  on  i t s  own ,  i s  qu i te  s t range.  

MR TODD:    Th is  i s  no t  on  the  adv ice  –  the re ’s  no  
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ev idence on any  o f  these documents  tha t  there  was any  

o ther  law f i rm invo lved,  adv is ing  Transnet .   These are  

R20mi l l ion  o f fe red  jus t  by  le t te r ing  one l ine  by  the  Group 

Ch ie f  Execut ive  in  the  le t te r  a t  page 803 and –  so  i t ’s  jus t  

–  i t ’s  inexp l i cab le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t ’s  l i ke  –  i t ’s  jus t  l i ke  some peop le  a t  

Transnet  dec ided  to  g ive  GNS or  Aba loz i  some mi l l ions  o f  

rands fo r  no th ing .  

MR TODD:    There  was no lega l  counse l l ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  to  –  they jus t  dec ided they 10 

shou ld  ge t  some mi l l ions  o f  rands and i t ’s  s t range tha t  they 

–  I  mean we know tha t ,  in  regard  to  Mr  Gama’s  d ismissa l  

mat te r,  they  ac ted  –  they had  a t to rneys –  d i f fe ren t  

a t to rneys represent ing  them a t  d i f fe ren t  t imes but  i t ’s  qu i te  

s t range tha t ,  here ,  they seem to  have dec ided,  we w i l l  dea l  

w i th  th is  w i thout  any ex te rna l  a t to rneys and they then 

purpo r t  to  se t t le ,  e i the r,  th ings tha t  had been w i thdrawn 

a l ready or  th ings  tha t  may have been th rea tened,  i t ’s  qu i te  

s t range.   I t ’s  l i ke  there ’s  somebody tha t  jus t  dec ided they 

need to  be  pa id .   GNS or  Aba loz i  needed to  be  pa id  some 20 

mi l l ions  o f  rands f rom Transnet .  

MR TODD:    Yes ,  Cha i rperson,  i t ’s  –  to  me,  I  can see no  

lega l  –  I  used the  word ,  counse l ,  no  lega l  cou rse  fo r  hav ing  

made –  pa id  anyth ing  remote ly  resembl ing  th is  and the  

sens ib le  th ing ,  i f  anybody i s  g iven –  asks fo r  lega l  adv i ce  
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wou ld  have been  fo r  them to  ge t  a  b i l l  o f  cos ts  d rawn,  

wh ich  they had under taken in  te rms o f  paragraph 4 ,  o f  the 

se t t lement  agreement ,  say,  d raw a  b i l l  o f  cos ts  and we ’ l l  

pay  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  mean you have the  c la im,  Transnet ’s  

c la im wh ich  is  w i th  –  aga ins t  Aba loz i  o r  GNS connected  

w i th  the  GNS cont rac t  tha t  i s  be ing  w i thdrawn in  

c i rcumstances where  i t ’s  qu i te  c lear  tha t  the  cont rac t  was 

i r regu la r.   Of  course ,  as  you sa id ,  Mr  Todd,  maybe there  

cou ld  be  an argument  tha t  i f  they  d id  render  the  serv i ce ,  10 

maybe in  te rms o f  equ i ty,  the  amount  tha t  Transnet  was  

c la im ing cou ld  be  reduced by  they had had  ample  

oppor tun i ty  to  p rov ide  proof  to  Transnet  tha t  there  were  

serv i ces  tha t  were  ac tua l l y  rendered,  they ’ re  pa id  to  do  

tha t  and then the  mat te r  i s  se t t led  and i t ’s  se t t led  on  a  

bas is  tha t  inc ludes tha t  Transnet  must  no t  on ly  pay them 

costs  bu t  they must  pay them cos ts  on  a t to rney and c l ien t  

sca le ,  tha t ’s  –  I ’m  not  go ing  to  say tha t ’s  unheard  o f  

because I  th ink  I ’ ve  heard  o f  s im i la r  se t t lements  in  th is  

Commiss ion  invo l v ing  one or  o ther  SOE,  you know.   So,  i t ’s  20 

se t t led  on  a  bas is  tha t ’s  very,  ve ry  favourab le  to  Aba loz i  

and very  de t r imenta l  to  Transnet .   Usua l ly  i f  a  mat te r  i s  

se t t led ,  very  o f ten  each par ty  pays i t s  own cos ts ,  bu t  

Transnet  must  pay,  no t  on ly  the   cos ts  bu t  on  a t to rney and 

c l ien t  sca le  and then Transnet  must  pay about  R40mi l l ion ,  
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Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Todd le t ’s  then tu rn  

to  the  o ther  leg  o f  your  ev idence.   Th is  re la tes  to  t he  th i rd  

payment  o f  lega l  cos ts  made to  Mr  Gamma or  h is  a t to rneys 

a f te r  h is  re ins ta tement .   You dea l  w i th  th is  i ssue in  your  

f i f th  a f f idav i t  wh ich  commences a t  page 841.   Perhaps I  

cou ld  ask  you to  tu rn  to  paragraph 6 .  What  you do in  

parag raph 6 ,  i s  you summar i se  the  pos i t ion  in  re la t ion  to  

the  f i rs t  two payments ,  o f  course  the  Cha i rperson has 

heard  th i s  ev idence before  bu t  j us t  to  p lace  wha t  you ’ re  10 

go ing  to  dea l  w i th  a f te rwards in  contex t  and fo r  the  sake o f  

the  pub l i c ,  cou ld  you jus t  summar ise  what  the  s ta te  o f  

c la im was before  the  th i rd  payment  was made? 

MR TODD:    So ,  be fore  the  th i rd  payment  was made,  two 

prev ious payments  had been made.   Payments  one and 

two,  payment  one was 75% of  Transnet ’s  cos ts  fo r  two  

d i f fe ren t  lega l  teams,  wh ich  was not  regu la ted  by  the  

se t t lement  agreement ,  shou ldn ’ t  have been  pa id ,  

comple te l y  i r ra t i ona l ,  no  lawyer  cou ld  sens ib l y  have 

suggested tha t  tha t  amount  was payab le  or  shou ld  be  pa id ,  20 

i t  shou ld  never  have been pa id  bu t  i t  was in  the  amount  of  

a  m i l l ion  rand s ix teen in  lega l  cos ts .   Second payment  was  

R1.7mi l l ion  and tha t  was 75% o f  a  p r iva te ly  taxed b i l l  

p resented by  Mr  Gama’s  a t to rneys,  Langa A t to rneys.    

Langa A t to rneys  had,  in  fac t  p resented a  b i l l  o f  some 
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R4.2mi l l ion  and Transnet  had appo in ted  a  pr iva te  tax ing  

person,  an  a t to rney whose exper ience and cost  to  tax  tha t  

b i l l  and assess i t  and she had conc luded tha t  i t  shou ld  be  

reduced to  R2.293mi l l ion .   That  was the  second payment  o r  

75% of  tha t  taxed amount .   Now,  what  i s  s ign i f i can t  about  

tha t  i s ,  Transnet ,  even in  dea l ing  w i th  tha t  b i l l ,  e f fec t i ve ly  

accepted tha t  i t  wou ld  pay –  tha t  b i l l  covered H igh  Cour t  

l i t i ga t ion  costs  and the  d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  costs  and the  

Barga in ing  Counc i l  cos ts .   The se t t lement  agreement  on l y  

requ i red  Transnet  to  pay the  H igh  Cour t  l i t i ga t ion  costs  and 10 

the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  cos ts .   The d i sc ip l ina ry  hear ing  

was,  in  fac t ,  the  greates t  po r t ion  o f  the  costs  in  the  b i l l  

p resented  by  Langa A t to rneys bu t  Transnet ,  i f  I ’d  heard  the  

ev idence o f  Mr  …[ ind is t inc t ]  say ing ,  oh  we l l ,  we thought  

the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  costs  were  inc luded in  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  cos t s .   So,  Transnet  pa id  75% of  the  fu l l  amount  o f  

the  costs  incur red  by  Mr  Gama throughout ,  f rom s tar t  to  

f in ish ,  fo r  the  H igh  Cour t  l i t i ga t ion ,  the  d isc ip l ina ry  mat te r,  

and the  Barga in ing  Counc i l .   No,  I  jus t…[ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry,  jus t  be fore  you get  there  and 20 

to  the  th i rd  payment ,  can you jus t  conf i rm,  you dea l  w i th  

th is  a t  paragraph  (g)  a t  page 844 ,  tha t  the  f i rs t  payment  

was made in  March 2011 and then  the  second payment  in  

June o f  2011?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  tha t ’s  cor rec t ,  tha t ’s  what  Transnet ’s  
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records  show.   I  jus t  want  to  say one th ing  fu r ther  on  the  

cost  consu l tan t ,  i f  I  may,  Cha i rpe rson,  she d id  prov ide  a  

de ta i led  memorandum when she  was dea l ing  w i th  the  

Langa b i l l  p resented o f  R4.25mi l l ion  and she taxed i t  –  

she,  sor t  o f  gave an –  assessed i t  and a l low –  and sa id  the  

amount  tha t  shou ld  be  a l lowed  is  R2.2mi l l ion ,  th is  i s  

apropos  the  second payment .   Qu i te  apar t  f rom the  po in t  

tha t  i t  covers  the  who le  d isc ip l ina ry  mat te r  wh ich  she was 

not  appr ised or  to ld  tha t  i t  shou ld  be  exc luded but  she  

inc luded a  commentary  a t  the  end o f  he r  assessment  o f  10 

tha t  b i l l  and i t  i s  inc luded as  an  a t tachment  to  the  papers ,  

i t  i s  in  a  le t te r  tha t  she wro te  da ted –  wh ich  i s  a t  page 848  

where  she re turned the  marked b i l l  o f  cos ts  and a t  page 

853,  a f te r  conc luded tha t ,  what  shou ld  be  a l lowed is  

R2.2mi l l ion  she says,  

“When the  above f igures  are  cons ide red,  k ind l y  

bear  in  m ind tha t  as  per  my ins t ruc t ions,  I  marked 

the  b i l l  as  l ibera l l y  as  I  thought  poss ib le .   As  per  my 

ins t ruc t ions I  marked the  b i l l  as  l ibera l l y  as  I  

thought  poss ib le  tak ing  in to  cons ide ra t ion  the  20 

d i f f i cu l t y  o f  the  mat te r,  the  impor tance to  the  c l ien t  

and the  fac t  tha t  the  ag reement  s ta ted  tha t  the 

respondent  agrees to  payment  o f  fees and 

d isbursements  as  be tween a t to rney and own c l ien t .  

However,  tak ing  in to  cons idera t ion  a l l  o f  the  above  
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fac tors ,  i t  i s  s t i l l  my respect fu l  v iew tha t  the  b i l l ,  

espec ia l l y  as  fa r  as  fees are  concerned has been 

substant ia l l y  in f la ted .   Shou ld  th is  mat te r  p roceed 

to  assessment  o r  taxa t ion ,  in  my exper ience,  the 

f igures  se t  ou t  here in  be fore  w i l l  undoubted ly  be 

reduced even more” ,  

 That  i s  what  Transnet  i s  to ld  by  the  tax  consu l tan t  

who i t  h i res  to  assess the  R4.2mi l l ion  b i l l  p resented  by  Mr  

Langa and she says R2.2mi l l ion  can be a l lowed  on th is  

very  generous bas i s  and Transnet ,  du ly  pays,  under  the  10 

se t t lement  agreement ,  75% of  R2 .2mi l l ion  and tha t  i s  the  

second payment  in  the  amount  o f  R1.7mi l l ion .   So ,  i t  has  

now pa id  R1mi l l ion  tha t  i t  shou ld  never  have pa id  and  

R1.7mi l l ion  wh ich  is  a  very  generous in te rp re ta t ion  on  any 

bas is  o f  what  i t  shou ld  have pa id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and then can  

you…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  sor ry,  who  had ins t ruc ted  th is  tax  

consu l tan t ,  was i t  Mr  Gama’s  a t to rneys or  

Transnet…[ in tervenes]?  20 

MR TODD:    He appears  to  be  wr i t ing  to  Mr  Gu le ,  I  say  tha t  

because he wr i tes  to  Sebu…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  so  i t  must  be…[ in tervenes] .  

MR TODD:    A t  the  beg inn ing ,  bu t  I  don ’ t  know,  I  know tha t  

Deneys  Re i tz  were  a t  tha t  s tage adv i s ing…[ in tervenes] .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I ’m  t ry ing  to  unders tand who i t  i s  

tha t  must  have g iven her  the  ins t ruc t ions to  mark  the  b i l l  

as  l ibera l l y  as  poss ib le ,  so  i f  the  ins t ruc t ions came f rom Mr 

Gu le  then tha t  means probab ly  tha t ’s  where  tha t  came 

f rom.  

MR TODD:    That  appears  to  be  the  case,  bu t  i t  i s  a  c lea r  

ind ica t ion  tha t  Transnet  was,  to  use a  co l loqu ia l i sm,  

bend ing  ove r  backwards to  t ry  and be as  generous as  

poss ib le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  I  guess maybe Mr  Gu le  had been  10 

ins t ruc ted  by  somebody a t  Transnet  tha t  w i l l  te l l  the  

consu l tan t  to  mark  the  b i l l  as  l ibera l l y  as  poss ib le .  

MR TODD:    I t  appears  to  be  the  case.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  yes  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay so ,  Mr  Todd,  can you then p ick  

up  f rom paragraph 7 ,  where  you dea l  w i th  the  th i rd  

payment…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  –  I ’m  sor ry,  bu t  I  th ink  another  po in t  

tha t  you wanted to  make,  you d id  make,  Mr  Todd,  i s  tha t  

i t ’s  impor tan t  to  no te  the  tax  consu l tan t ’s  las t  po in t ,  namely  20 

tha t  she had thought  tha t  i f  th is  was taken to  taxa t ion ,  the 

amount  wou ld  l i ke ly  be  reduced fu r ther?  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR TODD:    Yes,  I  th ink  she sa id  s ign i f i can t ly.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    S ign i f i can t ly?  

MR TODD:     No,  she jus t  sa id ,  undoubted ly  –  w i l l  

undoubted ly  be  reduced even more .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  and Transnet  appears  to  dec ide  to  

pay 75% of  tha t  w i thout  seek ing  any fu r the r  reduct ion  tha t  

they m ight  have sought  th rough p roper  taxa t ion?  

MR TODD:    Yes,  they pa id  75% o f  tha t  amount  th ree  days  

la te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank  you.   So,  Mr  Todd tha t  10 

takes us  to  parag raph 7  and the  th i rd  payment .  

MR TODD:    Yes,  fo r  a  reason tha t  i s  –  I  have no idea what  

the  reason is ,  I  can  on ly  po in t  to  the  fac ts  based on 

documents  prov ided by  Transnet ,  th ree  years  la te r  –  so  the  

f i rs t  payment  i s  made in  March  2011,  i t  shou ldn ’ t  have 

been made but  i t  was,  the  second payment  i s  made in  June  

2011 on the  bas i s  you ’ve  jus t  d iscussed.  For  some reason,  

near ly  four  years  la te r  the  reco rds  show tha t  Transnet  

made the  –  so r ry  I  know the  c i r cumstances in  wh ich  i t  was 

made but  fo r  some reason i t  was ra i sed four  years  la te r  20 

and resu l t ing  in  Transnet  mak ing  a  th i rd  payment  and tha t  

th i rd  payment  i s  another  –  j us t  under  R1.4mi l l ion ,  

R1.399mi l l ion  to  Langa A t to rneys and what  –  when I  

d isposed to  th is  a f f idav i t ,  Transnet  had dug  out  the  

documents  wh ich  showed how tha t  happened and i t  a rose 
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because in  June 2014,  Langa A t to rneys wro te  to  new 

a t to rneys represent ing  Transnet  in  c i r cumstances wh ich  I  

don ’ t  know say ing ,  there ’s  an  ou ts tand ing  cost  i ssue we ’ re  

s t i l l  owed money  by  Transnet .   So,  i t ’s  been pa id  on  any  

reasonab le  assessment  a  m i l l ion  too  much and probab ly  a  

lo t  more  than a  m i l l ion  too  much but  i t ’s  wr i t ing  th ree  years 

la te r  to  Transnet  o r  i t s  a t to rneys  say ing ,  we ’ re  s t i l l  owed  

money fo r  cos ts  a r is ing  ou t  o f  the  Gama set t lement  and the 

bas is  o f  tha t  i s  exp la ined in  a  le t te r  f rom Langa A t to rneys 

wh ich  is  a t  page 854 and essent ia l l y,  what  they ’ re  say ing  –  10 

they ’ re  go ing  back to  the i r  o r ig ina l  b i l l  o f  R4.2mi l l ion  and  

they ’ re  say ing  –  and th is  i s  a t  pa rag raph 7  on  page 855,  

Langa A t to rneys  wr i tes  and say,  our  b i l l  was ac tua l l y  

R4.244mi l l ion ,  75% of  tha t  i s  R3.183mi l l ion ,  we were  pa id  

R1.7mi l l ion  there fore  we ’ re  s t i l l  owed R1.4mi l l ion .    

 Now nobody has to ld  N ing iza  Horner,  wh ich  a re  the  

f i rm o f  a t to rneys then represen t ing  Transnet  about  the  

prev ious taxa t ion  and work  tha t  was done.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Where  the  amount  was reduced? 

MR TODD:   By Transnet ’s  Tax  Consu l tan t  i t  appears ,  20 

because they then appo in t  a  new Tax Consu l tan t  to  look  a t  

th is  and the re  are  some,  qu i te  f rank l y  when one reads the  

cor respondence tha t  fo l lows i t  i s  a lmost  imposs ib le  to  work  

ou t  how th is  happens but  the  new tax  consu l tan t  says an  

amount  o f  R776 000 is  s t i l l  due,  and . . . [ Ind is t inc t ]  
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A t to rneys say okay we w i l l  accep t  tha t  p rov ided you add 

in te res t  a t  15 .5% compounded over  the  las t  th ree  or  four  

years  and Transnet  says f ine ,  and i t  takes the  R770 000  

tha t  the  new tax  consu l tan t  says  shou ld  s t i l l  be  pa id  to  

them and i t  add ress in te res t  in  about  –  about  R3mi l l ion  

wor th  o f  in te res t  –  oh  sor ry,  no t  R3mi l l ion ,  my apo log ies ,  i t  

takes the  amount  up  to  R1.3mi l l ion  and tha t  i s  the  amount  

tha t  i s  then pa id  as  a  th i rd  payment .  

 So e f fec t i ve l y  the  amount  i s  taken up f rom 

R770 000 wh ich  the  new tax ing  consu l tan t  says is  s t i l l  due 10 

and tha t  i s  ro l led  up  w i th  in te res t  a t  15 .5% compounded  

over  roundabout  four  yea rs  and tha t  takes i t  up  to  

R1 399mi l l ion ,  jus t  under  R1.4mi l l ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  no te  tha t  in  the i r  le t te r  o f  25  June 2014  

wh ich  appears  a t  page 854,  you re fer red  us  to  the  le t te r,  in  

parag raph 2  Langa A t to rneys say:  

“We conf i rm tha t  when th is  mat te r  was se t t led  . . . ”  

That  i s  the  Gama mat te r?  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:     20 

“ I t  was agreed in  wr i t ing  w i th  the  then Min is te r  o f  

Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  tha t  the  cos t  incur red  by  Mr  

Gama wou ld  be  borne by  Transnet . ”  

Now tha t  i s  in te res t ing  fo r  ce r ta in  reasons.    So there  must  

be  some le t te r  tha t  they a re  ta lk ing  about  maybe  to  the  
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then Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises  who wou ld  have been 

Mr  G igaba a t  the  t ime,  o f  the  se t t lement  o f  the  Gama 

mat te r  2011,  so  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR TODD:    Yes  i t  i s  no t  c lear  why he does not  j us t  re fe r  

to  the  se t t lement  agreement ,  because the  se t t lement  

agreement  p rov ides fo r  Transnet  to  pay 75% of  the  costs  

incu r red ,  I  am no t  sure  why in  wr i t ing  to  N ing iza  Horner  Mr  

–  or  Langa A t to rneys is  now ca l l ing  the  au thor i t y  o f  the 

Min is te r  as  somehow be ing  the  au thor i t y  under  wh ich  these 

lega l  cos ts  a re  now c la imed.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh and I  w i l l  

app rec ia te  the  s ign i f i cance o f  th is  paragraph in  regard  to  

the  en t i re  Gama mat te r.    Yes he  is  no t  re fe r r ing  to  the 

se t t lement  agreement  I  th ink  s ince  you re fe r red  to  

someth ing  tha t  was accord ing  to  h im between them and the  

Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes thank you.    Mr  Todd you have  

g iven us  a  sor t  o f  a  h igh  leve l  overv iew then o f  th is .   The 

cor respondence and the  l i ke  i s  addressed in  the  ba lance o f  

your  a f f idav i t  and  a t tached.    Perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  take  you 20 

to  what  was the  f ina l  au tho r isa t ion  and tha t  you  f ind  a t  

page 877 Annexure  M.  

MR TODD:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  be ing  a  memorandum f rom Mr  

S i l inga to  Mr  S ingh in  wh ich  i t  was recommended tha t  th is  
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R1.399mi l l ion  be  pa id ,  and tha t  you see a t  pa rag raph 10 a t  

page 878 and then over  the  page you see tha t  Mr  S ingh  

u l t imate ly  approved tha t  and we know tha t  tha t  amount  was  

pa id .  

MR TODD:    Yes.  What  i s  a  obv ious l y  surp r is ing  is  tha t  Mr  

Pep i  S i l inga by  my reco l lec t ion  was in  fac t  dea l ing  w i th  the  

mat te r  in  2011 as  we l l ,  bu t  I  may be mis taken,  i t  wou ld  be  

–  i t  i s  jus t  su rpr i s ing  tha t  he  wou ldn ’ t  re fe r  to  the  prev ious  

taxa t ion  tha t  had  happened,  bu t  I  cannot  reca l l  whether  o r  

no t  he  was appr ised o f  the  2011  taxat ion ,  I  wou ld  have 10 

thought  he  was.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  h is  name does get  ment ioned 

much ea r l ie r  than 2015 and i t  may be tha t  he  was  

ment ioned in  2011 as  we l l .   Wel l  I  see  in  C lause 10 a t  page  

878 tha t  c lause says or  tha t  pa ragraph says Transnet  i s  

l iab le  to  pay R1.3mi l l ion  be ing  the  75% amount  taxed,  and  

a l low passengers .   That  must  be  fac tua l l y  inco r rec t  i sn ’ t  i t ,  

because there  were  no  costs  tha t  were  a t tached because 

taxed must  mean taxed by  a  Tax ing  Master  o r  Tax ing  

Mis t ress  isn ’ t  i t?  20 

MR TODD:    Yes,  Cha i r  and a l so  jus t  the  fac tua l  s ta tement  

tha t  Transnet  i s  l iab le  to  pay i t ,  I  mean aga in  th is  i s  

obv ious ly  the  bas is  o f  h is  op in ion ,  i t  doesn ’ t  appear  to  be  – 

i t  i s  h is  op in ion  presumably  in te rp re t ing  the  or ig ina l  

se t t lement  agreement .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  jus t  as  I  unders tand i t  Mr  Todd  

there  wasn ’ t  –  there  was an a t tempt  a t  th is  t ime to  re - tax  

tha t  b i l l?   

MR TODD:    Wel l  Transnet  appo in ted  new lawyers  who 

hadn ’ t  been invo lved prev ious ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR TODD:    And they sought  to  re - tax  the  b i l l  w i thout  

re fe rence to  the  work  tha t  had been done p rev ious ly  by  a  

Transnet  tax ing  consu l tan t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.    And as  I  unders tand i t ,  i f  I  

cou ld  take  you  p lease to  page 860,  tha t  then is  the  

memorandum of  the  new tax ing  consu l tan t  fo r  want  o f  a  

be t te r  te rm.  

MR TODD:    Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And tha t  ge ts  one to  the  776 and i t  

was in te res t  tha t  was added to  tha t ,  tha t  ge ts  one  to  the  

1 .3 .  

MR TODD:    That ’s  co r rec t ,  tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Cha i rpe rson un less  you have any 20 

quest ions tha t  comple tes  ou r  exam inat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes thank you.    Mr  Todd are  you ab le  to  

express any v iew about  whether  there  were  proper  g rounds  

to  –  fo r  Transnet  to  se t t le  the  –  i t s  c la im aga ins t  GNS or  

Aba loz i  in  re la t i on  to  the  GNS cont rac t  on  the  te rms on 
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wh ich  i t  d id  o r  i s  tha t  someth ing  you wou ld  p re fe r  no t  to  

express any v iew on?  

MR TODD:    Cha i rpe rson my v iew expressed th roughout  on  

the  bas i s  o f  ou r  assessment  o f  the  mer i t s  o f  tha t  case,  

together  w i th  counse l ,  was tha t  Transnet  had  s t rong  

grounds to  recover  a l l  o r  a t  leas t  a  substant ia l  po r t ion  o f  

the  R95.5mi l l ion .   There  a re  reasons to  compromise  

l i t iga t ion ,  there  i s  l i t i ga t ion  r i sk ,  we had f lagged a  prob lem 

o f  hav ing  an  execut ive  wh ich  was ch ipp ing  away or  

undermin ing  the  case ra ther  than suppor t ing  i t ,  wh ich  10 

presents  l i t i ga t ion  r i sk ,  bu t  a  p roper ly  mot iva ted  case 

based on the  cont rac tua l  en t i t lements  o f  Transnet  i f  run 

proper ly  in  ou r  v iew i t  shou ld  have  been successfu l .  

 I f  you  choose to  compromise  a  case because the re  

are  some weaknesses,  o r  there  is  some r isk  assoc ia ted  

w i th  i t  o r  i f  Aba loz i  GNS had come to  the  pa r ty  and  

demonst ra ted  tha t  a l though the  or ig ins  o f  the  cont rac t  were  

un lawfu l  i t  had put  in  a  lo t  o f  resources and th i s  i s  what  

had been pa id  and these were  the  peop le  who had done  

the  work  then an appropr ia te  d i scount  o r  se t t lement  o r  20 

compromise  cou ld  have been reached tha t  took tha t  in to 

account ,  bu t  I  can say in  my v iew there  were  no  g rounds  

fo r  Transnet ,  no  good grounds on wh ich  Transnet  shou ld  

have abandoned i t s  c la im fo r  R95 .5mi l l ion  a l together,  and  

cer ta in ly  no t  to  se t t le  i t  on  e f fec t i ve ly  pun i t i ve  te rms and  
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most  ex t rao rd ina r i l y  to  them on top  o f  tha t  pay Aba loz i  

R20mi l l ion  os tens ib l y  fo r  c la ims tha t  had a l ready 

compromised,  so  rea l l y  th is  i s  a  most  unusua l  se t  o f  

c i rcumstances wh ich  ind i ca tes  a  s ta te  o f  m ind o f  a  par t y  to  

l i t i ga t ion  tha t  i s  more  in te res ted  –  we l l  i t  i s  no t  f inanc ia l l y  

mot iva ted ,  i t  i s  no t  mot iva ted  by  the  f inanc ia l  in te res ts  o f  

Transnet ,  I  th ink  tha t  must  be  c lear.     

CHAIRPERSON:    The R20mi l l ion  d id  i t  go  beyond jus t  the  

lega l  cos ts ,  d id  i t  invo lve  o ther  c la ims tha t  were  k ind  o f  

quest ionab le  as  we l l?   Or  was a  there  a  separa te  amount  10 

fo r  those?  

MR TODD:   Wel l  Aba loz i  had la id  i t s  s to re  aga ins t  

Transnet ,  i t s  compla in ts  and c la ims aga ins t  Transnet  fu l l y  

in  i t s  counterc la ims.   They inc luded re ference to 

de famat ion ,  reputa t iona l  harm,  los t  cont rac t s ,  los t  

economic  va lue ,  the  who le  gannet ,  and tha t  was in  2011.    

 When the  c la im was se t t led ,  i s  i t  2014 or  2015? 

CHAIRPERSON:    2014/2015.  

MR TODD:   Mr Todd?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mmm.  20 

MR TODD:   There  are  no  l i ve  c la ims . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    They w i thdrew the i r  . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

MR TODD:   They w i thdrew the i r  counterc la ims and there  

were  no  o ther  l i ve  c la ims but  what  Aba loz i  d id  immedia te l y  

he  sa id  on  the  costs  un less  you pay us  R20 –  R40 000 we  
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a re  go ing  to  b r ing  a  who le  lo t  o f  new c la ims aga ins t  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And they cou ldn ’ t  have,  Aba loz i  cou ldn ’ t  

have –  cou ldn ’ t  rev i ve  the  c la ims tha t  they had w i thdrawn? 

MR TODD:   The c la ims they were  th rea ten ing  vague ly  

were  e i the r  had been compromised  a l ready.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR TODD:   Or wou ld  have exp i red ,  p rescr ip t ion ,  bu t  there  

was no lega l  adv i ce  be ing  g iven to  Transnet ,  Transnet  jus t  

looked a t  th is  and sa id  le t  us  pay  the  R20mi l l ion  and tha t  

i s  what  happened .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Mmm,  so  a l l  in  a l l  i t  wou ld  have been 

tha t  R95mi l l ion   o f  the  GNS cont rac t ,  R95 or  R98,  I  can ’ t  

remember.  

MR TODD:   I t  i s  R95mi l l ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And now R20mi l l ion  on  top  o f  tha t ,  

R115mi l l ion  a l together.    Okay,  no  no th ing  ar i s ing  Mr  

Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No Mr  Cha i rpe rson thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you very  much Mr  Todd fo r  

coming to  ass is t  the  Commiss ion  w i th  regard  to  th is  mat te r,  20 

we apprec ia te  i t  very  much.    I  w i l l  now re lease you,  you  

are  now excused .    I f  a  need ar i ses  to  ask  you to  come 

back,  we w i l l  ask  you to  come back ,  bu t  hopefu l l y  there  w i l l  

be  no  need.    

 Thank you ve ry  much,  you a re  now excused.  
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MR TODD:    Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh we –  and Counse l  fo r  Mr  

Gama,  he  ind ica ted  tha t  they were  jus t  here  to  observe  so  I  

guess there ’s  no th ing  –  we w i l l  ad jou rn  now.   Tomorrow I  

w i l l  con t inue w i th  ev idence re la t ing  to  Eskom.   We wi l l  

ad journ  now.  

 We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 14 JANUARY 2021  

 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 20 

 

 

 

 


